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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mz. Janata David

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Ying Loi

M:r. Lie Tak Sen

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
Mr. Li Sze Keung

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Lee Wai Yan

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Wong Kam Fai
Ms. Lee Wai Yan

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman)
Mr. Lie Tak Sen
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Kam Fai
Mr. Lie Tak Sen

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

M. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)
Mr. Wong Ying Loi
Mr. Li Sze Keung

AUDITOR

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance

8/F, Prince’s Building

10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN CHINA

33/F, Golden Wheel International Plaza
No. 8, Hanzhong Road

Nanjing

China
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Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PLACE OF BUSINESS
IN HONG KONG

Unit A, 18/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center
169 Electric Road

Fortress Hill

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China

Bank of China (Hong Kong)
Bank of Jiangsu

Hang Seng Bank Limited

Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

LEGAL ADVISORS

Norton Rose Fulbright Hong Kong
38/F Jardine House

1 Connaught Place

Central

Hong Kong

Conyers Dill & Pearman (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P. O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands
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HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17/F, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

INVESTOR AND PUBLIC RELATIONS

IR@gwtd.com.hk

STOCK CODE

1232

WEBSITE

www.gwtd.com.hk
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GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS C{

A COMPANY LISTED ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KO

v

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Golden
Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (“Golden Wheel” or the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”), I am pleased to present the annual
results of Golden Wheel for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “Year”) to our

shareholders.

The year of 2020 is a special year in human history, as COVID-19 swept the world
in less than a month, causing heavy losses and damage to the economic development

and people’s lives in China and the rest of the world.

6 £xWi R b ¥ B A B A 5 GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2020, a year with hardships and memorable experiences for the people throughout
the world, Golden Wheel has suffered a huge impact, faced severe challenges, and

paid a heavy price.

Looking back on the extraordinary 27 years since the incorporation of Golden
Wheel, we have joy and sorrow, as well as achievements and failures. But happily,
we have overcome obstacles and reaped successes through down-to-earth efforts,
thanks to the unlimited trust and care from our shareholders, the full support from

the Board, and more importantly, our excellent teams with wisdom and dedication.

Looking into 2021 and 2022, guided by the principles of “reform”, “solid work”,
“breakthrough” and “expectation”, we will endeavor to achieve the objective, which
essentially requires courage and determination, as entailed in the poem “the strong
pass of the enemy is like a wall of iron, yet with firm strides, we are conquering its
summit”. To accomplish this tough and desirable objective, all teams of Golden
Wheel should have strong belief, do the utmost, always keep solidarity, pull

together in times of adversity, and share weal and woe.

Bk 4 A 4
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu
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Chairman’s Statement

KM BHEMERN S K HHAL R KM I hope that when we hold the summing-up meeting two years later, we all can be
N E i NRA R BB AR TPAAGA > 18 proud to recognize the track record achieved by Golden Wheel which embraces the
R MG E > BRI MR 5T management philosophy of “making life more enjoyable through people-oriented,

TENG RGN - 50O R A A R o enterprising and pragmatic development”.
BEMKERERRE | FEES | BFIET Finally, I wish all of you a happy family life and a successful career, and may you

have good luck in everything.

Ev3 Wong Yam Yin
THRE Chairman
“E - =H=+H 30 March 2021
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i A NANJING

T T3 Completed properties

o & B 5 18 37 Golden Wheel International Plaza
o & HHE M 2 Golden Wheel Waltz

o 4% K Golden Wheel Building

o G 3 BE [ Golden Wheel Green Garden

o T 5 3 32 4 [F Nanjing Jade Garden

o % 4B IE Golden Wheel New Metro

o G 2945 B Golden Wheel Star Plaza

o 4 A 37 J7 Golden Wheel Star-cube

o B H A% % 7T Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

o &% T B 135 Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza
o 7 5 9K 1L ] Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu

PH % th ) 3 Properties under development

o T 5% 4 i I 22 4 J Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower

o B 5% 4 i /K B3 B Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting
o T 5 4 #i 22 9E B FE Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting
o B 5% 42 i AL I 70 Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center

9 4 HE % A B Hotel operation and management

o B 3% 42 i 552 75 J5 Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel

Hu S 55 Metro leasing
o LAl 3525 1 metro station

BM YANGZHOU

T T3 Completed properties
o i B R 3R
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Star City
o BN T RE RS
Yangzhou Powerlong Golden Wheel Plaza
o %5 1 5% [ Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House

PH % th 4 3 Properties under development

o B EFHR A Z A Yangzhou Vanke Future Light
o B35 1 9% Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay

o B BRE Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion

L
HUNAN

# M suzHou
Hu$5HL B Metro leasing

o S U5 2 S metro stations

8 WUXI

2% T4 Completed properties

o $E45) 4 i 644 . Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza
o S 533 5 i 0 00 A
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden

PA %5 i) % Properties under development

o B8 G 22 M
Wouxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza

Ho$5H B Metro leasing
o 12 55 B (8 {1 3 2 04 R )

12 metro stations (8 metro stations not yet operated)
# M CHANGZHOU

T T4 ¥ Completed properties
o M B H 5 Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

# M xXuzHOU

1 $H 5% Metro leasing
o LA 3 25 (1 K 2598) 1 metro station (not yet operated)

B LIAN YUNGANG

i %t #3 Properties under development

o 8 14 715 1R K B Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion
o 1 AR B Shangdu Fengjing
o Z 4 7 Galaxy Light

# 1l HUANGSHAN

FA 35 i) 2 Properties under development
o BHERH Ganglong Majestic Mansion

## HONG KONG

% T4 % Completed properties
o i K Golden Wheel Plaza

R CHANGSHA
2% T4 ¥ Completed properties
o RV & iw B4 Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

Hu$H BF Metro leasing
o 51 3 2 (1 R A2 ) 5 mecro stations (not yet operated)

¥ zHUZHOU

L% T4 Completed properties

o B ERFECE S Golden Wheel Time Square
o Bk 445 35 2% 4 [ Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden

L4

J1

.y
HUANGSHAN

C Rl
HONG KONG

o BRI & HAR 22 (— 1) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase I)

P %t ) 3 Properties under development

o BRI 428 B 4G 2E R (1) Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase IT)

20204E JE#t % ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall review

Since December 2019, the coronavirus outbreak has spread across China and
worldwide. The Group’s business, especially property leasing and hotel operation,
has been significantly affected by the pandemic. During the first half of 2020,
especially in the first quarter of 2020, China’s property market suffered a critical
setback as both construction activities and sales activities were required to be

suspended in order to contain the spread of the pandemic.

Starting from the second quarter of 2020, after the successful containment of the
pandemic in most of the cities in China, market sentiment has gradually improved,
and the Group accelerated the launch of its pre-sales projects. As a result, the Group
has achieved a record high contracted sales during the Year. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the Group and its joint ventures and associates achieved total
contracted sales and attributable contracted sales amounting to RMB4,081.0 million
and RMB3,234.4 million, respectively, which were 17.2% and 25.7% higher than

the corresponding year of 2019, respectively.

Property leasing and hotel operation business of the Group have been largely affected
by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of 2020. The Group
voluntarily granted rental waivers to its lessees and the Group’s hotels in China
were also temporarily closed for a few months as required by the local government
authorities. Together with the disposal of the Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong
Kong in December 2019, the Group’s revenue in property leasing and hotel
operation business had inevitably recorded a decrease of 11.7% when compared to
the corresponding year of 2019. Fortunately, businesses have gradually resumed
normal in the second half of 2020 and therefore, the Group believed that the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic is subsiding and our leasing and hotel businesses should
be able to expand gradually in 2021 and beyond.

Contracted sales

The Group currently has 13 projects on sale. During the year, the Group has
launched the pre-sale of three new projects, namely, Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry
Plaza, Yangzhou No. 1 Golden Bay and Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center. For
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group and its joint ventures and associates
achieved total contracted sales value and contracted sales area of approximately
RMB4.08 billion (2019: RMB3.48 billion) and approximately 327,204 sq.m. (2019:
288,574 sq.m.), respectively.

1 O 4 R e B A LA 5] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Projects completed during 2020

The Group originally planned to complete and deliver four new projects in 2020.
Unfortunately, as affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group had only
managed to complete and deliver two projects, namely, Zhuzhou Golden Wheel
Jingiao Huafu Phase I and Golden Wheel Plaza in Hong Kong. Aggregate saleable
gross floor area (‘GFA”) of the newly completed project amounted to approximately
124,219 sq.m. As at 31 December 2020, an aggregate GFA of approximately
99,891 sq.m. of this newly completed project was sold and delivered.

New land acquired during 2020 in mainland China
As affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group adopted a more prudent

approach in land acquisition during 2020. As a result, the Group did not acquire
any new land but invested in five associates with a capital amount of approximately
RMB350 million. These five associates all invested in residential projects with a
total saleable GFA of 479,434 sq.m. The equity interests of the Group in these joint

ventures ranged from 10% to 37%.

Land bank of the Group

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a total land bank of approximately
1,825,912 sq.m., including approximately 115,246 sq.m. of completed but unsold
properties, approximately 12,842 sq.m. of own used properties, approximately
189,204 sq.m. of completed investment properties, approximately 788,195 sq.m.
of properties under development and approximately 720,425 sq.m. of properties

developed by the joint ventures and associates.

The following table sets forth an overview of the Group’s property projects as at 31
December 2020:

BB/ KR/ AER BERAR
#it Bt Rme/ il REmE
AW B A 2R i WEEE O BIAM ATAM ATMA EREEE 0 REEE 0 RRER
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction  construction Totalunsold ~ GFA held for Investment
commencement completion  Percentage of GFA/ Company’s properties
Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date date completion Total GFA own use GFA
Frk &5 &5 Fik Frk Frk
sq.m. month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
gRIHE
Completed properties
ERARES R 1y EWELR BAE-A 100% 202 25% 3,197
Golden Wheel International Plaza Nanjing Jul-04 Jan-09

2020 4F JE 45 ANNUAL REPORT 2020
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V4TI | 74T AEE  BEAAR

Bt Bt £ 177 V4 ARl fEmE

AR MWE AR ZHR i WEEE  BIRM  ATRM  RIHA  AREEE  REER 0 REER
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated

construction  construction Totalunsold ~ GFA held for Investment

commencement completion  Percentage of GEA/ Company’s properties

Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date date completion Total GFA own use GFA

7 B | A B

sq.m. monclvyear monclyear sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.

SWERL S 206 FANE-] T 100% - - 2,44
Golden Wheel Waltz Nanjing Jan-08 Feb-10

£ N | S 118 F-FLR FZECR 100% - - 1454
Golden Wheel Building Nanjing May-01 Feb-03

ERRER MK 03 FFA 0 F2ERA 100% - - 1021
Golden Wheel Green Garden Nanjing Aug-01 Sep-02

SRER il sLes  FAEAR —WEZA 100% 5,985 - 3999
Golden Wheel Star City Yangzhou Aug-08 Mar-14

SRS 3] B0 EAEER —ZEWA 100% 185 - 32903
Golden Wheel Time Square Zhuzhou May-09 Apr-12

HRERAR MK [FAVEN i Bk 2 100% - - 3436
Nanjing Jade Garden Nanjing Jan-11 Dec-13

ShRAME [ 0218  ——HEAR —ZEFZA 100% 13 - 18357
Golden Wheel New Metro Nanjing Aug-11 Dec-13

SRELAE S w5 - ~MERA 100% 2,060 - 528
Golden Wheel Star Plaza Nanjing Nov-11 Jun-14

HHERERER Bl b4 —BEFZR —AEFZA 100% 932 - 23%
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade Garden Zhuzhou Dec-14 Dec-18

EHeREL LK #5 st —WEFZA —AETZA 100% 4841 - 20,15
Wuxi Golden Whee! Star Plaza Wuxi Dec-14 Dec-16

SREV) S 18300 —MEFZA —AEFZA 100% 403 - 2731
Golden Wheel Star-cube Nanjing Dec-14 Dec-16

SHREEN M 608 —METZA —LEFA 100% 5,260 - 339
Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu Nanjing Dec-14 Dec-17

RUSRHELARE 131 wisy —WEFZA —tECA 100% 21884 10,307 18,233
Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza Changsha Dec-14 Dec-17

BMHERR B 062 —tEN —LETLH 100% 12,086 - 626
Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House Yangzhou Jun-17 May-19

SRETRRG el 9588 —MELZA —AELTA 100% 81 - 14380
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza Nanjing Dec-14 Dec-19

5 & W 5 099 —tEEZA AEHSA 100% 26478 - -
Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside Orchid Garden Wuxi Dec-17 Dec-19

1 2 4 R e B A LA 5] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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V4TI | 74T REE  BEAAR
B B £ 177 V4 ARl fEmE
ARENEAT 2R i WEEE  BIRM  ATRM  RIHA  AREEE  REER 0 REER
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction  construction Totalunsold ~ GFA held for Investment
commencement completion  Percentage of GEA/ Company’s properties
Projects by subsidiaries of the Group City Site area date date completion Total GFA own use GFA
7 77 B 77 A B
sq.m. monclvyear monclyear sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
SR &b mo MR ZEELRA 100% 4828 - -
Golden Wheel Plaza Hong Kong May-18 Jul-20
Pt R (1) i3] 93 —MEER ZEEFA 100% 19,166 - -
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu (Phase I) Zhuzhou Mar-18 Dec-20
it 495,405 115,246 12,842 189,204
Subtotal
UE L
Properties under development
R Rl S 1% —tETZA S ZHEAA 95% 38,44 - -
Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower Nanjing Dec-17 Jun-21
P e R () i s —AEER ZZER 65% 17059 - -
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel JinQiao Huafu (Phase II) Zhuzhou Mar-18 Jun-22
MR eRKIER oS nor MERR ZF- 99% 76217 - =
Nanjing Golden Wheel Shuiying Hua Ting Nanjing Apr-18 Jan-21
BRERREER S 972 ~HEBA Z-ECA 80% 115,282 - 2,500
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong Hua Ting Nanjing Apt-19 Dec-21
EHEREEH 5 nan0 —AEER Z2EAR 30% 99,039 - 15097
Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza Wuxi May-19 Jun-22
HRERERTL kS UK TR < B S g 10% 195,353 - 46641
Nanjing Golden Wheel Galaxy Center Nanjing Feb-20 Dec-22
U EAAb il 980  ZFE-f ZZEFZA 60% 2920 = =
Yangzhou No. I Golden Bay Yangzhou Jan-20 Dec-22
it 286829 3951 - 64,44
Subtotal
it 782234 839,197 12842 253,448
Total

2020 4 JE it ANNUAL REPORT 2020 13
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TRERRBR AT ZER i ST

Projects by joint ventures and associates City Site area
Fik

sq.m.

ENEEERRST iifl 61,275

Yangzhou Powetlong Golden Wheel Plaza *! Yangzhou

FARREEIL ] i HA 14338

Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu *? Nanjing

FHEERE wo M 67,225

Changzhou Junwang Jia Di ** Changzhou

B BB AR 0L il 47,137

Yangzhou Vanke Future Light V<! Yangzhou

S MR e 72,296

Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City Mansion ™) Lianyungang

GEG e BIE 17,605

Shangdu Fengjing ™ Lianyungang

R g il 46,780

Ganglong Majestic Mansion ™" Huangshan

EhERR0 BEk 41478

Galaxy Light Y820 Lianyungang

GMRRER il 57,548

Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion ™ Yangzhou

At 125682

Total

B 5E -

1 AZIE H A FEEA 499 IREZ BB DB -

2 RIREHAREREA 25% B B AR -

3 FZIE H AR BB 13,330 IRHE 2 W 4w B 8 o

4 I H A A 209 IRIEZ 678 4 KR8 -

5 LI H A A 379 IR Z 8 2w B2 o

6 % IR F 74 A 1096 JEORE 2 B 0 v B EE o

7 % IR H A 4 [ A 2096 ICRE 2 B 0 v B EE o

8 WRHmASLEMBEA 12.58% BRE L BiE A R B -

9 FZIEH WA SR A 24.5% IHEZ W8 2w B EE o

10 RZHRE A FIEAE S MR R o T4 o

R/ R/ AEE  BEAAR
Bt Bt [0 V4 ik REm*E
WIS AIRH  AIRH  AREER  REER 0 REOR
Actual/ Actual/
estimated estimated
construction  construction Totalunsold ~ GFA held for Investment
commencement completion  Percentage of GEA/ Company’s properties
date date completion Total GFA own use GFA
£/ &5 Fik Fik Fik
month/year month/year sq.m. sq.m. sq.m.
~WEFZR —REFZA 100% 44404 - 63,400
Dec-14 Dec-16
—~tEtA -AELA 100% 3540 - -
Oct-17 Jul-19
~tEtZA ZRFRA 100% £2800 - -
Dec-17 May-20
~NERR BN 80% 84847 - -
Jun-18 Apr-21
“-E-R ZRERZA 0% 158,695 - -
Jan-21 Dec-24
“FERR ZEETCH 20% 56,092 s s
Apr-20 Dec-23
“EET-H CHERA 1% 70,170 - -
Nov-20 Jun-24
“oE-f ZRERA 0% 9,651 - -
Jan-21 Jun-24
B S - 0% 94826 - -
Feb-21 Dec-23
055,029 - 65,400
Notes:

The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33% interest.
The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 12.58% interest.

O 00~ N W bR W N =

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 24.5% interest.

—
f=]

The associate company is in the process of changing its equity shareholding.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had a land bank of approximately 788,195
sq.m. under development. Among these parcels of land, approximately 285,687
sq.m., 283,707 sq.m., 154,557 sq.m. and 64,244 sq.m. are for residential,

commercial and office, car park and investment properties purposes, respectively.

Property sales

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s revenue from sales of properties
amounted to approximately RMB1,144.5 million with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 132,373 sq.m. being sold and delivered. The average selling price of

these sold properties amounted to approximately RMB9,521 per sq.m.

As at 31 December 2020, there were total unrecognized contracted sales of RMB3.2
billion. The unrecognized contracted sales are expected to be recognized in 2021 and

2022 as and when the related projects are completed and delivered.

Property leasing
In the last quarter of 2020, a new shopping mall with a total GFA of 15,774 sq.m.,
namely, Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza, was opened. As at 31 December 2020,

this new shopping mall has already leased out over 90% of its total leasable area.

As a result of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group had voluntarily
granted rental waivers of around one to three months to its lessees with an aim
to ease the financial pressure on the Group’s customers and to maintain customer

relationship.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had completed investment properties with
a total GFA of approximately 189,204 sq.m. The average occupancy rate of the

Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020 was around 80%.

Metro leasing and operational management business

In March 2020, the Group has established a subsidiary, namely, Wuxi Metro City
Commercial Management Company Ltd, with Wuxi Metro Resource Development
Company. The Group’s equity interest in the subsidiary is 60%. During the Year,
the subsidiary had signed a leasing and operational management contract with the
local authority in relation to the underground commercial space in eight stations
on Wuxi Metro Lines 3 and 4 for a term of 10 years. The total GFA of these eight

stations amounted to approximately 45,500 sq.m.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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In December 2020, the Group succeeded in the bidding for the leasing and
operational management contract in relation to the ancillary commercial space in
one station on Xuzhou Metro Line 1 for a term of 15 years. The total leasable GFA

of the commercial space of this station amounted to 14,750 sq.m.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had leasing and operational management
contracts of 24 metro station shopping malls in five cities in China, namely,
Nanjing, Suzhou, Wuxi, Changsha and Xuzhou. The Group had a total GFA of over
128,150 sq.m.

As at 31 December 2020, metro station shopping malls were under operations and

the overall occupancy rate was over 90%.

In view of its potential higher growth, the Group will continue to actively bid for
more leasing and operational management contracts of metro station shopping malls
in different cities and is optimistic that the Group will obtain more contracts of this

kind in the future.

Hotel operation

The Group completed the disposal of the Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong
in December 2019. During the Year, the Group’s hotel operation in China was
temporarily closed for more than two months as required by the local government
authorities as a result of the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. As such, the
Group’s hotel income for year ended 31 December 2020 had reduced significantly.

The Group’s new hotel, Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Yangzhou,

commenced operation in October 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had three hotels under operation, namely,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel in Nanjing, Golden Wheel Hampton by
Hilton in Changsha and Golden Wheel Hampton by Hilton in Yangzhou. The
total number of rooms for these three hotels amounted to 445. The average room
occupancy rate of these three hotels in 2020 was 80%. As the COVID-19 pandemic

became more contained, such rate climbed up to 90% in December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Significant investments held

The Group considers desirable investment opportunities from time to time, which
are in the interests of the Group and its shareholders as a whole. On 14 July 2020,
the Group subscribed for 20,000,000 shares of Ganglong China Property Group
Limited (“Ganglong China Property”) (Stock Code: 6968) at the subscription
price of HK$3.93 per share in its global offering for the purpose of listing on The
Stock Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The total
consideration paid by the Group was approximately HK$79,393,000. As Ganglong
China Property is an established property developer in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and the Group is optimistic about the growth of the PRC
property market, the Board believed that Ganglong China Property would have
growth potential and prospects and considered that the investment represented a
good opportunity for the Group to further invest in the PRC property market. On
3 December 2020 and 25 March 2021, the Group disposed 10,000,000 shares and
4,500,000 shares of Ganglong China Property at an average price of HK$4.01 per
share and HK$4.48 per share, respectively. Details of the disposals are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 25 March 2021.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 34 million unlisted equity shares of
Xiamen International Bank Co., Ltd with a carrying value of RMB192.4 million and
10 million listed equity shares of Ganglong China Property with a carrying value of
RMB39.0 million.

First property development project in Hong Kong

The Group’s first commercial project in Hong Kong has been completed and the
occupancy permit was obtained in July 2020. The project is located near the Tin
Hau MTR station in Hong Kong and is a commercial building with a total GFA of
approximately 51,975 square feet.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has caused severe disruptions to the
economic and business activities in Hong Kong, resulting in an increase in vacancy
of office buildings as well as a decrease in rental for offices and retail shops. As such,
the project was launched in the second half of 2020, and the Group has faced much
more difficulties in leasing out the units. Nevertheless, as a result of the hard work
of the marketing team in Hong Kong, as of the date of this Annual Report, more

than 60% of the project was leased out.
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Financing

In January 2020, the Group issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount
of USD200 million, bearing coupon rate of 12.95% per annum and due in March
2022. Proceeds from this issue were applied in refinancing the existing indebtedness
of the Group, including the repurchase of part of the senior notes in the principal
amount of USD400 million issued by the Group, bearing coupon rate of 7% per
annum and due in January 2021. Details of the note issuance are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 6 January 2020, 7 January 2020 and 14
January 2020, respectively.

In July 2020, the Group issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount of
USD170 million, bearing coupon rate of 14.25% per annum and due in January
2023. Proceeds from this issue were applied in refinancing the existing indebtedness
of the Group, including the repurchase of part of the senior notes in the principal
amount of USD400 million issued by the Group, bearing coupon rate of 7% per
annum and due in January 2021. Details of the note issuance are set out in the

announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2020.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The global economy in 2020 has been greatly hit by the COVID-19 pandemic.
Although vaccines have come to the market since late 2020, the global economic
environment in 2021 is still full of uncertainties. Fortunately, under the decisive
control measures by the Chinese government, the epidemic has been largely
contained since the second half of 2020 in mainland China. China was the only
country that recorded a positive economic growth in 2020. In the 14th Five-Year
Plan 2021-2025, China will stick to the general guideline that “houses are for
living but not for speculation” when panning out its related rules and regulations
regarding the economic sector. Based on Beijing’s series of working plans for the
next five years, China will keep a tab on the property prices while helping to
maintain steady transaction for the sake of better living environment, consistent
contribution to the national economy, urbanization, new jobs and the stability of the
whole value chain. The GDP growth target of China in 2021 is 6% and since the
property market is the backbone for the growth of China’s economy, the Group is
optimistic that China’s property market will remain on track for a stable growth in
2021.

To ensure continuing growth in the Group’s property development business, it is
the strategy of the Group to have a land bank that can support the Group’s stable
growth for at least the next three years. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had
a land bank with an aggregate GFA of approximately 1,825,912 sq.m., which
should be able to meet the needs of the Group’s new three-year development plan.
In 2021, the Group will exercise extra caution when looking for good development
opportunities. More co-operation with local major property developers will be
expected. Moreover, the Group will also focus more on residential projects so as to

achieve a faster capital turnover rate.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For leasing business, the Group will continue to retain its completed properties
with attractive locations and potential growth for long-term leasing purposes. The
Group’s strategy is to continue to build up its investment property portfolio so as to

maintain a stable return to its shareholders.

After the disposal of its entire interest in Double Advance Group Limited, which
owns the Silka West Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong, in 2019, the Group will focus
its hotel business mainly in mainland China. As at 31 December 2020, the Group
had three hotels under operation and two other hotels under development. The
hotels under development are located in prime locations in Nanjing and are expected

to commence operation in 2021.

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to carry out its core strategy, that is,
“focusing on the development and operation of projects that are physically connected
to metro stations or other transportation hub”. Together with the Group’s prudent
financial management, the Group believes it could maintain its competitive edge for

further development and expansion.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

Revenue

The Group’s revenue consists of revenue derived from (i) sale of the Group’s
developed properties; (ii) rental income from property leasing; and (iii) hotel
operation. The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue and the

percentage of total revenue for the years indicated:

BETZA=Z+—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December

TR —E N
2020 2019

AR T %  ANREFIL %

RMB'000 % RMB'000 %

[ b B Property development 1,144,467 82.4 1,328,197 82.7
BTN Property leasing 207,594 14.9 209,592 13.1
T Ji5 7 Hotel operation 37,058 2.7 67,659 4.2
FiE Total 1,389,119 100.0 1,605,448 100.0

B E - F-NFET A=+ —HILFEE
MANREE 160548 &L Y H135% B E
TR CEET CAZFTHIEEENH AR
1,389.1 0 # 0 » £ 2 1 it COVID-19 % 15 1 5 4
B S [ AF N B BT A SET A3 T AR A AR D

Revenue decreased by approximately 13.5% from approximately RMB1,605.4
million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to approximately RMB1,389.1
million for the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to the outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic resulting in a decrease in revenue generated from all business

segments of the Group for the year.

2020 4F JE 45 ANNUAL REPORT 2020

19



o LB v B2

Management Discussion and Analysis

P E AR 5 2 W E 8B Property Sales in terms of Property Type

87.2% 1% Residential 91.9%
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T N 2 WS Property Sales in terms of Location
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Property development

Revenue derived from property development business decreased by 13.8%
from approximately RMB1,328.2 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 to approximately RMB1,144.5 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in the total GFA sold
and delivered during the year as the constructions of the Group’s property
projects have been seriously affected during the first quarter of 2020 due to
the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, two projects which
were originally scheduled to be completed in 2020 were delayed to 2021.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group achieved contracted sales
of approximately RMB4,081.0 million (2019: RMB3,481.0 million).

Property leasing

Revenue derived from property leasing business decreased slightly by 1.0%
from approximately RMB209.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 to approximately RMB207.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. During the year, although the Group had a new shopping mall with
total GFA of 15,774 sq.m. launching operation, the effect was fully offset
by the reduction in rental income due to the outbreak of the COVID-19
pandemic. During the year, the Group voluntarily granted rental waivers of
around one to three months to its lessees in view of the on-going outbreak of
the COVID-19 pandemic, with an aim to ease the financial pressure on the

Group's customers and to maintain customer relationship.

Hotel operation

Revenue derived from hotel operating business decreased by 45.2% to
RMB37.1 million (2019: RMB67.7 million) for the year ended 31 December
2020. The decrease was primarily due to the disposal of the Silka West
Kowloon Hotel in Hong Kong in December 2019 which had generated
a revenue of approximately RMB25 million for the corresponding period
last year. In addition, due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the
Group’s hotels in China were temporarily closed for more than two months as

required by the local government authorities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB AR Cost of sales
R B 7 AR BE A AR T Y 8 LA B A The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales for the years
indicated:
BRET-A=T—HILEE
For the year ended 31 December
Sy =
2020 2019
ARH T % ARFTL %
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
J7 Hh E B 5% Property development
Ifs 1 A Land acquisition costs 415,442 35.9 451,532 42.0
BE A Construction costs 540,546 46.8 413,092 38.5
EARAL G AR Capitalised finance costs 135,030 11.7 137,981 12.8
B IE B 5 Tax expenses 11,007 1.0 9,278 0.9
N Subtotal 1,102,025 95.4 1,011,883 94.2
BTN Property leasing 21,234 1.8 22,020 2.1
% B Hotel operation 32,718 2.8 40,185 3.7
At Total 1,155,977 100.0 1,074,088 100.0

AEBENHERABBE T LFET A
=t —HIEFEMARKL0741 5 BT E#
FRECEFEF A= HIEFEENARY
1,156.0 F # 70 o %38 0 5 3 B i 7 5 o 7 BH 4%
SETS Y 8 B BCA B > L 3 R R A AR 8
i

AL B )Y AR B DY S E IR 2 H
S F— JLER 3400 INE —F R E
1936.3% o

The Group’s cost of sales increased from RMB1,074.1 million for the year ended
31 December 2019 to RMB1,156.0 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The increase was primarily due to the increase in cost of sales of the property

development business which was mainly caused by the increase in construction costs.

The Group’s percentage of average land acquisition costs over average selling price
increased from 34.0% in 2019 to 36.3% in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross profit and gross profit margin

Gross profit decreased from RMB531.4 million for the year ended 31 December
2019 to RMB233.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to
the decrease in revenue generated from all the three business segments of the Group

which was mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Gross profit margin decreased from 33.1% for the year ended 31 December 2019 to
16.8% for the year ended 31 December 2020, primarily due to a decrease in gross

profit margin from the sales of developed properties and hotel operation.

The gross profit margin for the sales of developed properties decreased from 23.8%
in 2019 to 3.8% in 2020, mainly because the projects completed and delivered
during the Year had a lower gross profit margin due to their locations as well as

their composition which mainly included residential units.

The gross profit margin for property leasing was 89.8% for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: 89.5%). Rental waivers were given to the lessees of the
Group in the first quarter of 2020, resulted in a lesser amount of rental income
received. Nevertheless, the effect was offset by the opening of new shopping mall

during the Year and as a result, the Group was able to maintain its leasing income.

The gross profit margin for hotel operation decreased from 40.6% in 2019 to 11.7%
in 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the temporary closure of hotels of the

Group in China for more than two months as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Changes in fair value of investment properties

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a fair value gain on
investment properties of RMB92.0 million (2019: RMB172.0 million). The fair
value gain mainly arose from the addition of new investment properties. The
decrease in fair value gain on investment properties was mainly caused by the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic which has adversely affected the rental income

generated by the Group’s existing operating investment properties.

The Group’s investment properties were revaluated on market value basis by an

independent property valuer.
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Other income, expenses, gains and losses

The Group had a net gain of RMB318.1 million for other income, expenses, gains
and losses for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB66.1 million). The net
gain in 2020 was mainly attributable to net foreign exchange gain of RMB231.7
million (2019: net foreign exchange loss of RMB39.1 million), interest income of
RMB31.5 million (2019: RMB18.0 million) and gain on repurchase of senior notes
of RMB37.0 million (2019: loss on repurchase of senior notes of RMB20.2 million).

Finance costs

Finance costs consisted primarily of interest expenses on borrowings net of
capitalised finance costs. Finance costs increased from RMB186.3 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019 to RMB233.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 primarily due to an increase in the average cost of borrowings.
During the year, the average cost of borrowings increased from 7.8% in 2019 to
11.0% in 2020.

Selling and marketing expenses

Selling and marketing expenses primarily consisted of advertising and promotional

expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB81.4 million (2019: RMB66.1 million), representing an increase
of approximately 23.1%. The increase was primarily due to the fact that there were
more sales activities carried out in 2020 as the Group launched a number of pre-sale

activities during the Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses primarily include staff salaries and benefits, depreciation
and amortisation, office expenses, traveling expenses, professional fees, utilities and

property tax, land use tax and stamp duty.

Administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December 2020 amounted to
approximately RMB155.7 million (2019: RMB175.3 million), representing a
dectease of approximately 11.2% as compared to last year. During the Year, the
Group continued to maintain tight cost control policy. As a result, even though the
Group has increased its operating scale, the Group was able to further reduce its

overall administrative expenses.

Share of (losses)/profits of associates

The Group’s share of losses of associates amounted to RMB46.9 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: profit of RMB105.1 million). In 2019, the
Group shared the profits from its 33%-owned associate, which had completed and
delivered a project in Nanjing with a gross profit margin of 33.0%. In 2020, the
Group disposed the remaining equity interest of an associate with a loss of RMB62.2

million.

Taxation

The Group’s income tax expenses decreased by 61.8% to RMB76.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 from RMB200.3 million for the year ended
31 December 2019. The decrease was mainly due to a decrease in PRC corporate
income tax and land appreciation tax which resulted from a decrease in profit from

the sales of developed properties.

Profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

Due to the decrease in gross profit and revaluation gain on investment properties
which was mainly caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, profit for the
Year decreased from RMB252.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019 to
RMBS50.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, representing a decrease of
approximately 80.1%.
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Liquidity, financial and capital resources

Cash position

The Group had bank deposits and cash of approximately RMB1,413.3 million as of
31 December 2020 (2019: RMB1,753.6 million), including restricted bank deposits
of approximately RMB564.2 million (2019: RMB774.4 million). The decrease in
cash and bank balances was mainly due to the decrease in cash collected from sales of

properties as well as rental receivables as impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Bank and other borrowings and gearing ratio
The Group had outstanding bank and other borrowings (including senior notes) of
approximately RMBG6,116.4 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB6,428.3

million).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s net gearing ratio was approximately 95.6%
(2019: 96.8%). The net gearing ratio of the Group is calculated by dividing the
interest-bearing liabilities net of bank deposits and cash by the total equity of the

Company.

The Group’s debt-to-asset ratio (total indebtedness minus contract liabilities
divided by total assets) was approximately 60.4% as at 31 December 2020 versus

approximately 64.3% as at 31 December 2019.

Cost of borrowings

The Group’s average cost of borrowings (calculated by dividing total interest
expenses paid and payable by the average total bank and other borrowings during
the relevant year) was approximately 11.0% in 2020 as compared to approximately
7.8% in 2019.

Cash flows generated from operating activities

Cash generated from operating activities resulted primarily from pre-sales and
sales of developed properties, rental income and hotel income; while cash used
in operating activities resulted from our costs of land purchases, costs for the
development of properties, costs of operating completed properties held for sale and

taxes paid.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the Year, net cash generated from operating activities was approximately
RMB536.6 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) an increase in properties
under development for sale of approximately RMB96.6 million, (ii) an increase in
completed properties for sale of approximately RMB758.0 million, which was offset
by (a) an increase in trade and other payables of approximately RMB265.8 million;

and (b) an increase in contract liabilities of approximately RMB910.5 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, net cash generated from operating activities
was approximately RMB198.1 million, which was mainly attributable to (i) an
increase in properties under development for sale of approximately RMB354.7
million, and (ii) an increase in completed properties for sale of approximately
RMB531.4 million, which was offset by (a) an increase in trade and other payables
of approximately RMB540.0 million; and (b) an increase in contract liabilities of

approximately RMB479.6 million.

Cash flows (used in)/generated from investing activities

Cash generated from investing activities resulted primarily from disposal of financial
assets, interest and dividend received from financial assets and bank deposits while
cash used in investing activities was primarily driven by additions of property,
plant and equipment, acquisition of subsidiaries, joint venture and associates, and

investment in investment properties and financial assets.

For the Year, net cash used in investing activities was approximately RMB408.5
million, which was primarily attributable to (i) an increase of investment properties
of approximately RMB317.2 million; and (ii) net purchases of financial assets of

approximately RMB179.1 million.

For the year ended 31 December 2019, net cash generated from investing activities
was approximately RMB502.4 million, which was primarily attributable to the

disposal of a subsidiary of approximately RMB461.6 million.

Cash flows used in financing activities

The Group had net cash used in financing activities of approximately RMB249.1
million was primarily attributable to (i) net increase of senior notes of approximately
RMB771.6 million; (ii) proceeds from new bank borrowings raised of approximately
RMB468.7 million; partially offset by (iii) repayment of bank borrowings of
approximately RMB1,274.2 million; (iv) interest payment of approximately
RMB476.4 million; and (v) dividends payment of approximately RMB26.3 million.
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For the year ended 31 December 2019, net cash used in financing activities of
approximately RMB298.2 million, which was primarily attributable to (i) net
decrease of senior notes of approximately RMB760.3 million; (ii) proceeds from
new bank borrowings raised of approximately RMB2,902.6 million; partially offset
by (iii) repayment of bank borrowings of approximately RMB1,722.9 million; (iv)
interest payment of approximately RMB387.3 million; (v) dividends payment of
approximately RMB30.1 million; and (vi) placement of deposits pledged for bank
loans of RMB380.0 million;

Net current assets

The Group had net current assets of approximately RMB1,287.6 million as of 31
December 2020, and net current assets of approximately RMB2,159.6 million as of
31 December 2019.

Restricted bank deposits

A portion of the Group’s bank deposits has restricted usage. These deposits are either
(i) placed with certain banks in the PRC and the usage of which are restricted to
certain of the Group’s property development projects in the PRC, or (ii) pledged to
banks as security for certain banking facilities granted to the Group, in which case
the use of the restricted bank deposits, subject to the banks’ approval, is restricted to
the purposes as set out in the relevant loan agreements, or (iii) as security for certain
mortgage loans granted to our customers, in which case the restricted bank deposits
will be released upon receiving the building ownership certificates of the respective
properties by the banks from the customers as security for the mortgage loans
granted. As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s restricted bank deposits
were approximately RMB564.2 million and approximately RMB774.4 million,

respectively.

Working capital

As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately RMB849.1 million and approximately RMB979.2 million,
respectively. The Group receives cash inflows mainly from pre-sales of its properties,
issue of senior notes and bonds and project-specific bank loans. The Group is
permitted to pre-sell its properties under development when it obtains the relevant
pre-sale permits. In addition to cash inflows from pre-sales, the Group typically
obtains project-specific bank loans once it receives the work commencement permits
for its projects or project phases, using the relevant land use rights and properties as

security.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Indebtedness

Property developments require substantial capital investment for land acquisition
and construction and may take months or years before positive cash flow can be
generated. The Group principally funds its property developments from internal
funds, borrowings from banks and other parties, proceeds from sales and pre-sales
of its developed properties and proceeds from issuance of both debt and equity
securities. As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group had the following

outstanding bank and other borrowings:

BE+-H=1+—H
As of 31 December
SgogE zone

2020 2019
AR AR T
RMB’000 RMB'000

SHEHC R ARAT i K Unsecured bank borrowings
RNRE—4F Within one year 92,640 82,957

A HEH AT 3K Secured bank borrowings

AR (P 3E) Within one year (note) 1,739,215 2,310,060
—AEDL EHR 2 AR After one year but within two years 601,848 483,150
YA DA L (HOR 2 AR After two years but within five years 377,803 865,626
2,718,866 3,658,836
At Total 2,811,506 3,741,793
B R RS (R EREREAALR) Senior notes and bonds (Exclude interest payables) 3,304,885 2,686,511
At Total 6,116,391 6,428,304

BEGE © A EOR R M 2 RAT BT EA L 3CE
B H A 2 RS —4F | e i BE o A 3 R 4E
ToHAZ+ 0 BEMTERZASEER
AR 319.6 HE T (ZF—JUAE - AR s625
O IG) o ANSE BRI R 3% 55 SRAT 5 O AR SR 51 31
B2 A R — R -

REMZRITHERNRE - E R ITEHE -
A BRI ERAT S 2 G R MBI
WA B EMEL2 13171819 22
K27 e

Note: Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “Within one year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate principal
amounts of these bank borrowings amounted to RMB1,319.6 million (2019: RMB562.5
million). The Group believes that such bank borrowings will be repaid after one year in

accordance with the scheduled repayment dates.

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB, US$ and HK$. Details
of the assets pledged and guarantees for the secured bank borrowings are set out in

notes 12, 13,17, 18, 19, 22 and 27 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Capital commitments

The following table sets forth the Group’s contractual commitments as of the dates

indicated:
B#ET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
e
2020 2019
AN BT AR T
RMB’000 RMB000
NI E- SRR ER S Commitments contracted for but not provided
8T N B TS R R B A P 2R in the audited consolidated financial statements
in respect of:
R B A rh R W S S PR Construction of properties under development for sale
BEYE and investment properties under development 713,110 614,385
713,110 614,385

7 S T B < 46 R AR B A S T EL TR A B T )
=TI @ N mE R -

BEA B 5

WE-F FER-FAFEFAST R
23 FEST L E b T VTR
JEE SR B 0 36 - RS B AT
SRR 7 6 A S 0 D S

The Group’s contractual commitments represented its commitments to third party

construction companies with respect to the construction of its projects.

Capital expenditures

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s capital
expenditures were primarily related to the acquisition of land use rights, the
construction of properties, and purchase of property, plant and equipment. The

following table sets forth a breakdown of its capital expenditures for the years

indicated:
B#ET-A=+—H
As of 31 December
CROFE —E-hE
2020 2019
AR T ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
Wi B 1 o i R Acquisition of land use rights 504,000 793,842
R Construction of properties 982,544 814,176
WEYE (AfFEEgCR T Purchase of property (including transfer
FrEthEWE) - B I from completed properties held for sale),
plant and equipment 47,762 47,419
Rt Total 1,534,306 1,655,437
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Contingent liabilities

e e
2020 2019
ANBRHT L AR T
RMB’000 RMB000
Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group to
banks in favour of its customers 268,605 317,790
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These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership certificate
of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as a pledge for
security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the Directors, the fair
values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group at initial recognition
are insignificant and the Directors consider that the possibility of default by the
purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote. Accordingly, no value has been
recognised at the inception of the guarantee contracts as at 31 December 2020 and
2019.

Off-balance sheet commitments and arrangements

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, the Group has not entered into any
off-balance sheet guarantees or other commitments to guarantee the payment
obligations of any third parties. It does not have any interest in any unconsolidated
entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or credit support to it or

engages in leasing or hedging or research and development or other services with it.

Possible risks and uncertainties facing the Group

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. The following are the key
risks and uncertainties identified by the Group. There may be other risks and
uncertainties which are not known to the Group or which may not be material now

but could turn out to be material in the future.

Market risks

The Group is exposed to various types of market risks, including foreign exchange
rate risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk in the
normal course of its business. It manages and monitors these exposures on a regular
basis to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and effective

manner.
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Foreign exchange rate risk

The primary economic environment in which most of our principal subsidiaries
operate is the PRC and the functional currency is RMB. The Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk is principally due to its US$ and HK$ denominated debts and
bank deposits in foreign currencies, mainly US$ and HK$. Differences resulting
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations into the
Group’s presentation currency are excluded. As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, the
Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at

each reporting date are as follows:

R —E— U
2020 2019
A RFor NRWTIC
RMB’000 RMB'000
%f% Assets

N Us$ 191,993 4,434
iESTH HK$ 35,129 39,618
227,122 44,052

=L Liabilities
I Us$ 3,734,484 2,880,731
iESTH HKS$ 1,311,930 1,454,916
5,046,414 4,335,647

N R 36T Rl oo T — i e EEOR S E L
% T B TT RHE A R8s E AR i > fH 3% 0T K i
TCERAT A A BB 1R o N R R T K i
TC B2 B U] 2E A AR IR

HE =< ¢ B . 368 3 1 48 A0 30 A 4 L Y 6~ S
AR DL B A S B R B o AR SR T G AT
A S W S e B M A 2L R 70 S A A L e
B AE 0 B % 1 ph RS WL -

Appreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ generally results in a gain arising
from the Group’s US$ and HK$ denominated debts and a loss arising from its bank
deposits in US$ and HK$. A depreciation of RMB against US$ and HK$ would

have the opposite effect.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates have had and will continue to have an
impact on the business, financial condition and results of operations of the Group.
The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy but the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider hedging

significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the variable
rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances of the Group.
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to its fixed rate
restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior notes and bonds. The Group
currently does not have a specific policy to manage its interest rate risk, but will

closely monitor the interest rate risk exposure in the future.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to it

due to the failure in discharging an obligation by the counterparties is arising from:

(a) the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the end of each reporting

period; and

(b) the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantee

provided by the Group.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade

receivables, with exposure spread over a large number of customers in the PRC.

The Group typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchases of properties. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank may demand the
Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and any accrued interest thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-
sell the property to recover any amounts payable by him to the bank. In this regard,

the Group considers that its credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and restricted
bank deposits. As of 31 December 2020 and 2019, approximately 44% and 34%
of its bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited at three and three
banks, respectively, representing deposits at each bank with a balance exceeding
10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit risk of these
liquid funds is limited because these banks are State-owned banks located in the
PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

B A B Liquidity risk
ALECHEAME RN ES TR RET The Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for
BRI B B R B PR 4R o A AR A R A short-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group manages

FReRfTRLE R KBRS &N E liquidity risk by maintaining banking facilities and continuously monitoring
EHWE G S A - forecasted and actual cash flows.

FRE— D F2HES M KNG For further details, please refer to note 32b to the consolidated financial statements.
32b e

B A S B P AR ISR RS > 5 Please refer to notes 12, 13, 17, 18, 19, 22, 27 and 34 to the consolidated financial
WG MBHREMEI12 13171819 statements for details of the pledges on the assets of, and guarantees provided by, the

2227 K340 Group.

HERERE Significant investments

AN AEBERBEENFHFRN S 2972 Details of the Group’s significant investments during the Year are set out on pages
304 M EEMFER | —Hi o 297 to 304 under the section headed “Schedule of Principal Properties”.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is glad to issue this Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report
to disclose the Group’s ESG information and performance over the past year in an
open and transparent manner. This report has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “ESG Guidelines”), covering the period from 1 January to
31 December 2020, which is consistent with the Group’s financial year. This report
describes the business, policies, measures and performance of the Group’s operating
units in mainland China and Hong Kong. Given that the Group’s business is based
in Nanjing and there are relatively more projects in Nanjing which have a greater
impact on stakeholders, and the Environmental Critical Product Effectiveness
Indicators mainly cover the Nanjing headquarters, Hong Kong office, Nanjing
Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi, Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel
and Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza in Nanjing. Compared with last year’s report,
an additional core project is covered for this year. The Group will continue to collect
and monitor environmental and social data and expand the scope of disclosure. In
preparing this report, we provided an overview of the Group’s ESG performance
based on the reporting principles of “materiality”, “quantification”, “balance” and

“consistency”.

Importance: The Group determines the significant impact of ESG matters
on investors and other stakeholders and performs materiality
assessment through stakeholder engagement process and

materiality assessment process.

Quantification: This report discloses the KPIs in a quantitative manner and is
based on the standards, methods, assumptions and calculation tools
used for emissions and energy consumption provided by the Stock
Exchange.

Balance: This report presents an unbiased view of the Group’s ESG
achievements and challenges and avoids choices, omissions or

presentation formats that may unduly affect the decisions or

judgments of the readers of the report.

Consistency: Consistent disclosure statistics methods are used to the extent
possible and explanations are provided for any changes to the

methods used last year.
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Information disclosed in this report has been checked by managers of the relevant
departments and reviewed and approved by the Board. This report is available in
English and Chinese versions. This report and the ESG reports of the Group for the
previous years are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company

(https://www.gwtd.com.hk/).

INTRODUCTION

The Group’s business is located in seven cities in two provinces in the PRC,
including Nanjing, Yangzhou, Wuxi, Suzhou, Xuzhou in Jiangsu Province
and Changsha and Zhuzhou in Hunan Province. Adhering to the management
philosophy of “making life more enjoyable through people-oriented, enterprising
and pragmatic development” the Group always insists on providing customers with
high-quality products and services with rich professional expertise, so as to improve
their quality of life. While focusing on business operations, the Group also pays close
attention on industry development and is keen on social welfare. The Group is fully
aware of the importance of sustainable development, which can enhance the Group’s
energy use efficiency and operating efficiency and is indispensable to the Group’s
long-term development. Therefore, the Group is committed to implementing and
improving its environmental protection policies and measures, which have visible
results. Compared with the last year, the Group’s total greenhouse gas emission
intensity for the Year has dropped by 2.6%, and the water consumption density
has fallen by 6.9%. In addition, the Group also makes good use of the influence of
the brand “Golden Wheel” to actively encourage the public to do good deeds in the
society, and this measure brings quality service and positive influence to customers

and project areas.

The Group’s management, including the Board, regularly reviews and meets to
revise the better sustainable development and the Group’s future business direction.
Looking ahead, the Group will continue to implement its core strategy of “focusing
on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway stations or
other transportation hubs”. It will also invest more resources in ESG to better
manage internal risks and strengthen the Group structure, which is conducive to
maintaining its competitiveness for future development and expansion. The Group is
also committed to enhancing its environmental, social and governance transparency
by expanding the scope of environmental performance indicator data collection from
four property projects to five property projects in 2020, and continuously improving

the Group’s self-monitoring capability and the quality of this report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the local laws and regulations

and there was no material violation during the Year.

J i o CR M Z A AR I
Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter in this report
B v (RN RIEM RS R %) A B

Environment Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic | A. Environment

of China
v (N RSB R S R BR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention
and Control of Air Pollution
v (hEEANRILREBUK S RBIRIE)
Water Pollution Prevention Law of the People’s
Republic of China
VARG YN LY 2y REE S ViR
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste
v e AR B S BB IR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention

and Control of Noise Pollution

v (R R SL AN A R TR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Energy
Conservation

v (RN RN B ER B BT )
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s
Republic of China

v CEROR H B R R R
Regulations on the Administration of Environmental
Protection of Construction Projects

v CEBURF R T BB ORFE BRI B A )
Measures for the Administration of Environmental
Protection Acceptance upon Completion of
Construction Projects

VARGIE INEE: i R SE Y peES)
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Soil Pollution

v (R RBRE)

Law on Prevention and Control of Soil Pollution
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& i o BR M Z A AR I B
Aspects Certain laws and regulations adopted Chapter in this report
1158 v (PEAREMBE S %) B1. B 1
Employment Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China B1. Employment
v RN RICAIE 58 & R KD
Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
v RN R B R AR PR )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection of
Minors
v R E THE)
Regulations on Prohibition of Child Labour
v RG]
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong
v BB E B E GG
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong
i B 5L 22 2 v (hEARIMBEZ2EEL) B2. fE B f e L % &
Health and safety Law of the People’s Republic of China on Work Safety B2. Employee health and safety
v e N R D I B A )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention
and Control of Occupational Diseases
E fih AR VAR Gk INCE 30N 847 BG. 7 i AT MBS B R
Product liability Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China | B6. Product responsibility and service
VAR GE YNEIE e V) quality
Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China
v e N RN R T S A )
Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Administration of Urban Real Estate
v R N R AN B AR B k)
Urban Planning Law of the People’s Republic of China
VA GiE YN Ay
Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of China
KA v CREARIABEE) B7. R &5
Anti-corruption Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China B7. Anti-corruption
v N RN B R IE )
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China
v 7 B e R R )
Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong
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Environmental, Soaal and Governance Report

AWARDS AND HONOURS IN 2020

The management and staff of the Group have achieved recognition from all sectors

of the community for their sustainable development efforts during 2020 and the key

achievements are as follows:

In February 2020, the Group was awarded the honorary title of “2019 Advanced

Collective of the City’s Consumer Association System” by Nanjing Consumer

Association.

it

—l*l‘ &: IE __IJJ

MRS RBELERASH,
W 2019 SR TIN R B JEUENE " S
Fr'S, RESEtiE, CARE UL,

The Group’s project, Golden Wheel Xintiandi Mall, was awarded the title of

“Excellent Work Safety Unit of Huaqiao Road Office in 2019” in April 2020,

indicating that the Group’s health and safety policies are recognized and praised by

the local government.

(,//‘

K

2020 4F JE Bt ANNUAL REPORT 2020

39



BREE - A LA R,

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

AEERAELRI s HZ B2 s R T (4
e B AR R Ew® WRE®R AR
A EAH A% > A5 20172010 (R HFEL
HE B | RN 2020 4F B [ HU93 By #E SR HE B0 o

O

AERRERA BAE.

RPMZE 2017—2019 EEXFHUTEH, MFHLE o | AEARERANED: _
BE, WERGEY, HHEHLEFELRBEHRRER, j FE2020 4 B3 WA S R MK BARAY, MIT

%

In May, Zhu Ling, deputy chief executive of the Group, was invited to attend the
fifth meeting of the second executive committee of Gulou District Federation of
Industry and Commerce (General Chamber of Commerce) and received awards
which include the “Advanced Unit of Guangcai Enterprise” in 2017-2019 and the

“Advanced Unit of Anti-epidemic Prevention and Control” in 2020 on behalf of the

Group.

HERE, PRREENH, A8 AFTRE MR ESRE
HRAR T _ ; '
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION AND IMPORTANCE
ASSESSMENT

The Group has always attached great importance to communication with its
stakeholders, and formulated communication channels and plans with stakeholders
to encourage two-way discussions on sustainable development issues and to
understand the stakeholders’ views and expectations on sustainable development-
related issues. Thereafter, policies and performance of the relevant issues are
discussed and identified within the Group and the significance of these issues to
the Group’s business and stakeholders is assessed to facilitate the Group’s long-term
development. In the future, the Group will continue to improve its communication

mechanism with stakeholders, proactively understand and respond to their demands,

and work with stakeholders to achieve a sustainable future.

R R 3

A 78 L I HE T X

> AR EEEM

Company’s operating information

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
FHAT > BTHEGGE > HEZR
Group staff Staff’s interests Direct communication
> ZEFTERE > BTHK - FM
Work environment safety Staff hotline and handbook
> TR RR S Bt R > BTHFI LGS
Occupational health and Staff training and activities
development
JEOR BB > [ R > BRKE
Shareholders and investors Return and growth General meeting of shareholders
> FFEED > E MR EEE
Profitability Regular disclosure of operating information

> N R R
Corporate announcements/circulars, annual reports

and financial statements
> BEH M

Investor roadshows

P B3 E >

Tenants and property owners

E fih B 3R MRS

Product qualities and services

> EmhAEE

Product maintenance

> FAER
Safety facilities
> fHaEKF

Rental level

> EFFNEENA
Customer satisfaction survey

> BEBER - WER - EEERSEERE
Keep close relationship through phone calls,
WeChat groups, e-mails, etc.

> R
Routine inspections

= RO

Provide professional after-sale services
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Fitr &
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63NN AT VIEN

Government authorities

Compliance with laws and
> RS

Tax payment according to law

Stakeholders Concerns Communication channels and methods of feedback
R AL > A > BEARRALETT RN R E B E
Contractors Tendering methods Technique and quality assessment of tenderers
> JEATER > A ISR R AR WERAF XA IE
Pay in time Set hiring standards and practices to ensure fairness
and justice
e > R > RAAR - 2F AEREEER
Suppliers Mode of bidding Open, impartial and fair tendering procedures
> 5 RIBTAH > EMTIEE®
Observation and Performance of Convene regular work meetings
contracts > Jﬁ,ﬁj;—g_ S '%‘;i’
Factory inspections
B > ESPEAEN > YT RO STB R BUR

Follow and abide by national policies
> E Rk UM A T AERL T S B v
Hold regular meetings to review operating

procedures and relevant regulations

> BFEED
Profitability
> PEMEFIE
Corporate social responsibility

(CSR)
> EEEWE

Operational transparency

> HH%EAR > ROLAREHE i T R R EUR
Project security Formulate green working, construction and
building policies
o > NEFE > TR 2 B [
Communities Public welfare Get actively involved in community affairs
> R >l BUR D S B BRI S At Y
Connections with communities Set policies to minimize operation impact on the
environment and community
> I A T > A 4 EE)
Community sanitation Organise charity events
fre > KEER > MR A B R R A
Media Group governance Regular disclosure of information and news release

-
Visit invitation

> BCEHE R R I o R A 5B
Information on investor and public relations are

provided for media organizations upon request

42 4 R e B A LA 5] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED




ST IR IR ~ AL g IR SRS D K
325 8 B[] 45 03 3 9 8 DA B oA S > kA T
0 T 5 T 7 R B Kl R R LR SRR
ETEEAERAS A B RGBT

A SR RS G TS 5 = 7 B T B AT A
TR Bl WA S 5B (R A
B RERREESD A FBORRE K
W ATREME  HFREREE RS KR
ST 16 MHEBUE AL R IR B R

BT T PR A 3 A R A B AR
S BB A > SR E R AN ] A 3 20 o B4R
BET - R &5 BEER U
WCEERF BTSN > HEATHNAR E F AT AY

A0 Ll 2 W S B JBOOR > A
S5 B 7 VA4 B R AR O B A

S EL S MBS - AL A R
25 1 75 R S T
W2 8 5 ) LR R
R -

B ab g BRI
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In accordance with the requirements of the ESG Guidelines, the Group
identified major issues and priorities involved in the Group’s operations through
communication with different stakeholders and internal discussions, and conducted
a materiality assessment. The materiality assessment process for the Year was as

follows:

The Group engaged an independent third-party consultant to assist it in the
materiality assessment. A total of 16 ESG-related issues were established by
taking into account the ESG Guidelines, corporate policies and management

strategies, industry benchmarking and stakeholders” past comments, etc.

In order to understand the attention degree of stakeholders to relevant
issues and the importance of these issues, the Group communicates with its
staff, suppliers, customers, media, etc., through different communication
mechanisms to collect stakeholders” opinions and conduct external importance

assessment.

Analyze business priorities and policies through management meetings
to assess the importance of relevant issues to the Group from a Group

perspective.

Based on two parameters, i.e. the importance of the ESG issues established to
each stakeholder and the importance of the issues to the Group, the issues are

listed in order of importance and disclosed in matrix form.
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BREE ~ €7 B i i A
ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE ISSUES IMPORTANCE MATRIX

High

I EE N

Importance to stakeholders

B 1 E SR ik
ENVIRONMENT Greenhouse gas emission
2 BEIRKEURRE
Use of resources and energy
3 EREYE

‘Waste management

b SRR

Climate risk management

KT 10 4 1
RESPONSIBILITY Management of supply chain
11 &P EBREERZ A
Customer information and privacy security
12 i SRS %
Product and service quality

13 ke

$iii 3

& 3 4 P S0 ) T A
Low Importance to the Group’s business

JE T A ) SEHS R > ACAR A BOR ) AR
R o B TR R~ MM R B A
1806755 - B 8RR Rl R4 i 155 > I
BB AR A RINIRE - AL E R
BRI E B AR SOE B B R A
BB% o

> .
. Intellectual property protection

" L s g

High 14 g

Complaint management
g 15 &5
SOCIAL Anti-Corruption
16 #h[m2Ed

Community participation

Based on the Group’s business characteristics, issues of greater importance during
the Year are product and service quality, occupational health and safety, employment
equity, staff development and training, and complaint management, etc. This matrix
of important issues is an important reference for the Group’s future ESG strategy

formulation, target setting and information disclosure.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENT

The Group is committed to enhancing the sustainability of its property

business to meet the challenges posed by global warming while reducing

the environmental impact of the business. The Group has incorporated the

concept of sustainability into all business processes, including project design,

development and construction, property operation, etc., in order to create

low-carbon and natural symbiotic products and communities for customers.

Through different green policies and internal guidelines, the Group strives to

guide its staff to practice green building, green construction and green office.

Al.

Emissions

Developing green policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions
The Group attaches importance to the emissions generated from its
business and their management methods. The Group strictly complies
with national laws and regulations and regularly reviews the business
implementation process of each department. Emissions of greenhouse
gases and other air pollutants are inevitable in the business process of
property development. However, the Group has made its best efforts
to set up a number of green policies to ensure good management from
the source, reduce emissions, provide plant engineering for projects

and ensure that the green coverage rate reaches specific standards.

During the Year, the Group’s greenhouse gas emissions were mainly
from outsourced electricity and gasoline, and therefore, the Group has
been closely monitoring the emission sources to reduce the production
of greenhouse gases within its controllable range. For example, the
Group has a green policy for the use of resources to ensure its staff use

resources correctly to reduce unnecessary waste.

2020 4E it 7 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 45



B kg BRI
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

BN

> HERAE TERMEESE
HTF 3t BE > AR ER
W~ A TS AR A
HE B gl E M RE
By I PHA% 5 - IS5 8L -

> WXREB - HEREBHEZ
K& 245 (8 A B0 22
7 By B 2 2 L P AN 4
K26 > £ ZERMEARH
JA 4k FC 20 BE > DA A B4
I B T L 2 SR

> TR ERS ¢ A AT P AR IR
HRAER R SR -

HIES
> AR IR R R A — L PR
WD B G o

> BAEREA g
B SUBIER B THMIEH
AR IERZ A E T
Ho

Electricity usage

>

Group offices: The administrative department will be
responsible for checking whether the lights, computers, air
conditioners and other machines are turned off after office
hours; after the meeting room is used, the projector, computers

and other equipment shall be shut down in time.

Commercial projects: Air conditioners are required to be
used only in summer and winter of each year for a period of
approximately five months, with an indoor temperature of not
less than 26 degrees Celsius in summer and not more than 20
degrees Celsius in winter to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

from refrigerants.

Gas usage

>

Hotel business: Replace some of the gas to be used with other

renewable energy.

Vehicle use

>

Strictly and uniformly arrange according to demand for vehicles

to reduce the use of vehicles.

For each project under construction, staff will be provided
with metro cards that are purchased collectively, and project
staff will be encouraged to use public transport when handling

project-related matters.
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Water resources management

The Group buys water from municipal water supply agencies,
without any obstacles in obtaining suitable water sources. In terms
of sewage discharge, we set strict discharge guidelines to minimize
environmental damage. The Group understands that water resources
are precious natural resources, so we strive to improve water efficiency
and recycle water resources as much as possible. In the office, the
Group will remind employees to pay attention to water usage and
develop good habits of saving water through labels or posters. At the
same time, according to the Group’s green policy, water-saving faucets
and toilets have always been used in office areas, the surplus water left
in the office pantry every day will be recycled for cleaning water, and

the available water resources will be cherished.

For other property projects, the Group uses water resources in
accordance with engineering requirements and local environmental
requirements. Although sewage will inevitably be generated during
the development of property projects, the Group’s project sites will
be provided with appropriate facilities for sand settling of surface
runoff, such as sand settling ponds, silt collectors and sedimentation
tanks, which will be maintained regularly. In addition, rainwater and
sewage will be separated to ensure that sewage will be discharged
into municipal sewage pipes and rainwater will be discharged into
municipal rainwater pipes. Drainage networks will be provided to
ensure smooth channels to prevent water accumulation. Sand wells in
the site will be covered one by one and temporarily sealed to prevent

debris from entering the drainage system.

The Group has certain requirements for construction contractors in
respect of sewage discharge. The Group’s Golden Wheel Plaza, located
at 68-70 Electric Road, Hong Kong, is located near Victoria Harbour
and belongs to a water control zone. We ensure that the contractors
comply with Section 19 of the Water Pollution Control Ordinance,
Chapter 358 of the Laws of Hong Kong, obtain a sewage discharge
license and entrust a qualified unit to carry out waste water quality

testing.
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Solid waste management

In addition to the emission of greenhouse gases, other gas emissions
and sewage, the Group strictly complies with the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of
the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on Promotion of Cleaner Production and the Waste
Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong to strictly control solid waste. The
Group employs professional recyclers in all projects and offices to deal
with hazardous and non-hazardous wastes and recycle these wastes.
According to the requirements of Nanjing Municipal Domestic Waste
Management Regulations, which came into force on 1 November
2020, local companies are required to strictly implement waste

classification and set up more collection facilities in the office waste

collection area.

/ /
//// Waste separation facilities within the project
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Waste sorting facilities within the project Green construction

The Group has stipulated in construction contractor agreements that
construction contractors will carry out the works in accordance with
the green construction guidelines, which include adopting a “three-
level waste management hierarchy” in the construction process,
following the “avoid, recycle, and dispose” process, so as to avoid waste
generation from the beginning so as to reduce the production and
disposal of waste. All chemical containers should be clearly labeled
in accordance with the waste disposal (chemical waste) (general)
instructions, and chemical waste should be stored on a watertight floor
to prevent leakage. A garbage pond or a movable garbage bucket will
be set up at the site for properly placing all solid wastes. Hazardous
and non-hazardous wastes are collected separately and disposed
according to law. Each project has designated staff responsible for
waste management related matters, and the project manager is mainly
responsible for approving the waste management plan; the project
intermediary is responsible for the implementation of daily waste
management; the general foreman is responsible for supervising the
workers’ compliance with the waste management guidelines; and the
project manager is responsible for coordinating the actual arrangement

and recording.

Green project

The Group is fully aware of the importance of the concept of low
carbon and environmental protection to the sustainable development
of our business. In addition to formulating policies to improve the
efficiency of the use of energy and resources, we will also adopt more
different elements, including technology, design and other aspects to
reduce the environmental and ecological impact of the project before

and after construction.
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The Group’s real estate project planning direction has always been to
focus on the development and operation of projects adjacent to subway
stations or other transportation hubs, and the most recent projects are
located on the subway roof or near high-speed railway stations. This
development direction does not only consider profit, but also shows
the experience of the Group in pursuing sustainable development.
Under the development policy of the complex adjacent to the subway
station or other transportation hubs, all aspects of living needs of
customers, including shopping, education, medical care, etc., within
the residential area and nearby areas, can be met without traveling far
away. This does not only improve the convenience of customers’ lives,
but also reduces greenhouse gas emissions generated by customers’
transportation in daily life. For other needs, customers can use green
and nearby public transportation means to achieve a sustainable

lifestyle.

Under such general policy for project development, the Group has
also added the green concept to the site selection and design period
as early as before the construction, not only strictly complying with
the functional planning requirements of the project site, but also
conducting site visits during the site selection of the project to
understand the local ecology and supporting facilities. Before the
project is officially implemented, the Group will conduct project
environmental impact assessment in accordance with the regulations,
mainly conducting research and assessment on the water, soil, sound,
etc., that will be affected. Based on the results of the inspection and
evaluation, the Group will hold meetings and discussions and take

relevant measures based on the characteristics of each project.

5 O 4 R e B A LA 5] GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



TEH B AT RE G B > AR &
AR IE H BT 72 3 0 T2 I 8 R 1 3R
B AT H B St o sat K e A A
ZEIAH R AREE - H R
[ 26 5 BLdtat TR - 7 oh > A%
P 22 A 7 oK L B RE P K > $R U
% LK T 1K FE AR ~ il 2 48 R A
S B % B R A B K H AR
1§ UL LA SR T RE VR 2 3% « JH H s Rt N
Y 90 R O A 4 (B P T R —
BR o B 1 R M v S R AR
HERNYE FHERARRY
B 00 A1 GR R AE R~ R 2B e
BRLE -

T ok > AL B AE R B B rh A R
i 7 A 0 K8 e 0 AT > 7E
K7 > HRE A TE H A K
SR > 8 R T K 4 IR 13 45T K U R
ok Al T HE A 2 B 0 LA B R R R
B PR S B K R A o T SR IH B
AL T B K R o 2 R Y
B R E K RE B o T B RE T T - HE A
A TE A R T R A R G
T 7E i LU R P A R SR R
A BB 1k 22 SR A 2R ) B
A DL % 5B R SR SR R > B
R IE B 10 L B PR o

BUE - A KR I
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

During the project implementation phase, the Group designs the project based on
the topography of the project site and the overall climate environment. The design
team will carefully consider the project orientation, natural ventilation, sunshine
time, etc., to set up the design scheme. In addition, the Group will also set up
energy-saving teams based on demand, set up water and electricity consumption
quotas in advance, formulate rewards and punishment rules and monitor the
implementation of energy-saving work plans and targets to improve energy
efficiency. Procurement of materials in the project design is also an important part of
the Group’s focus. We carefully select suppliers and use only high-quality materials
and try our best to use environmental-friendly materials, such as external wall

insulation materials and high-efficiency energy-saving lamps, etc.

In addition, the Group also actively uses energy-saving and water-saving measures
and technologies at different stages. In terms of water saving, some residential
projects are equipped with rainwater collection ponds to use non-traditional water
sources such as rainwater for greening irrigation and road washing, and water-
saving systems, for example, drip irrigation or sprinkler irrigation are also used.
Commercial projects are also equipped with water-saving equipment, such as
installation of pressure-reducing valves and induction taps. In terms of energy
conservation, basically all projects adopt door and window products with sealing
strips to enhance the air tightness of doors and windows, thus effectively preventing
heat conduction caused by air convection, reducing the frequency of heating used by

customers and reducing the overall greenhouse gas emissions of the project.
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Nanjing Golden Wheel Atour Hotel is a popular choice for accommodation
in Nanjing. We have adopted several measures to achieve energy-saving and
environment-friendly operation without affecting the service level. The hotel
management will compare and review the data every other month with those of the
same period in the past. The rooftop of the hotel uses solar panels instead of some
natural gas to provide energy for staff and residents. In view of the waste easily
generated from the hotel business, the Group strives to adopt the environmental
protection and low-carbon option to the maximum extent while keeping the
environment clean and tidy. As a result, the Group sets very strict standards in
material procurement. We will purchase hotel supplies based on the criteria of “low
carbon footprint, no chemical additives and easy decomposition” in the production
process, such as no bleaching, no additive toilet paper and degradable disposable

cleaning wipes, etc.
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HH R B 5 AR T R R Relevant environmental petformance indicator data

JEE SRR TR A T 20204 20194F Epidis 2
Types of exhaust emissions** 2020 2019 Percentage change*
B (T 3)

Sulphur oxides (kg) 0.4 0.4 0%
AAML (T3)

Nitrogen oxides (kg) 1784 148.4 20.2%
BRY) (T 30)

Particulate matter (kg) 16.9 14.1 19.9%
% SRR 2020 2019 [Epid s 2|
Greenhouse gas emission 2020 4F 20194F Percentage change*

(=) BB % S PR R R (T 52)
(I) Direct greenhouse gas emissions and

reduction (kg) 63,998 64,646 -1.0%

() RV A BT = S8 U ik (T 30)
(IT) Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions
(kg) 1,902,275 1,552,362 22.5%

(=) HoA P e T = SR8 DR ik (T 30)
(III) Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions
(kg) 14,460 78,791 -81.6%

% R PE & (T 58)
Total greenhouse gas emissions (kg) 1,980,733 1,695,800 16.8%

% SR

(CHmER (TR /BHAT)
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity (CO2e (kg)/
per employee) 2,401 2,465 -2.6%
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JE R KA 20204F 20194 [Epidis 2(A
Waste category 2020 2019 Percentage change*
HEBEEY) (W)

Hazardous waste (tonne) 0 0 0%
HEBENEE 4§,/ B4 ET)

Hazardous waste density (in tonnes/per

employee) 0 0 0%
I BE ) (W) o

Non-hazardous waste (ton)*** 31.9 11.3 182.3%
IeE YL (W, B A ET)

Non-hazardous waste density (in tonnes/per

employee) 0.039 0.016 143.8%
KR 2020 4F 20194 Epiis A
Use of water resources 2020 2019 Percentage change*
FEK & (W)

Total water consumption (tonne) 26,872 24,018 11.9%
FEKE%E (W, BHETL)

Water consumption density (in tonnes/per

employee) 326 35 -6.9%

i Notes:

18 2019 4F [ B 355 A 3009 B SRR i A 1. There are four real estate projects in the scope of environmental performance
B A I > S5 A indicators in 2019, including Nanjing head office, the Hong Kong office,
HHAZE FERLAE FE L0 Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza and Nanjing Golden Wheel
IR 5 3 35 K b % 7 4 i e Atour Hotel.

JE o

2. 2020 4F [ A8 3309 B SO0 i 4 o 3t 2. There are five real estate projects in the scope of performance indicator data
AR ETE BRI collection in 2020, including the headquarters in Nanjing, the Hong Kong
EREANFERERRELE  FiB office, Nanjing Golden Wheel International Plaza Xintiandi and Nanjing
NS ~ Tt < R R 35 R Golden Wheel Atour Hotel in the scope of data collection last year, and
R BRI ) SRy Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza was also included in the scope of data
LA F IS AW SR A - collection this year.

3. A B T T S 2 b B 3. The Group’s main businesses are property development, business
PR SMBE LS > Wit management, financial investment and hotels, which do not involve the use
A B fd LS PR o of packaging materials.

e T 53 B AL A 2019 4F T B9 10 A i £ g

BRI H 5120204 19 O EK - BLEE BT
A 4 B T LR o

The percentage change is a comparison between the four data collection
items in 2019 and the data collections items in 2020, including the newly
added Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza.
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3 Impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic, our employees primarily used motor
vehicles for transportation and significantly reduced their air traveling,
resulting an increase in exhaust emissions primarily from motor vehicles,
and a significant reduction in indirect greenhouse gas emissions from air

travel.

##%  The methodology for calculating hazardous waste was fine-tuned this year
to take into account additional factors to enhance data accuracy, such as
number of employees, hours and days of work, etc., resulting in a larger
difference between 2019 and 2020.

Use of Resources

Green office

The Group’s green office does not only control greenhouse gas
emissions, but also includes other resources, office procurement and
disposal of office waste. At present, the Group has offices in Nanjing
and Hong Kong, and the main wastes in the offices are general
domestic waste and used paper. We have actively advocated to our
staff to encourage them to reduce the use of disposable and over-
packaged goods. As for printing documents, we require our staff to
use environmental protection paper under normal circumstances, and
the printing paper can be reused for internal use. All waste such as
packaging materials and office paper will be recycled by the Group’s
designated recycler. All staff within the Group have complied with the

internal Green Office Management Guidelines, including:

> Equipping staff with low-energy computers;

> Requiring staff to turn off lighting fixtures, air conditioners

and equipment before leaving the property;

> Full use of energy-efficient lighting system and LED lamps in

the office;
> Reasonable use and ordering of office supplies;
> Employees are encouraged to use double-sided printing and

reuse the unused side of the printing paper to reduce paper

consumption;
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> Recycling facilities are provided in the premises to recycle glass,

carton, paper, metal, ink box and battery collection;

> Engaging professional recyclers to deal with wastes that may
harm the environment, such as lamp tubes, ink cartridges and

batteries;

> People are encouraged to use video conferencing and

teleconferencing as an alternative to business trips;

> Paperless office; and

> Replacing printed publicity leaflets with internet-based

advertising for project marketing.

Water conservation

As the Group’s business involves the operation of shopping malls
and hotels, there will be a certain amount of water facilities and
consumption, and the Group will monitor the use of water resources
through the property management system. As water consumption of
the hotel business is the highest in the Group, we have implemented
a series of water saving measures for the hotel business, including
regular inspection and maintenance of water pipes by the engineering
department to prevent leakage and installation of water-saving faucet

to control water output.

In other property projects, both indoor and outdoor, the Group
has taken special measures to save the use of water resources. For
indoor areas, the Group’s engineering department is responsible for
controlling water use of landscape modeling and public areas mainly
use recycled water. The engineering department also needs to conduct
regular inspections to understand the actual situation and explore areas
for which water-saving measures can be taken. In terms of outdoor
design, the Group has applied the rainwater recovery system and
the design of “Sponge City” in different projects. “Sponge City” is
a design of a city model with both flood control and ecological and
environmental protection functions, including the design of rainwater
gardens, concave green spaces, permeable pavement, rainwater
collection ponds, etc., which can improve the efficiency of water
circulation. For example, the Group’s project, Golden Wheel Binary

Star Plaza, has been equipped with a rainwater recovery system.
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ST RRGREE WA RN EHE o FAE S BC A A R K s
LI SR T K IR ESME I ~ RIS > E KER -
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza is a retail, service apartment and hotel project . As early as at the design stage, rainwater collection pond facilities
have been provided to collect rainwater for outdoor plant irrigation, driveway cleaning, etc., to make good use of water resources.

LI RHTR 2] 47 1) E D 1 2 Usage amount of energy by emission source
ARV BE A (T T BL IR ) 20204F 20194
Energy Consumption (000 kWh) 2020 2019
Rl 201 223
Petrol
e 25 11
Diesel
BER 243 204
Towngas
L 3,029 2,836
Electric power
RERA e 3,498 4,241
Total energy consumption

20204E JE#t % ANNUAL REPORT 2020



B kg BRI
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

A3, RERBERENR A3. Environment and Natural Resources
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The impact of the Group’s business operations on the environment
and natural resources mainly relates to the consumption of electricity,
water resources, building materials and office supplies during the office
and construction process. We have also taken a series of environmental
protection measures to reduce emissions and consumption, and
implemented green buildings to reduce the impact of business

operations on the environment and natural resources.

During the construction process, the Group mainly manages the
construction dust issue in accordance with the relevant requirements
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China, establishes a complete set of spraying systems at all
construction sites, and reduces the air dust by driving mist cannon
trucks and regularly turning on the atomizing water spraying system
at the construction sites. In order to effectively reduce the dust
emission from the construction site, the construction site must meet
the requirements for the following: surrounding enclosure, hardening
of construction roads, covering of bare soil and material stacking, wet
operation of earthwork excavation and demolition works, cleaning of
vehicles entering and leaving the site, and airtight transportation of

slag cars.

In addition, the Group is also very concerned about the impact on the
residents near the project. During the construction process, the Group
will always pay attention to whether the noise generated by the project
is controlled to meet the relevant standards and strictly observe the
legal construction time in the project area. As the light emitted from
the display screen on the external wall of the shopping mall may affect
nearby residents, we will turn off the lighting system of the screen at

10 p.m. every day to reduce light pollution.
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Climate change

The Group is aware of the risks arising from climate change. The
management has identified and understood the possible opportunities
and risks to our business and actively responds to, manages and
monitors the risks associated with climate change. Extreme weather
brought about by climate change will directly bring physical risks
to our property development, investment, hotel operation and other
aspects. For example, extreme weather events such as rainstorm and
typhoon may affect the delivery period of the supplied materials,
causing project delay and directly affecting the normal operation
of the Group. Therefore, the Group should adopt relevant policies,
including supply chain management and green design, to strengthen
the adaptability of the Group’s business and projects and reduce the
short and medium term risks associated with climate change. As for
the long-term risk that climate change may bring, which is the risk of
social transformation, the Group has also adopted measures to adapt to

and resist climate change at the regulatory level.
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Upholding the people-oriented concept, the Group is committed to creating

a harmonious and healthy working environment for its staff. We highly

respect the rights and interests of our staff, and also attach importance to

their personal growth, the Group’s supply chain management and quality

assurance. During the Year, we continued to improve our relevant policies to

provide high-quality products to our customers and our country based on the

interests of the Group and our staff.

BI1.

Employment

The Group has always valued its staff as the Group’s greatest asset.
As a result, the Group strictly complies with the Employment
Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Marriage Law of the People’s
Republic of China and other relevant laws and regulations, and has
formulated staff handbooks and set down regulations on remuneration
and dismissal. For example, all employees are required to sign an
employment contract, which sets out matters such as wages, benefits
and termination of the contract. The Group respects and embraces
different cultures. When we recruit new staff, all applicants, regardless
of their identity, gender, religion, disability, nationality, etc., can have
the same recruitment opportunities. During the recruitment process,
the human resources department will require applicants to show their
identification documents. If an applicant cannot show any compliance
documents, the Group will not consider allowing the applicant to
proceed to the next recruitment step to avoid the employment of child
labour and forced labour. The Group has relevant anti-discrimination
and anti-harassment policies in both recruitment and business
processes, including the Anti-sex Discrimination Policy, which
defines discrimination and harassment so that stakeholders can clearly
understand the relevant definitions. In case of any relevant situation,
staff can immediately report through communication channels. The
Group also attaches importance to the training of talents and abilities.
We conduct annual performance appraisal with our staff every year
and have a clear promotion ladder. All staff have the same promotion
opportunities according to the results of the performance appraisal and

the corresponding qualifications and abilities.
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LB ERBORINT - The Group'’s employment policies are as follows:

55 B SR Hsle

Employment Policy Specific Provisions
T AR BT — A AR R B VO /N - A PG 2 > 42 [N 8 4 DL S AR i B
Working Hours s HAE AR o

The working hours of employees are generally 40 hours per week. Where overtime work is

required, the Group will offer overtime pay or grant or approve leave in lieu as appropriate.

Hra AEBBBETE LEER B - TIEEMEE R TERBSEZE R ES 24t
Salary and Remuneration EBT R HM > 0 KR RS AT o BRIt 2 Ah o SRR B TR s S T
ANTAERBUR L AEAL -

The Group offers competitive remuneration packages to its employees based on factors such
as market wages, responsibilities, job complexity and work performance. Staff remuneration
is always paid in full as scheduled. The Group also pays discretionary bonuses to qualified

employees based on operation results and individual performance.

TR B TSR b 3 N RALFNE 25 8 ) B v 24 B R IS 1R S Lt 9 - 3 A HE
Vacation 5 Al 5 R L EEL B TR ERGSMEA 1A R4 HE -

Employees are entitled to maternity leave, marriage leave and other leave, and may apply for
other casual leave in accordance with the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China. The
Group’s female staff can apply for physiological leave of one day each month according to

their physical conditions.

B AR A SE 5y B ARG B A A8 ROAL & RS B4 ~ RO TAERARG - e Sl dr
Employee Benefits BTIES) - ikEERA - B T2 MIBEINFABEKE GRS EEGFHIMLHE

% el (B S AR AR BRSO - A B TR = A B R R A S - &
P A — TS A AR T 3 DA SR 2 I 0 B % A P R B TR A Hh R R
The Group pays contributions to the social insurance fund for its employees, and offers
working meal allowance, regular physical examination, employee activities, travel allowance
and other benefits stipulated by the state. If employees take training and relevant vocational
qualification examinations, the Group will provide additional leave for examination and
bear relevant training expenses. Hong Kong-based employees are also entitled to medical
insurance and the mandatory provident fund. The Group has also introduced a share option
scheme to reward employees who make outstanding contributions to the growth and

development of the Group.
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20204 KA B T AW MERBTAH TR B TAG B0 B T A%
Lyl Total Number of Number of Lost The Percentage of Lost Employees
Categories Employees Employees in the Category
P B3
By Region
Ei 6 1 17%
Hong Kong
A 422 81 19%
Nanjing
BRI 122 21 17%
Zhuzhou
37 107 62 58%
Wuxi
H Al 3l 55 168 64 38%
Other regions
AT 1 #) 7)
By Age Group
18-30 5% 262 111 42%
18-30
31-50 5% 459 107 23%
31-50
SUE UL L 104 11 10%
51 and Above
1 A 068 25T 3 1 73
By Employment Category
A 596 189 32%
General
g 220 36 16%
Middle
1] 9 4 44%
Senior
FEAE R B 7>
By Gender
itk 418 105 25%
Male
Ltk 407 124 30%
Female
By 825 229 28%
Total
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Occupational Health and Safety

Only ensuring a safe and healthy working environment can make
staff feel at ease and work more efficiently. We therefore strictly
implement relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Work Safety, the Occupational Safety
and Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Industrial Injury Insurance
Ordinance and the Fire Prevention Law of the People’s Republic
of China, etc. In addition, we listen to the opinions of the staff
carefully and improve safety facilities, safety awareness and the safety
management principles of working environment. The Group also pays
work injury insurance for each staff. At the same time, the general
contractor of the project is also required to purchase relevant insurance

for the construction workers and put staff health on first place.

In order to prevent employees from occupational hazards, the Group
regularly organizes occupational safety training and health lectures
to publicize the concept and methods of healthy living and remind
staff to pay attention to their own health conditions. The Group also
attaches great importance to staff’ personal safety and fire prevention
awareness. In order to improve fire safety awareness of all staff and
increase the emergency response ability of staff and merchants, the
Group regularly conducts fire safety trainings and drills to enable
staff to master certain fire prevention knowledge, so that staff can
consciously keep the fire escape unblocked, and have the ability to put

out initial fires and guide people to evacuate.
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<5 W e LS 4 T K b D 1 2020 4F 6 12 FR I A i #BCTE R B K AR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Headquarters and Golden Wheel Xintiandi Mall held evacuation drills and fire fighting drills
on 12 June 2020

oAb AT & VRS AR A — In addition, the human resources department conducts statistics and
VAT HHE &5 S B R 4R > AT data collection on a unified basis every year, while the Administration
NE I H B e T & > g A and human resources department conducts regular monthly meetings
PRAEA B TAE - MER > WM K to report and follow up relevant work. During the Year, there was no
TEZH LEN G HERBMEZE serious occupational injury accident, and the number and rate of injury
ME TR TEREEO - case/death case in the line of duty was zero. The number of working

days lost due to work-related injury was zero.
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The Group also attaches importance to occupational safety at the
construction site of the project. Project engineers hold monthly
meetings with the Project Safety Committee to monitor the
implementation of the project safety plan and revise the health and
safety performance of the project. The management of the Group will
also regularly visit the site to carry out routine inspection and record
of the construction environment (including the safety protection for
inflammable and explosive and dangerous goods, temporary electricity

consumption and high falling objects).

4
0

Z

20204F 3 1 H — e 2 i g 2 4 e OH B LR
1 March 2020-Inspection of Nanjing Golden Wheel Romantic Tower Project

S B B B T2 P SL R A R R
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EREFE F MBS # o R Y SR B
MEENEE L~ AN
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The Group assists staff to establish harmonious and healthy
interpersonal relationships and advocates mutual support and care. We
believe that such a working environment is able to not only cultivate
team spirit, but also help increasing the overall operating efficiency of
the Group. For this purpose, the Group regularly holds staff activities,
including birthday parties, festival celebrations and group construction
activities days, etc., to narrow the gap between staff and create a

harmonious working atmosphere so that staff can work happily.
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20204F 1 H 15 H » 4 o K M #2E ix On 15 January 2020, the work summary and commendation meeting
2019 4F [ T /F 48 45 K & & 5% %2020 of Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings for 2019 and the 2020 Spring
WHmEG e TeEREE &8 Festival Evening Party were successfully held in the Kunlun Hall of
NEF B o & b [ BT 4 B 26 4E Y Nanjing Jinling Hotel. During the meeting we reviewed the Group’s
BEREBFE - 2019 4F B Bl 50 5 [F] F 26-year development process and the overall situation in 2019. We
B A T A [ O K b PR R AR i R also released the future development direction, strategic objectives,
7~ BN EAE . o — AR THEE work plans and tasks for the Group’s four major segments in the
B BLATHS o A > B TG B T % coming year. In addition, in order to appreciate the staff for their
SEE AT FoAM R contribution to the Group, we have commended and presented awards
BEET EHMRBE TESTHE to excellent managers, excellent staff and long-serving staff.

WA -
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Development and Training

The Group is committed to providing the best quality products and
services to our customers. Professional staff and up-to-date industry
knowledge are behind maintaining excellent quality. As a result,
the Group regularly organizes trainings for its staff according to the
development requirements for different positions, including training

for pre-job, fire drill, construction engineering and service activities.

After entering the company, all new staff are required to attend pre-
job induction training provided by the human resources department
to learn about the history of the Group, organizational structure,
company rules and regulations, basic operation of office automation
system, various policies, etc., to make sure that they are familiar with

the values and objectives of the Group and understand their roles in

the Group.

~
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In addition, anti-corruption training is also a key training program of
the Group, and its training contents have been clearly stipulated in
the staff manual. Engineering contracts, lease contracts and separate
anti-corruption clauses signed by the Company and third parties
are included in the manual to prevent any corruption. Due to the
epidemic situation, vocational trainings for the Group’s staff during
the Year were mainly personal trainings. No specific statistics on the
average number of training hours and the percentage of trained staff
can be provided for the Year, and the Group will strengthen its data
statistics and management in the future. The Group also strongly
encourages its staff to participate in external training or seminars, and
provides examination leave and bears relevant training expenses to

support staff’s career development.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai, the vice chairman and president of the board
of directors of Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings, participated in the
seventh session of the first class of the Fortune 100 Industry Leadership
Course held in Hangzhou from 14 to 17 May 2020 to experience
the cutting-edge technology and iffdevation culture of the internet,

exchange businesgfdeas and prepare'flmdre enterprise development.

[ FL T ded N

' 21 L EEEWH

21st Cenfury Baifu Acadery
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On 10 April 2020, Zhu Ling, deputy general manager of the
integrated management center of the Group’s headquarters, led the
property management and administration working group to Yangzhou
Golden Wheel Company for inspection, exchange and study, held
a special meeting on the work of property management and asset
management, and visited two projects, Star Plaza and Lakeside Orchid
Garden. The Group believed that such inspection and exchange

can make staff share knowledge with each other and deepen their

understanding for different regions and areas.

2020 4F JE Bt ANNUAL REPORT 2020 69



B kg BRI
Environmental, Social and Governance Report

B4. % T.HEH| B4. Employment Standards
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During the Year, the Group strictly complied with the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Protection of Minors and other regulations on the
prohibition of child labour and forced labour. All employees of the
Group are recruited by the human resources department following
established standards and procedures, so as to ensure that all candidates
are able to meet the qualifications for employment. Based on the
relevant information submitted by the candidates, the human resources
department makes rigorous check and verification on the identity and
professional qualifications of candidates, so as to ensure that the legal
minimum working age is met and avoid any child labour. In addition,
the Group has cracked down on forced labour. All employees must
sign employment contracts upon commencement of employment,
which contain detailed information on work requirements and wages,
so that employees fully understand their responsibilities and the
Group’s expectations. If overtime work is required, we will consider
whether employees are given proper rest time. After overtime work,
we will arrange time off or provide overtime pay to ensure that
employees receive legal and reasonable compensations. In addition, we
will conduct analysis quarterly to strengthen human resource planning
and streamline working processes to avoid unnecessary overtime
work. During the Year, the Group did not commit any violation of
the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China or other laws and
regulations related to the prevention of child labour or forced labour
in mainland China. However, if any violation is found, the human
resources department will immediately report it to the management
according to the established procedures, and then the management
will hold an internal meeting and appoint a person in charge to follow

up the violations and give relevant severe punishments.
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Management of Supply Chain

The Group firmly believes that a sound and sustainable supply chain
can maintain good quality of the products. We maintain stable
cooperative relationship with various suppliers. Apart from jointly
promoting business development, we also hope that through effective
supply chain management, suppliers can shoulder the vision of

building high-quality projects and society together with us.

When selecting engineering suppliers, the Group conducts open,
transparent and objective bidding. During the supplier selection
process, all staff members are required to submit the inquiry results by
each department in accordance with the internal standard process and
obtain an approval from the relevant department before the relevant
supplier becomes a qualified supplier of the Group. For a supplier that
cooperates with the Group for the first time, the Group will review the
supplier’s bidding documents and the data provided by the supplier,
including business license, professional qualification certificate,
safety production license and other management system approval
certificate, business introduction, etc., to confirm the supplier’s
legitimacy, business performance, qualifications and background, and
its compliance with the Group’s standards and requirements. The
sustainability of suppliers is also one of the Group’s considerations. The
operation data provided by suppliers, such as low-carbon production,
use of environment-friendly materials and green operation, will be
the key items considered by the contract department. Generally,
under the same conditions, suppliers within the same region will be
selected preferentially to reduce the greenhouse gas emissions from

transportation.
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In regulating the procurement and tendering process, we will assess
the environmental and social risks of our suppliers and ensure that our
suppliers meet our quality and environmental protection requirements
based on the principles of fair and equitable assessment. We conduct
annual performance evaluation on our cooperative suppliers to monitor
and evaluate their work progress and quality as well as their sustainable
development performance. The suppliers that fail the performance
evaluation, such as violation of laws or regulations, and bad operations,
will be blacklisted by the Group, or even considered never to be hired
to ensure the quality of the Group’s projects. Currently, the Group has

63 suppliers within the scope of its reports.

Product Liability and Quality of Services

While providing high-quality real estate projects, the Group is also
committed to implementing various measures, so we always have
strict standards for project management and internal control. Every
detail of the Group’s projects is meticulous. All construction work is
conducted strictly in accordance with the Regulations on the Quality
Management of Construction Projects issued by the State Council,
and all contractors recruited conform to stringent qualification
requirements. Departments involved in project design, cost control and
project management must carry out project planning, procurement,
construction, supervision, acceptance and warranty according to the
Group’s standardised project management process. All the Group’s
projects are filed with the competent government authorities in
compliance with the requirements of laws and regulations, and relevant
licenses are obtained. After the completion of a project, an on-site
inspection conducted by the relevant authorities of the government is
required before receiving the completion record certification to ensure
the safe delivery of the project. In addition, as for project design, the
staff of the design department regularly checks whether there is any
infringement of the Group’s intellectual property rights in the market,
and the Group’s design is the original design of our staff. The Group
confirms that the intellectual property rights of the products are used
in the projects to maintain and protect the intellectual property rights.
The Group’s standardisation requirements for projects not only can
reduce internal management risks, but also ensure the consistency of
project quality. During the Year, the percentage of products sold to be

recycled for safety or health reasons was zero.
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The Group attaches great importance to customer relations and
has fostered close relationships with customers through various
communication channels. The Group has an enterprise resource
planning system for statistics of relevant consumer information. In
light of the personal information of customers contained in the system
and for the purpose of protecting the privacy of consumers, the Group,
in accordance with the General Principles of the Civil Law of the
People’s Republic of China and other laws and regulations related to
protection of the right to use personal data and privacy, requires that
the data inputting and system maintaining should be only carried
out by related and authorised salespersons, and customer data should
not be transferred to other departments or third parties without
the approval of the management to reduce the risk of customer
privacy leakage. In the process of project marketing, the Group is
fully aware of the importance of accurate information. According to
the requirements of the Regulations on the Release of Real Estate
Advertising and the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, each customer shall be provided with real, legal and accurate
real estate advertising information to avoid any false, misleading or
inductive contents for customers, so as to reduce customer’s risk. In
addition, the Group has also purchased the public liability insurance
for all commercial properties to protect the rights and interests of
customers. If a customer is dissatisfied with a product or service, he/
she can lodge a complaint by telephone, e-mail or WeChat. The Group
will immediately assign an employee to follow up on the complaint,
and the case must be reported within the specified time limit, so as
to ensure that it can be handled in a timely and effective manner, and
improve customer’s satisfaction and maintain the Company’s goodwill
and image. During the Year, the Group has not received any major

complaint about the products or services.
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Anti-Corruption

In order to maintain a corporate culture of honesty and integrity,
the Group has established a complete governance structure and
comprehensive risk assessment management and internal control
systems to provide clear principles and guidelines of business ethics
to all Directors, staff members and suppliers. All staff members of
the Group can learn about the Group’s requirements on honesty and
integrity of the staff, reporting system, definition of staff corruption,
etc, by referring to the internal honesty and integrity management
regulations. All staff members are required to spontaneously report
and hand in presents, cash gifts, and other items, and when invited
for business purposes, they are also required to obtain the approval
of the General Manager in advance. New recruits are required to
attend integrity and self-discipline courses to enhance their integrity

awareness and anti-corruption ability.

In addition, the Group has also established various anti-corruption
reporting channels, including telephone, email, WeChat official
account, etc. All complaints about alleged corruption cases can
be reported anonymously or non-anonymously. Upon receipt of a
report, the Group’s legal department and the internal audit office
will investigate and handle the complaints under the guidance of the
Group’s vice chairman. During the Year, the Group did not violate any
laws or regulations relating to anti-corruption, monopolization and
improper receipt of benefits, and did not dismiss or take disciplinary

action against any staff member for corruption incidents.
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Community Investment

To fulfill its social responsibility as a listed company, the Group is
always committed to repaying the society by playing an active role
in charity events such as donations, establishment of foundation and
blood donation by staff. In the future, the Group will continue to
provide the previous community investment services. During the
Year, the Group continued to make major contributions to education
and make use of resources to cultivate tomorrow’s elites for the society.
During the Year, the Group has donated a total amount of over RMB1

million in various community investment activities.

Supporting education
Wuxi Jade Golden Wheel Real Estate Co., Ltd., a subsidiary of the
Group, invested RMB15.6 million to build an elite kindergarten in

Wuxi, which was delivered to the government on 31 December 2020.
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The Group is committed to contributing to the education cause by
bringing more high-quality education resources to the local residents
in the project area, which reflects the social responsibility of real
estate enterprises. The elite kindergarten built by the Group in Wuxi,
with a scale of nearly 4,000 square meters, can be used by 12 classes,
providing a comfortable and good learning place for children in the

Mashan area of Wuxi.

i

In addition, the Golden Wheel Tiandi Care Fund initiated by the
Group has made three donations so far. Each donation will be carefully
selected and discussed before the donation institution is decided. The
previous donations were used for the campus infrastructure projects of

Huagqiao University and direct assistance to the socially disadvantaged

groups.
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Helping the poor and the needy in poverty alleviation and
disaster relief

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, an executive Director and the
Standing Vice President of the Group, a member of the Hunan
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, a member of the Hunan Provincial Committee of the
Chinese People’s Federation, a member of the Guangdong Provincial
Committee of the Chinese People’s Federation and a Vice President
of the Zhuzhou Federation of Overseas Chinese Merchants, has led all
the staff members in various public welfare undertakings. He has not
only made donations to support the education cause, but also actively
contributed his care to medical and health care, poverty alleviation,
disaster relief and other aspects. The Group has donated and built
medical facilities in various regions of China, including the Golden
Wheel Qiaoxin Health Center in the Miao Township of Dagaoping
in Tongdao County, Huaihua City, Hunan Province, and the Golden
Wheel Qiaoxin Health Station in Guanbukou Village, Hanpu Street,
Yuelu District, Changsha City. As one of Mr. Wong's most important
benevolent work, he does not forget to personally practise while
donating money, with a view to understanding the needs and changes
of the beneficiary areas. For example, he re-visited Qingzhu Village,
Oujiang Town, Guidong County in May 2020 and learned that one of

the beneficiary families had been completely lifted out of poverty.

\
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Building a Harmonious Society

On 21 May 2020, Yang Yang, Deputy Director of the human
resources department of the Group, participated in a social welfare
event with the theme of “Delivering Care in the COVID-19 Combat
and Building a Harmonious Society”. Gulou District Federation of
Industry and Commerce, Huaqiao Road Sub-districe Chamber of
Commerce and Jinling Huixin Social Stratum People’s Federation
jointly launched the public welfare initiative, aiming to gather all
entrepreneurs together for the public welfare activities of delivering
warmth, true feeling and care to build a civilized and harmonious

home. The Group will certainly continue to take active participation

in such meaningful public welfare activities in the future.
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Joint response to the COVID-19 epidemic

In 2020, the COVID-19 epidemic spread to China and many other
countries in the world. The Group’s businesses, especially property
leasing and hotel operations, were particularly affected by the
epidemic. However, the Group still strived to contribute to the
society and supported various sectors of the society in different forms
to combat the epidemic together. In the first half of 2020, the Group
responded to the national call to suspend construction and sales
activities for the purpose of controlling the spread of the epidemic.
The Group understood and took into account the financial pressure
of tenants and voluntarily granted rent exemption for two to three
months to all tenants. At the same time, the Group also raised anti-
epidemic materials, such as masks and disinfection supplies, and
gave such materials to the needy to solve their urgent needs and join
hands to fight the epidemic. Later, in the process of returning to work
and resuming production, the Group did not relax on measurements
and gradually arranged for the staff to return to work and resume
production. The staff were required to conduct daily temperature
check-ups, keep social distance, and increased the frequency of cleaning
and disinfection of offices and projects to reassure customers and the
staff regarding the hygiene of the environment. The anti-epidemic
measures taken by the Group during the Year were well accepted by
the communities in which the Group is located, and were awarded
the “Outstanding Contribution Member Enterprise in Combating
the COVID-19 Epidemic” by the All-China Real Estate Association
and the Party Construction Committee of the All-China Real Estate

Association.
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The Group donated anti-epidemic materials
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The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and enhance the performance
of the Group. The Board reviews and improves the corporate governance practices
from time to time to ensure that the Company is under the leadership of an effective

board to optimise return for the shareholders.

As a responsible business enterprise, the corporate governance standards of the
Company are built on the principles of independence, accountability, transparency

and honesty.

(A) CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting the Group’s business
in a transparent and responsible manner and following good corporate
governance practices serve its long-term interests and those of shareholders.
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Corporate
Governance Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the

“Listing Rules”) as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.

In the opinion of the Directors, during the Year, the Company has adopted,
applied and complied with the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)

contained in the Corporate Governance Code.
The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company

with an aim to maintain and improve its high standard of corporate

governance practices.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities

transactions. Upon specific enquiry, all Directors confirmed that they have

complied with the Model Code during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board members for the Year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mz. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

M. Janata David

Non-executive Directors
Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie

Mr. Li Sze Keung

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr.
Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry
(an Executive Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr.
Suwita Janata, a Non-executive Director). Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of
Mr. Janata David (an Executive Director), and the uncle of Mr. Wong Kam

Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive

Director).
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The Board currently comprises a total of 11 Directors, with five Executive
Directors, two Non-executive Directors, and four Independent Non-executive
Ditectors. The number of Independent Non-executive Directors represents
more than one-third of the Board as required by Rule 3.10A of the Listing
Rules. The biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 101 to 110 of

this Annual Report.

The Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”)
provides that at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation, provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Also, pursuant to the
Articles of Association, any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the Board is subject to re-election at the next following
general meeting or next following annual general meeting of the Company

respectively.

Regular Board meetings are held at least four times a year. Special meeting of
the Board will be convened whenever necessary. The Board convened a total

of eight meetings for the Year.
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A EE Executive Directors

THE Wong Yam Yin

T Wong Kam Fai

T Wong Kam Keung, Barry

Tjie Tjin Fung Tjie Tjin Fung

Janata David Janata David

FAGEE Non-executive Directors

Suwita Janata Suwita Janata

Gunawan Kiky Gunawan Kiky

B HHITEF Independent Non-executive Directors
LEYN Wong Ying Loi

BEE Lie Tak Sen
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Details of the directors” attendance at the Board meetings, Board committee

meetings and the general meetings during the Year were as follows:

W/ B R
Meeting Attended/Held
KR /3

2REFT FHUZAT FMZAT REZHE BEXE BHKE

Annual  Extraordinary

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination General General

Full Board  Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Meeting Meeting
8/8 - - 212 11 0/0
8/8 - 22 - 11 0/0
8/8 - - - 11 0/0
8/8 - - - 11 0/0
8/8 - - - 11 0/0
8/8 - - - 11 0/0
8/8 - - - 11 0/0
8/8 - - 212 11 0/0
8/8 3/3 22 - 11 0/0
8/8 313 22 - 11 0/0
8/8 33 - 212 11 0/0

The Board is accountable to the shareholders for leading the Company in a
responsible and effective manner. It is responsible for formulating strategies
and management policies of the Company, approving the strategic objectives
of the Company and ensuring the availability of necessary financial and other
resources to meet such objectives. The Board also constantly supervises and
reviews the Company’s regulations and rules. The Directors perform their
duties in a faithful and diligent manner and act in the best interests of the

Company and its shareholders as a whole.

Moreover, the Board is also responsible for presenting a clear and balanced
assessment of the Company’s performance and prospects, preparing accounts
that give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position on a going

concern basis and disclosing other inside information.
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The management is responsible for implementing the policies and strategies
as determined by the Board, and is delegated with the daily management,

operations and administration of the Company.

The Company has four Independent Non-executive Directors (“Independent
Non-executive Directors”), at least one of whom has appropriate financial

management expertise in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Company has received annual confirmation of independence from all
the Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board is of the view that all the Independent Non-

executive Directors are independent in accordance with the Listing Rules.

Directors’ training

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her responsibilities under
the relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company Secretary
and our legal advisors also provide the Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and

regulatory requirement from time to time.

All of the Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company
has arranged in-house trainings for the Directors to update and refresh their

relevant knowledge during the Year.

All of the Directors, namely Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Fai, Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Mr. Janata David, Mr. Suwita
Janata, Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Mr. Wong Ying Loi, Mr. Lie Tak Sen, Mr.
Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie and Mr. Li Sze Keung had confirmed that they had
complied with the Code Provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code
during the Year or his tenure during the Year by participating in continuous

professional development.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities

insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.
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(F)

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, has executive responsibilities and
provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing policies and business
directions. He ensures that the Board works effectively and discharges its
responsibilities, and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by the
Board in a timely manner. He also ensures that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues to be discussed at Board meetings. Mr. Wong Kam Fai,
the Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for overseeing the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business. Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the father of Mr.
Wong Kam Fai.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of Non-executive Directors and the Independent Non-executive
Directors has entered into a formal letter of appointment with the Company
for a term of one year or two years, subject to termination provisions therein

and retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company currently has established three committees with respective
responsibilities, namely the audit committee (the “Audit Committee”),
the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and
the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”). All Board
committees are empowered by the Board under their terms of reference which
have been posted on the websites of the Company and The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited.

Audit committee

The Audit Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are to review and supervise the Company’s financial reporting
process, half-yearly and annual results, risk management and internal control
systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function performed by the internal
audit department of the Group and provide advice and comments to the
Board. The Audit Committee consists of three Independent Non- executive
Directors, namely Mr. Li Sze Keung (Chairman), Mr. Lie Tak Sen and
Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie, who together have sufficient accounting and
financial management expertise and business experience to carry out their

duties.
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During the Year, the Audit Committee held three meetings to review the
interim results and annual results and provide recommendation on the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems. All members of
the Audit Committee attended the meetings. The Chief Financial Officer and
the representatives of the external auditor of the Company also attended the

meetings.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with written terms of
reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Directors
on the Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policies on such remuneration; to assess performance
of each Executive Director; to recommend to the Board on the terms of
the specific remuneration package of each Executive Director and senior
management (adopted the approach under Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii));
and to review and approve performance-based remuneration by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by Directors from time to time.
The Remuneration Committee consists of two Independent Non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (Chairman) and Mr. Lie Tak

Sen, and an Executive Director, Mr. Wong Kam Fai.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held two meetings to assess
the performance of the Executive Directors, review the remuneration of
the Executive Directors under their service contracts and the remuneration
policies of the Company, and made recommendations to the Board. All

members of the Remuneration Committee attended the meetings.

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Nomination
Committee are to review the structure, size and composition of the Board
on a regular basis; to make recommendations to the Board regarding any
proposed changes; to identify, select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships; to assess
the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors; and to
make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors. The Nomination Committee consists of an Executive Director, Mr.
Wong Yam Yin (Chairman), and two Independent Non-executive Directors,

namely Mr. Wong Ying Loi and Mr. Li Sze Keung.
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The Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy, setting
out the approach to diversity on the Board. It is believed that a truly diverse
Board will include and make good use of differences in the skills, regional
and industrial experience, background, race, gender and other qualities of
members of the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, which include gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, regional and industry experience, skills,
knowledge and other qualities. The Company will take these perspectives
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board which,
when possible, should be balanced appropriately. In informing its perspective
on diversity, the Company will also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates

will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee has also adopted a nomination policy, setting
out the approach for nominating and appointing a Director either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on criteria including character and integrity,
qualifications, any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board, any potential contributions that the candidate can bring to the
Board and the candidate’s willingness and ability to devote adequate time
to discharge his/her duties. Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of
new Director and the biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate, the Nomination Committee will evaluate such candidate based on
the criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is qualified
for directorship. If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee will rank them by order of preference based on the

needs of the Company and recommend to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held two meetings to assess
the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors, recommend the
re-appointment of Directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting
and review the policies implemented by the Nomination Committee. All

members of the Nomination Committee attended the meetings.
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Corporate governance function

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties which
include developing, reviewing and approving the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance; reviewing and monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management;
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; developing, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and Directors; and reviewing the Company’s compliance with
the Corporate Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance

Report.

During the Year, the Board held meetings to review the Company’s policies

and practices on corporate governance and perform all duties as set out above.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced and clear assessment of
the Group’s performance and prospects. The Directors acknowledged their
responsibility for preparing the accounts that give a true and fair view on
the Group’s financial position on a going-concern basis and other financial
disclosures. Management of the Company provides all relevant information
to the Board, giving its members sufficient explanation and information that
they need to discharge their responsibilities. A statement by the auditor of
the Company in respect of their reporting responsibilities is set out in the

Independent Auditor’s Report section contained in this Annual Report.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total fee paid/payable in respect of
service provided by KPMG were RMB2.5 million, comprising fee for audit

service of RMB1.4 million and for non-audit service of RMB1.1 million.
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(H) COMPANY SECRETARY

@

The Company Secretary is a full time employee of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. The Company Secretary reports to

the Board and is responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.

Ms. Lee Wai Yan who is a full time employee of the Company and has day-
to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs was appointed as the Company
Secretary on 1 April 2019. Ms. Lee has confirmed that for the Year, she has
taken no less than 15 hours relevant professional training. The biographical

details of Ms. Lee are set out on page 111 of this Annual Report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

There are no provisions allowing shareholders of the Company to propose new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law

(Revised). However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, it provides that:

Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible
Shareholders”) shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary of the Company, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two
(2) months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21)
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure

of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

The enquiries must be in writing with the detailed contact information of the
requisitionist(s) and deposited to the Board or the Company Secretary at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong located at Unit A,
18 Floor, Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169 Electric Road, Fortress Hill,

Hong Kong. The Company will endeavour to respond in a timely manner.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at shareholders’
meetings

Eligible shareholder who wishes to put forward proposal(s) at shareholders’
meeting which is to be held, should submit a written notice of the proposal
with his/her detailed contact information to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
located at Unit A, 18/F, Lee & Man Commercial Center, 169 Electric
Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong. Pursuant to the Articles of Association,
shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal should convene an
extraordinary general meeting by following the procedure set out in
“Procedure for shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting”

above.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election

as a director at a general meeting

If a shareholder intends to propose a person for election as a Director at
any general meeting, he must sign a notice (the “Notice”) stating his
intention to propose such person for election. The Notice which includes the
personal information of the proposed person as required by Rule 13.51(2)
of the Listing Rules and a letter of consent signed by the proposed person
stating his willingness to be elected shall be lodged with the Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong located at Unit A, 18/F, Lee
& Man Commercial Center, 169 Electric Road, Fortress Hill, Hong Kong;
or the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, located at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Hong Kong, with at least (7) days’ notice given. If the Notices are submitted
after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election, the period for lodgment of such Notice(s) shall commence on the
day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general

meeting.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The management of the Company believes that effective and proper investor
relations play a vital role in creating shareholders’ value, enhancing the
corporate transparency as well as establishing market confidence. As such,
the Company has adopted a stringent internal control system to ensure true,
accurate, complete and timely disclosure of information in order to ensure
all shareholders as well as the public have equal access to information. The
management of the Company has proactively taken and will continue to take
the following measures to ensure effective shareholders’ communication and

transparency:

. Maintain frequent contacts with shareholders and investors through

various channels such as meetings, telephone and emails;

. Regularly update the Company’s news and developments through the

investor relations section of the Company’s website;

. Arrange on-site visits to the Group’s projects for potential investors

and research analysts.

Through the above measures, the Company endeavors to communicate with
the investment community and provide them with the latest development of

the Group and the PRC real estate industry.

The Company discloses information in compliance with the Listing Rules,
and publishes periodic reports and announcements to the public in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. The primary focus of the Company
is to ensure information disclosure is timely, fair, accurate, truthful and
complete, thereby enabling shareholders, investors as well as the public to

make rational and informed decisions.

In addition, shareholders and investors are welcome to write their enquires
directly to the Board a) by mail to the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong, b) by fax on (852) 2566 3070 or ¢) by email at
IR@gwtd.com.hk.
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(K) RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control of the
Group and for reviewing and maintaining its effectiveness of the systems.
Procedures have been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, the maintenance of proper accounting records for the
provision of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication

and the compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The risk management and internal control systems are reviewed and assessed
on an on-going basis by the Executive Directors, and are further reviewed and
assessed by the Board on an annual basis to ensure that the systems in place

are effective and adequate.

During the Year, the internal audit department of the Group has conducted
an assessment on the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems of the Group and the assessment result was positive.

During the Year, the Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted an
annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, covering financial, operational, compliance and risk

management aspects. The systems were considered effective and adequate.

In addition to the Board’s oversight responsibilities, the Company has
developed a risk management process to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks and to resolve material internal control defects (if any).
Senior management, through the Company’s internal audit department, is
responsible for the annual risk reporting process. Members of the internal
audit department meet with various members of the senior management
to review and assess risks and discuss solutions to address material internal
control defects (if any), including any changes relevant to a given year. Risks
are compiled, ratings are assigned and mitigation plans are documented. The
risk assessment is reviewed by certain members of senior management and

presented to the Audit Committee and the Board for their review.

Risks are evaluated by the Board and senior management based on (i) the
severity of the impact of the risk on the Company’s financial results; (ii) the
probability that the risk will occur; and (iii) the velocity or speed at which a

risk could occur.
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The Group’s risk management framework includes the following elements:

. identify significant risks in the Group’s operation environment and

evaluate the impacts of those risks on the Group’s business;

. develop necessary measures to manage those risks;

. monitor and review the effectiveness of such measures.

The controls built into the risk management system are intended to manage,

not eliminate, significant risks in the Group’s business environment.

The internal control system is designed to provide reasonable, but not
absolute, assurance. The system aims to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks

of failure in achieving the Company’s objectives.

The internal audit department reports the internal audit plan and results to

the Audit Committee directly.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing their design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

The Company have formulated an inside information policy providing

guideline on handling inside information.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, setting out principles and
guidelines that the Company intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders
of the Company. With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees developing a dividend distribution system as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives
and its sustainable development. The declaration of dividends, in addition to
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association, is
subject to the discretion of the Board, which the Company expects will take
into account the financial results, shareholders™ interests, general business
conditions and strategies, capital requirements, contractual restrictions
on the payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders or by
the Company’s subsidiaries to the Company, taxation considerations and
possible effects on creditworthiness, statutory and regulatory restrictions. The
Company intends to distribute not more than 50% of its net distributable
profits as dividends to its shareholders for each financial year, subject to the

conditions and factors as set out above.
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Below are biographies of the current Directors and senior management of the Group.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (E 8 B) | aged 79, is an Executive Director and the
Chairman of our Board and our Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the
founders of our Group and our controlling shareholders. He is responsible for our
overall strategy, business and investment planning. Mr. Wong was appointed as a

Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Wong has over 30 years of experience in business management. He established
Golden Wheel Trading Company Limited (42 %% % # FR /A ) in 1983 in Hong
Kong to engage in metal trading business. He, together with his wife Ms. Hung So
Ling, his elder son Mr. Wong Kam Fai and his younger son Mr. Wong Kam Keung,

Barry, established our Group in 1994 to engage in real estate development business.

Other than his role in our Group, Mr. Wong is involved in various associations,

including being:

U a consultant of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese
Association*;

U a Standing Council Member of China Overseas Exchange Association*;

o a Standing Deputy Chairman of China Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;

a Chairman and Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Federation of

Overseas Chinese Association®;

o a Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiao Yao Association*;

U a Chairman & CEO of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited*;

U a Standing Director of Hong Kong Federation of Fujian Associations™;

° a Standing Director of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community

Organisations®; and

o the Honorary Principal of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Qiaoxin School*.
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Mr. Wong received various awards in recognition of his contribution to society,
including the “Chief Executive’s Commendation for Community Service (47 B
= H A R R BEHR) » by cthe Hong Kong government in 2004, the “Prize for
Outstanding Contribution to Beichuan Middle School*” by All-China Federation
of Returned Overseas Chinese Association®, the “Manufacturer with Honesty and
Integrity of 2010” by All-China Federation of Industry and Commerce, Hardware
and Electromechanical Chamber in 2010, the “Award of Outstanding Chinese”
jointly held by Global Outstanding Chinese Association and Chinese Literature
Publishing House in 2014, and the “Honor of Serving Chinese Society” by Overseas’
Chinese Office of the State Council* in 2014. In 2019, Mr. Wong was also awarded

the “Overseas Chinese Charity Star”.

Mr. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in physics from Huaqiao University in

1967.

Mr. Wong Yam Yin is the husband of Ms. Hung So Ling, the father of Mr. Wong
Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive
Director), and the brother of Ms. Julia Oscar (the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata, a Non-

executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and
Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and

Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (8 ) | aged 50, is an Executive Director, a Vice
Chairman of our Board, the Chief Executive Officer of our Group and a member of
our Remuneration Committee. Mr. Wong is one of the founders of our Group and
our controlling shareholders. Mr. Wong held several positions within our Group
immediately after completion of his bachelor’s degree. He has been the General
Manager of Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate Development Company Limited
since 1 May 1994 and Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited since
1 July 2002, respectively. Mr. Wong is responsible for our overall business operation
and management. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012. Mr.

Wong has over 20 years of experience in the real estate industry.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:

a member of Jiangsu Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

a member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

Association®;

a Deputy Chairman of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese

Associations*;

a Deputy Chairman of Federation of HK Jiangsu Community Organisation*;

a Chairman and Director of Hong Kong Qiao Ai Foundation Limited;

a standing committee member of All-China Federation of Industry &

Commerce of Jiangsu Province*;

Chairman of Real Estate Chamber of Jiangsu Provincial Federation of

Industry & Commence*;

a Deputy Chairman of Jiangsu Provincial Overseas Exchange Association®;

and

a Standing Deputy Chairman of Nanjing Overseas Chinese Chamber of

Commerce®.

Mt. Wong received his bachelor’s degree in computer science from The University of
New South Wales of Australia in June 1994.

Mr. Wong Kam Fai is the elder son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive Director)

and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the elder brother of Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an

Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section

headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.
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ERMBARA > 475K - AT E B HAEEE R Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (£ 81 #) , aged 47, is an Executive Director
MR o TN B BRAM Y 1 A R o 1 R TR EE and the Standing Vice President of our Group. He is also one of our controlling
BATE - N EIRE IR E B - FOEAE shareholders. He is responsible for administration, human resources management
—JLUILANFEMAARLER - THRAEDAE F and projects development in Hunan province. Mr. Wong joined our Group in 1996.
ZWAENA—HB R -F—FF -1 —H B Mr. Wong has been the General Manager of Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate
U <5 i 5 b A R R B bk O e T 3E A Limited since 1 August 2004 and Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business Management
ARAA ARG FRAR-F—-4MA Limited since 1 February 2010, respectively. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director
ST AAEZERES - HAERMETERS on 26 April 2012. He has over 20 years of experience in the real estate industry.

18 20 4 KE 58
FRAEZRZMALR - BIHEHE - Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:
. FEAREGHEENEEZEERE . a member of Hunan Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference®;
. TP HEGH T FREERE . a member of Youth Committee of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas
Chinese Association®;
. ERAEHEEHGEEE o a standing committee member of Guangdong Provincial Overseas Chinese
Association®;
. EYITREEGE SR &R . a Deputy Chairman of Shenzhen Returned Overseas Chinese Association*;
J MEEENEAcgHeR o a Deputy Chairman of Hunan Provincial Federation of Overseas Chinese
Entrepreneurs*;
o FEEIEReES o a Director of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations™;
. A ERERRGETE . a standing committee member of Hunan Provincial Federation of Returned
Overseas Chinese Association®;
. RUWHEMNE ST R & . a standing committee member of Changsha Overseas Fraternal Association®;
g g
and
. R TSN R 2 U a standing committee member of Nanjing Overseas Fraternal Association®.
g jing
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong completed the Foundation Studies Certificate Course of Unisearch
Limited (now known as New South Innovations Pty Limited, an entity controlled by

the University of New South Wales) in 1993.

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry is the younger son of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an
Executive Director) and Ms. Hung So Ling, and the younger brother of Mr. Wong

Kam Fai (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors” Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, aged 70, is an Executive Director and a Vice Chairman of our
Board. Mr. Tjie is responsible for overseeing our Group’s operation, and formulating
our Group’s investment strategies. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Tjie was

appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mz. Tjie is an Indonesian Chinese. Being an entrepreneur, he established his own

manufacturing business in Indonesia in the 1970s.

M:z. Tjie is involved in various associations, including being:

. a counselling committee member of Indonesia Kota Bandung Social Welfare
Fund*;

. a Chairman of Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association*;

U a Charter President of Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International®;

U an Honorary Chairman of Guangdong Provincial Federation of Indonesian

Social Institutes®;

J an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Hakka Chinese Association™;
. an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Mei Zhou Club*; and
U an Honorary Chairman of Indonesia Chinese Association*.
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The discloseable interests of Mr. Tjie in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Janata David, aged 39, is an Executive Director. He is responsible for
managing our investors’ relationship. He joined our Group in 2005. Mr. Janata

David was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mzr. Janata David is an Indonesia Chinese. He also served as a general manager
of The Royal Beach Seminyak Bali, a company running a resort hotel in Bali,
Indonesia, from 2010 to 2011. He and his family members established PT Golden
and Mitra Property in Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development

business in Indonesia.

Mr. Janata David received his bachelor’s degree in business from Monash University
in Australia in December 2002 and his master’s degree in business systems from the

same university in December 2004.

Mzr. Janata David is the son of Mr. Suwita Janata (a Non-executive Director) and
Ms. Julia Oscar who is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an Executive Director).

Therefore, Mr. Janata David is a nephew of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Suwita Janata, aged 70, is a Non-executive Director and a Vice Chairman of
our Board. He joined our Group in 2002. Mr. Suwita Janata was appointed as a
Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Suwita Janata is an Indonesian Chinese. He commenced his career as an
entrepreneur by establishing his own trading company in the 1970s. Mr. Suwita
Janata and his family members established PT Golden and Mitra Property in

Indonesia in August 2009 to engage in property development business in Indonesia.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Suwita Janata is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

. the former Executive Chairman of Chinese Committee of Indonesia Chamber

of Commerce (West Java)*;

. the former head of the Indonesia Chamber of Commerce (West Java),

Commerce Division®;

° an advisory council member of Indonesia Bandung Yayasan Dana Welfare

Foundation®; and

. a member of the supervisory committee of Indonesia Bandung Minnan

Gonghui*.

Mr. Suwita Janata is the father of Mr. Janata David (an Executive Director) and the
husband of Ms. Julia Oscar. Ms. Julia Oscar is the sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin (an
Executive Director) and the aunt of Mr. Wong Kam Fai (an Executive Director) and

Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (an Executive Director).

The discloseable interests of Mr. Suwita Janata in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives” Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.

Mr. Gunawan Kiky, aged 73, is a Non-executive Director. He joined our Group in

2002. Mr. Gunawan was appointed as a Director on 26 April 2012.

Mr. Gunawan is an Indonesian Chinese. In the 1980s, he established his own trading

business.

Mr. Gunawan joined Indonesia Bandung Lions Clubs International* in 1989. In
2000, Mr. Gunawan founded Indonesia Bandung Hakka Chinese Association® and

has been a financial supervisor of the association.

The discloseable interests of Mr. Gunawan in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company under the provisions of Part XV of the SFO are set out in the section
headed “Directors’ Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short

Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” in this Annual Report.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Ying Loi (¥ 3£ %) |, aged 76, is an Independent Non-executive
Director and a member of our Nomination Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed
as a Director on 10 December 2012. Mr. Wong has over 20 years of experience in
business management. He has been operating his own trading and manufacturing

business since the 1980s.
Mr. Wong is involved in various associations, including being:
. the Chairman of Chiao Yao Association Limited*;

o a member of the Ninth and Tenth sessions of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Committee of, Hubei province*; and

. an honorary member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

Association*.
Mr. Wong obtained a diploma in English from Huaqiao University in July 1968.
Mr. Lie Tak Sen (Z5%E4) | aged 72, is an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of our Audit Committee and our Remuneration Committee. Mr.
Lie was appointed as a Director on 10 December 2012. Mr. Lie has over 20 years of
experience in business management. He has been operating his own trading business
since 1990.

Mr. Lie is involved in various associations, including being:

o a former member of All-China Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese

Association®; and

o a consultant of Beijing Returned Overseas Chinese Federation*.

1 08 & R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



HWERLE 3 BUFATER  HMZE
BEIRAELZAGNA -HEER-F
—LEANA-AERELHES - BREREY
WS B A 36 B 5 T B A 10 R AR BR -

WA WS RE WAL SFEE -

)

W R B 7 SR 13 e 2B &
#%AR

o FEARBURWH M GRBEMTSE 1L 124
13EZEE

o FEGRMEBETER

o FEAM- LT BEFENEGWE: K

e ALCEBRIEE-

BT B A A B ] CERS B A T
oA i e s L8 0 3) < AR o SR T
TR TR A R 2 AR R B M e SR o

WA B R B RN R (R H A P | Rk
M8 5 B8R < B> WS B E S AR 2R
W A R BRSSO 2% 5l
s A FR A R (RS0 I 2 % 5 4R
AR b 4 0 W A B T RS IR A A
2 5 B A BR 2 W GEM Tl (BB AR5 - 8290 )
I FHATES

HREDHR—AAFTELAR—I—FN
AERRB R EREEYRE TRERE+
L0 % 5% 190 R A% TR B 7 R T B A - B

3 A B I

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie (3 #3£) | aged 53, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
Committee. Mr. Wong was appointed as a Director on 1 August 2017. Mr. Wong

has over 10 years of experience in business strategies and corporate management.
Mr. Wong is/has been involved in various associations, including being:

J a member of the 13th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political

Consultative Conference*;

o a member of the 11th, 12th and 13th Guangzhou Municipal Committee of

the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference*;
U a President of Hong Kong Federation of Overseas Chinese Associations;

. a standing committee member of Hong Kong Petroleum, Chemicals and

Pharmaceutical Materials Merchants Association; and
° a vice president of Centum Charitas Foundation.

Mr. Wong is currently a managing director of Wah Fu Petroleum Company
Limited, the business of which includes the wholesale distribution of petroleum and
petroleum products. Mr. Wong is mainly responsible for overseeing the financial

performance and implementing business strategies of that company.

He is also a director of Chuan Chiong Company, Limited, which is involved in
the trading and wholesale of proprietary Chinese medicine, food product and tea,
where he is involved in the determination of that company’s strategic objectives and
policies and monitoring its overall achievement. He is also an independent non-
executive director of Ahsay Backup Software Development Company Limited which
is engaged in the provision of online backup software solutions to clients via the
internet, and listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with
stock code 8290.

Mr. Wong obtained a Bachelor of Science in Biomedical Engineering from Boston

University, the United States, and a Master of Engineering (Electrical) from Cornell

University, the United States, in May 1990 and August 1991 respectively.
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Mr. Li Sze Keung (=R gﬁ), aged 42, is an Independent Non-executive
Director, the Chairman of our Audit Committee and a member of our Nomination
Committee. Mr. Li is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of

Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Li obtained his Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Li
joined PricewaterhouseCoopers as Senior Consultant of the Tax Department in
June 2004 and was promoted to the position of Manager in October 2007. He left
PricewaterhouseCoopers in February 2009 to join RSM Nelson Wheeler as Manager
of the Tax Services Department, and became a Senior Manager of the Tax Services
Department from January 2010 to October 2011. Mr. Li was a Senior Manager of
the Tax Department in Ernst & Young from December 2011 to May 2012. Mr. Li

has been the director of The Concord Consulting Service Limited since 2012.

Mr. Li has over 15 years of experience in providing tax advisory and compliance
services to local and multinational corporations. Mr. Li has wide experience in
serving a wide spectrum of clients including trading companies and financial or
professional services firms. He has extensive experience in various tax advisory and

investment projects, and regularly represents clients in handling tax-related matters.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yiu Chi Man (8% 3C) is the Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Yiu is responsible
for overseeing the Group’s financial management and regulatory compliance. He has
approximately 20 years” experience of providing audit and advisory services to listed
companies and multinational companies with a focus on properties and financial

services industries.

Mr. Yiu joined the Group in 2013. Before joining the Group, Mr. Yiu was a partner
of KPMG China.

Mzr. Yiu obtained his Bachelor of Arts degree in accountancy from Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 1993. Mr. Yiu is a fellow member of Chartered
Association of Certified Public Accountants, and an associate member of the Hong

Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Lee Wai Yan (ZEJ% J) is the Company Secretary of the Group. Ms. Lee is
responsible for overseeing the corporate governance, regulatory compliance and

investor relations of the Group.

Ms. Lee joined the Group in March 2018. Before joining the Group, Ms. Lee was the
company secretary of a company listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited.

Ms. Lee obtained her Bachelor of Business Administration (Honours) degree in
Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong and was admitted as a
Chartered Secretary by completing the International Qualifying Scheme in 2010.
She is an associate member of both The Chartered Governance Institute (the “CGI”),
and The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries (the “HKICS”). She was
awarded the Chartered Governance Professional qualification from the CGI and the
HKICS in September 2018.

Mr. Tao Kang (Mg J3) is the Vice President of the Group. Mr. Tao is responsible
for overseeing our project management. Mr. Tao joined the Group in 2006. Before
joining the Group, Mr. Tao worked at various companies, including being the

Deputy Director of Nanjing Science and Technology Hall*.

Mr. Tao obtained his diploma degree in industrial and civil construction from the
Southeast University* in 1994. Mr. Tao obtained his senior engineer qualification in

2007 and is a Registered Supetvision Engineer and a Certified Constructor.

Ms. Sun Hui Hong (FRH4L) is the Assistant Vice President of the Group. She is
responsible for financial management. Ms. Sun joined the Group in 2009. Before
joining the Group, Ms. Sun worked at various companies, including being the
financial controller of Xinshi (Nanjing) Textile Co., Ltd* and the audit supervisor of

Ren Tianhua Zhongxing CPA, Jiangsu Branch*.

In 2001, she obtained her certified public accountant qualification.
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Mr. Chen Gang (Bfi8]) is the Standing Deputy General Manager of the Group.
He is responsible for financial management. Mr. Chen joined the Group in 2012.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Chen worked at various companies, including being
the Financial Controller of Jiangsu Joyque Information Industry Co., Ltd* and the

financial manager of Intech Group*.

Mr. Chen obtained his diploma degree in economic management from Hehai
University in 1999. In 2000, he obtained his middle level accountant qualification.

In 2013, he obtained his advanced level accountant qualification.

Mr. Sun Yang (8 #5) is the Deputy General Manager of the Group. Mr. Sun is
responsible for overseeing our sales and marketing. Mr. Sun joined the Group in
2008. Before joining the Group, Mr. Sun worked in various companies including
being the sales supervisor and vice president of Nanjing Haoliyi Real Property

Consultancy Company Limited*.

Mz. Sun holds the Real Estate Sales Qualification granted by the Training Center of

National Real Estate Trade*.

Mzr. Sun obtained his diploma in real estate operation and property management

from Yangzhou Polytechnic College* in June 2002.

Ms. Gu Xiaofang (B J7 ) is the General Manager of Golden Wheel Time Square.
Ms. Gu is responsible for overseeing the operation of Golden Wheel Time Square.
Ms. Gu joined the Group in 2010. Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Gu worked
at various companies, including being the assistant to the general manager and
marketing manager of Zhuzhou Dajiang Property Service Management Company

Limited* and a deputy general manager of Jindi Property Management Company*.

Ms. Gu is a member of Hunan Province Apparel Industry Association Ladies

Apparel Committee™.

Ms. Gu obtained her diploma degree in business management from Hubei Radio
and TV University* in July 1996.

Ms. Jiang Jian (3% f#) is the Assistant Vice President of the Group. Ms. Jiang is
responsible for overseeing the operation of Golden Wheel Xintiandi Mall. Ms. Jiang
joined the Group in 2006. She has over 15 years of experience in the management
of large scale shopping mall. Before joining the Group, Ms. Jiang worked at
various companies, including being the vice general manager of Nanjing Shangmao
Shopping Center* and the general supervisor of Zhongnan Holdings Group

Company Limited (subsidiary commercial company).

*  For identification purposes only
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present the Annual Report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries established in
the PRC are primarily engaged in property development, property leasing and hotel
operation. The activities and particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are shown
under note 14 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group’s
revenue and operating profit for the Year by principal activities is set out in the
section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this Annual Report and

note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the Consolidated Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on page 145 to 146 of this Annual

Report.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommed the payment of any final dividend in respect of the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 17 May
2021 to Friday, 21 May 2021 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer
of shares of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity
of members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14 May 2021.

The record date for such purposes is Friday, 21 May 2021.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the

Year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the Year are set

out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Directors’ Report

ISSUANCE OF SENIOR NOTES

On 6 January 2020, the Company offered to issue senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of USD200 million with a coupon rate of 12.95% per annum
(the “USD 2022 Notes”). The USD 2022 Notes are denominated in United States
dollars and were listed on the Stock Exchange and the Singapore Exchange Securities
Trading Limited (the “Singapore Exchange”) on 15 January 2020. The USD
2022 Notes carry interest at a coupon rate of 12.95% per annum, payable semi-
annually in arrears, and will mature on 14 March 2022. The purpose of the issue
of the USD 2022 Notes is to refinance the existing indebtedness of the Group,
including payment in connection with the repurchase of part of the senior notes in
the principal amount of USD400 million with a coupon rate of 7% per annum and
due in January 2021 (the “USD 2021 Notes”) on 17 January 2020, 23 March 2020
and 17 June 2020, further details of which are described under the section headed
“Purchase, sale or redemption of the Company’s listed securities” below. Details
of the USD 2022 Notes are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 6

January 2020 and 7 January 2020, respectively.

On 9 July 2020, the Company issued senior notes in an aggregate principal amount
of USD170 million with a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum (the “USD 2023
Notes”). The USD 2023 Notes are denominated in United States dollars and were
listed on the Singapore Exchange on 13 July 2020. The USD 2023 Notes carry
interest at a coupon rate of 14.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears,
and will mature on 9 January 2023. The purpose of the issue of the USD 2023
Notes is to refinance the existing indebtedness of the Group, including payment
in connection with the repurchase of part of the USD 2021 Notes from July to
December 2020 as described under the section headed “Purchase, sale or redemption
of the Company’s listed securities of the Company” below. Details of the USD 2023

Notes are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2020.
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SETTING UP AND MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED
COMPANIES

As at the end of the Year, the Company had set up and/or acquired a total of 69
subsidiaries, the details of which are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed above, the Company did not have any material acquisitions or

disposals of subsidiaries and affiliated companies during the Year.

RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of the distributable reserves of the
Company was RMB364.0 million.

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during
the Year are set out in Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and note 31

and 306, respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis” in this Annual Report and note 27 and 28 to the consolidated

financial statements.

1 1 6 & R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED



L~ D Bl A ) o 2

RoZ_EZFE—A+EHR T _FF LA
+:H>$QEL@%%W%&Q%E$A%
B Bl B 43,353,000 3 76 K 119,992,000 3 TG —
W —F - —FETEE - A -F_FHF—H
FA A AN T IR S A R By
43,085,000 % JC * 17,500,000 3 JG * 20,000,000 3¢
6 518,496,000 % TG —F ~— F E L EH -
m&%%ﬁ%@% T FELEEE

CECEFEF A= —H DR R
mmFM$Tﬁ$$wﬁﬁmmmwﬁ%m
SR FETEBRN _F - —-HF—AT/N\H
(TEMBE) Ry EEFWME (AEFEZH)
$A7M%%E$%wﬁﬁwmwmm%mm
#17 T%#?Q*E%mﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬂ
54,815,090 3 7T o A% 2\ ) AR 45 A 4 S R K
ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%kﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁmnwwﬁ%m
BEHEFZHALNABENAE - Z - —F—f
TILHBIAE

PR b SCR PR 40 REE —F FE+ A
=+ B A m SO AR (T F B 2 7
MIEE 6 SR [ A AR B i s g o

BLOW A B %

0 0 R MR R 5 A A ] O T AT
o B0 IR Bk e e i A o

B 5 i

AL R A P BB 2 B (MDA W) ML
F A RE 1) T A A ] 18 O R R Y R SO
A% w28 45 H A 1 BT PBOR 4 2 3 B R A A

7% 4 12 A R

ﬁ%ﬁﬁggﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%ﬁ
HRN A M B ER 12131718219~
2227 K34

HH

Directors’ Report

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

On 17 January 2020 and 13 July 2020, the Company, through tender offers,
successfully repurchased part of the USD 2021 Notes in an aggregate principal
amount of USD43,353,000 and USD119,992,000, respectively. From January
to December 2020, the Company also repurchased the USD 2021 Notes in the
market in an aggregate principal amount of USD43,085,000, USD17,500,000,
USD20,000,000 and USD18,496,000, respectively. After cancellation of all the
repurchased USD 2021 Notes, the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
the USD 2021 Notes as at 31 December 2020 was USD137,574,000. The USD
2021 Notes matured on 18 January 2021 (the “Maturity Date”) and the Company
has completed the redemption of the outstanding USD 2021 Notes in full in
an aggregate principal amount of USD137,574,000 together with accrued and
unpaid interest of USD4,815,090 up to but excluding the Maturity Date. The
total redemption price paid by the Company on the Maturity Date in accordance
with the terms of the relevant indenture was USD142,389,090. Please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 19 January 2021 for more details.

Save as disclosed above, there was no purchase, sale or redemption of any of the
Company’s listed securities by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association,
or the law of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-

rata basis to existing shareholders.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

Details on the charges of the Group’s assets and guarantees provided by the Group
are set out in notes 12, 13, 17, 18, 19, 22, 27 and 34 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this Annual Report are:

Mr. Wong Yam Yin (Chairman)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai (Vice Chairman, Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry (Standing Vice President)

Mzr. Tjie Tjin Fung (Vice Chairman)

Mr. Janata David

Non-executive Directors

Mzr. Suwita Janata (Vice Chairman)
Mr. Gunawan Kiky

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

Mr. Wong Cho Kei, Bonnie
Mr. Li Sze Keung

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at AGM and be eligible for re-election. Also, any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board is subject to re-

election at the next following general meeting or next following AGM, respectively.

Accordingly, Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Mr. Tjie Tjin
Fung and Mr. Gunawan Kiky shall retire from office at the AGM and, being

eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors to be

independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of our Executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a term of two years commencing from the listing date, and may thereafter be
renewed for a term of two years by agreement between the parties and in accordance
with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the
Executive Director may terminate the service contract at any time by giving not less

than three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of two years commencing from the listing date and may
thereafter be renewed for a term of two years in accordance with our Articles of
Association and the applicable laws. Either the Company or the Non-executive
Director may terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than

three months’ notice in writing to the other.

Each of our Independent Non-executive Directors has signed an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of one year, and may be renewed for a term of one year
in accordance with our Articles of Association and the applicable laws. The term of
the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Ying Loi and Mr. Lie Tak Sen commenced
from the listing date. The term of the appointment letters of Mr. Wong Cho Kei,
Bonnie and Mr. Li Sze Keung commenced on 1 August 2017 and 14 June 2019,
respectively. Either the Company or the Independent Non-executive Director may
terminate the appointment letter at any time by giving not less than one month’s

notice in writing to the other.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed for election or re-
election at the forthcoming AGM has a service contract/appointment letter with
the Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of

compensation.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration (including fees, salaries and other benefits, retirement benefit
scheme contribution) paid to our Directors in aggregate for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019 were approximately RMB15.9 million and RMB20.0

million, respectively.

The remuneration (including salaries and other benefits, retirement benefit scheme
contribution) paid to our Group’s five highest paid individuals in aggregate for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 was approximately RMB19.6 million and
RMB22.9 million, respectively.

For the Year, no emoluments were paid by our Group to any Director or any of the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining our Group or
as compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors has waived any emoluments

for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019.

Save as disclosed above, no other payments have been made or are payable, for the
years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, by our Group to or on
behalf of any of the Directors.

LOAN OR GUARANTEE FOR LOAN GRANTED TO THE
DIRECTORS

During the Year, the Group had not made any loan or provided any guarantee for
any loan, directly or indirectly, to the Directors, senior management, its controlling

shareholders or their respective close associates.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Brief profiles of the current Directors and senior management of the Group
are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior

Management” of this Annual Report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) adopted by the
Company on 10 December 2012, the Directors may invite participants (including
any executive, non-executive or independent non-executive Directors or any
employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the Company, or any of its subsidiaries
or associated companies or any other person whom the Directors consider, in their
sole discretion, has contributed or will contribute to the Group) (the “Participants”)
to take up options at a price determined by the Board provided that it shall be at
least the highest of (a) the closing price of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”)
as stated in the daily quotations sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on the date on which an offer is made by the Company to
the grantee (which date must be a business day, “Offer Date”); (b) a price being
the average of the closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately preceding

the Offer Date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share.

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards to
the Participants for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group
to recruit and retain high caliber employees and attract human resources that are

valuable to the Group and any entity which the Group holds any equity interest.

The Share Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing

from 10 December 2012.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of
the Company shall not in aggregate exceed 180,000,000, being 10% of the total
number of Shares in issue immediately following the completion of the initial public
offering of the Company, unless the Company obtains a fresh approval from the

shareholders to refresh the limit.

In respect of the maximum entitlement for each Participant, the total number of
the Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the
Share Option Scheme to each participant (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares
in issue unless otherwise approved by the shareholders at a general meeting of the

Company.
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Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by any Participant who
accepts the offer by signing the letter of acceptance together with a remittance in
favour of our Company of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of the option within

such period as our Board may determine and specify in the offer letter.

The option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme at any time during the option period which may be determined and notified
by the Board to the grantee at the time of making an offer which shall not expire

later than 10 years from the grant date.

During the Year, no share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme. There were 8,700,000 share options outstanding under

the Share Option Scheme.

As at the year ended 31 December 2020 and the date of this Annual Report, the
total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was

171,300,000 shares, representing approximately 9.5% of the issued Shares.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme and the share options granted

thereunder, please refer to note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executives of the Company in the shates, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in

Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules, were as follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company:

HE Long positions
A A2
CEBAT B AHRE 2
EREY B/ R E JBe Ay 5 B B Ay 48 WEAIE Ao
Approximate %
Aggregate number of interest in the
of shares or  issued share capital
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest underlying shares of the Company™
EHEe Z A% W i 706,785,600 39.21%
Wong Yam Yin® Interest of a controlled corporation
£ Z S ERE R 706,785,600 39.21%
Wong Kam Fai Interest of a controlled corporation®
HiafEh Ao 24,972,000 1.39%
Beneficial owner®
A Total: 731,757,600 40.60%
B L Z R ERE R 706,785,600 39.21%
Wong Kam Keung, Barry Interest of a controlled corporation®
3 2PN 24,972,000 1.39%
Beneficial owner®
A Total: 731,757,600 40.60%
Tjie Tjin Fung® YRR R A 80,268,950 4.45%

Interest of a controlled corporation
Suwita Janata® S YETL IHE LR i (6 2% 128,539,400 7.13%

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

Gunawan Kiky® YRR R A

86,360,950 4.79%

Interest of a controlled corporation
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Tjie Tjin Fung 564 #EA B 625 1 Tiie Tjin Fung
FE RHFERAN A A EHBEARA A FHA
180,268,950 e e f -

Suwita Janata JeE A W A (i) F Suwita Janata
ek A A I A ) 4 IR AR KT P A B
T A7 980,268,950 i i i+ M (ii)Julia Oscar & - 2
A I 2 R 4 OO kB HE A A BR R R
48,270,450 It i 44 © Suwita Janata 5% 2 2 Julia Oscar
MR RSB AR R

Gunawan Kiky 56 #E A 19 I 6 4245 () Gunawan 56
HE B L GRRAT ) KM 2 JBOAT B S AT 1Y
80,268,950 BB+ J& (i) Gunawan Kiky J64E F5 5 HY
6,092,000 BB

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

)

)

(6)

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020 (that was,

1,802,456,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Wong Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong
Family”). Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong
Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung
So Ling.

Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Shares owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung consist of 80,268,950 shares held by Chun Hung

Investments Limited, a company owned by Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung and his family.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Fire Spark
Holdings Limited, a company owned by Mr. Gunawan Kiky and his family, and (ii)
6,092,000 shares held by Mr. Gunawan Kiky.
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Name of shareholder

5
Wong Yam Yin

T o
Wong Kam Fai

T8
Wong Kam Keung, Barry

Suwita Janata

B,/ W R

Capacity/Nature of Interest

YR

Interest of a controlled corporation
YR

Interest of a controlled corporation"
YR

Interest of a controlled corporation
Ha A A
Beneficial owner®
Ha A A

Beneficial owner®

)
)
)
)

)

TR

Interest of a controlled corporation"
YR

Interest of a controlled corporation
YR

Interest of a controlled corporation
Ha A A
Beneficial owner®
Ha A A

Beneficial owner®

)
)
)
)

)

TR

Interest of a controlled corporation
YR

Interest of a controlled corporation"
YR

Interest of a controlled corporation
Ha A A
Beneficial owner®
Ha A A

Beneficial owner®

)
)
)
)
)

Ha A A

Beneficial owner

il

Currency of
Debentures

Ew
usD
Ew
usD
Em
UsD
Em
UsD
EW
uUsD
A5l Total:

EW
usD
EW
usD
EW
usD
EW
usD
EW
usD
A5l Total:

Em
usD
Em
UsD
Ew
UsD
Ew
UsD
Ew
UsD
A5t Total:

ESpr
UsD

Interests in debentures of the Company:

CHE
i B 4
Aggregate
amount of
debentures
bought
900,000
1,000,000
1,920,000
3,000,000
4,000,000
10,820,000
900,000
1,000,000
1,920,000
3,000,000
4,000,000
10,820,000
900,000
1,000,000
1,920,000
3,000,000
4,000,000

10,820,000

200,000

HH
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T Rl — %
R B AT
R A
Amount of
debentures
in same class
in issue
137,574,000
200,000,000
170,000,000
200,000,000

170,000,000

137,574,000
200,000,000
170,000,000
200,000,000

170,000,000

137,574,000
200,000,000
170,000,000
200,000,000

170,000,000

170,000,000
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Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of Interest

Gunawan Kiky Hada A
Beneficial owner
HadEa A
Beneficial owner

Ha A A

Beneficial owner

B Hasa A
Lie Tak Sen Beneficial owner
e Hasa A
Wong Ying Loi Beneficial owner
B &E -

(1) %% 3,820,000 % LI HER L R K k5
WA 7l St B A o

Q) G L R KSR AT

bR ESCRT B # 5 - ME R R F
FHET A=t R EFEHIARRARETH
N B GO A AR R O B B R 916 352 Mk
R T ek > SRR BT AR A Bk BT AR
ST A5 A7 0 A R g A8 ) A )
A A B2 P 28 L a8 2 S 300 B R 0958 XV )
FBEAY ~ R R A 17 S 1 2 R A

JA R — %

CHE SR

fiE e £ i BE R K e H

Aggregate Amount of

amount of debentures

Currency of debentures in same class

Debentures bought in issue

£ 3,900,000 137,574,000
ush

ETT 1,000,000 200,000,000
usSh

*ETT 600,000 170,000,000
usSDh

A5 Total: 5,500,000

70 2,000,000 137,574,000
ush

FE0 400,000 137,574,000
ush

Note:

1) These debentures in a sum of USD3,820,000 are held by Golden Wheel Realty, a company
controlled by the Wong Family.

(2) These debentures are jointly owned by the Wong Family.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
December 2020, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had
registered an interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model

Code set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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Name of shareholder

EHEe
Wong Yam Yin®

hRBe
Hung So Ling?

B )
Wong Kam Fai

ER L
Wong Kam Keung, Barry

Suwita Janata®

Oscar Julia®

EWERARAA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS® AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING

SHARES

B,/ W R

Capacity/Nature of Interest

57, 45r 3 YA
A W
Interest of a controlled corporation
7, 3 il 24
A A
Interest of a controlled corporation

T M

Interest of a controlled corporation”

Hafa Ao

Beneficial owner®

45T Total:

TPk
Interest of a controlled corporation”
HifiA Ao

Beneficial owner®

45T Total:

ety i YT g

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

Z P AL T R

Interest of a controlled corporation/Interest of spouse

- ETE 2D

Golden Wheel Realty Company  Beneficial owner

Limited®

e Ao S5 B
et 48 9

Aggregate number
of shares or
underlying shares

706,785,600

706,785,600

706,785,600

24,972,000
731,757,600
706,785,600

24,972,000

731,757,600

128,539,400

128,539,400

706,785,600

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and/or short positions of the persons in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO or which would fall to
be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company

i A4 ]

OB 1T R AHE 2
WA 2o
Approximate
percentage of
interest in the
issued share capital

of the Company™

39.21%

39.21%

39.21%

1.39%
40.60%
39.21%

1.39%

40.60%

7.13%

7.13%

39.21%
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1

2

3)

A

)

W oFEFREF A=+~ HARRE BT
AR (51,802,456,000 %) T3 A GHA AT H A LL -

TOBA M ER L THELAERTHE
T A I B 5 R R AR Y R 4
BEARAFREAEM 706,785,600 BT o T2 E
FAEBEM RS L AR FE - TR KT R
SERBTEHBEREREBER T LM F -

T3 ) B E SRR e A R T R e A A B o

Suwita Janata 9545 HEA AR 145 () HH Suwita Janata
FerE 2GR A A R UK B IR A IR R
180,268,950 & i 3 > J (ii)Julia Oscar r 1= 2 ¥
A7 89 2 T 4 TR A AT R 7] 747 48,270,450
JB AR © Suwita Janata 564 25 Julia Oscar 2 1 H 3L K
R ESKESERIRR -

Julia Oscar 2+ A 0 B Ay 235 (i) EH_]ulia Oscar &
TR B I F BBk A R A AR
48,270,450 & I A3+ B (i) 1 Suwita Janata 6
B HEAT 10 2 W) 4 R AR K IR PR A AR
80,268,950 & i 111 Julia Oscar & 1 b Suwita Janata
FEH 2T I BB S Y I O

bR £ SCHT 808 5 b BOmEE S R R
FETZA=F 0 MEALRAR AR
SRR B0 o B AR R IR R R 05 XV
0465 2 J 3 3 VR A 0k SCZRL 1) AR ] 48 2 A 4
WA B ML\ e B 45 A A A R A T
FEATATR DN AE A 2 ) o A 42 B B A /LRy
AR A At 2 ) B e SRR B b 85 0 A o 5
AT 5% B LA EIRE SR > SO % 5 A A A ]
i FBCHE P B A -

Notes:

(1)

(2)

(3)

)

)

The total number of issued shares of the Company as at 31 December 2020 (that was,

1,802,456,000 shares) had been used for the calculation of the approximate percentage.

Shares owned by Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Ms. Hung So Ling, Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr.
Wong Kam Keung, Barry consist of 706,785,600 shares held by Golden Wheel Realty
Company Limited, a company controlled by the Wong Family. Mr. Wong Yam Yin and
Ms. Hung So Ling are husband and wife. Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung,
Barry are sons of Mr. Wong Yam Yin and Ms. Hung So Ling.

Shares are jointly owned by Mr. Wong Kam Fai and Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry.

Shares owned by Mr. Suwita Janata consist of (i) 80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata, and
(i1) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar. Mr. Suwita Janata is the husband of Ms. Julia Oscar and a
brother-in-law of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Shares owned by Ms. Julia Oscar consist of (i) 48,270,450 shares held by Golden Joy
Forever Holding Company Limited, a company wholly owned by Ms. Julia Oscar, and (ii)
80,268,950 shares held by Golden Era Forever Holding Company Limited, a company
wholly owned by Mr. Suwita Janata. Ms. Julia Oscar is the wife of Mr. Suwita Janata and

the younger sister of Mr. Wong Yam Yin.

Save as disclosed above and to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31

December 2020, no person had an interest or a short position in the shares or the

underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company

under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part XV of the SFO and no person

was, directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class

of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of

the Company, or of any other company which is a member of the Group, or in any

options in respect of such share capital.
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Directors’ Report

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the Year.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the Share Option Scheme as adopted on 10 December 2012 and the
redemption of debentures as stated under the section headed “Purchase, Sale or
Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities” of this Annual Report, at no time
during the Year was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debt securities including debentures of, the Company or

any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance (as defined under note
15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company, nor any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Year or at any

time during the Year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the applicable laws and regulations, every
Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of
the Company against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their
offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and officers” liability insurance

coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in the Listing Rules) had any interest in a business that competed or might compete

with the businesses of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Reference is made to the non-competition deed (the “NCD”) dated 10 December
2012, the details of which are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
our Controlling Shareholders — Non-Competition Deed” of the prospectus issued
by the Company dated 31 December 2012. As at 31 December 2020, each of the
covenanters under the NCD who or which remained to be a controlling shareholder
of the Company and/or associate of any controlling shareholder of the Company
and/or director of any member of the Group, being Mr. Wong Yam Yin, Mr.
Wong Kam Fai, Mr. Wong Kam Keung, Barry, Ms. Hung So Ling, Golden Wheel
Realty Company Limited, Mr. Tjie Tjin Fung, Chun Hung Investments Limited,
Mr. Gunawan Kiky, Fire Spark Holdings Limited, Mr. Suwita Janata, Golden
Era Forever Holding Company Limited, Ms. Julia Oscar and Golden Joy Forever
Holding Company Limited, declared that they have complied with the NCD. The
Board has also reviewed the relevant undertakings and has not noticed any non-

compliance incident.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance or contract of significance for the provision of services (as
defined under note 15.2 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rule) to which the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a controlling shareholder of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end

of the Year or at any time during the Year.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the Year, purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier accounted for
approximately 3.9% of the Group’s total purchases, and the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers combined was 15.7% of the Group’s
total purchases. The percentage of turnover attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers combined was 1.4% of the Group’s total turnover. To the Director’s best
knowledge and belief, none of the Directors nor his close associates and none of the
shareholders interested in over 5% of the shares of the Company has any interest in

the above-mentioned suppliers and customers.
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Directors’ Report

EMPLOYEES

As of 31 December 2020, the Group had a total of approximately 825 (2019:
688) full-time employees in Hong Kong and China. The Group’s employment
contracts with its employees cover terms such as position, term of employment,
wage, employee benefits and liabilities for breaches, and grounds for termination.
Remuneration of the Group’s employees includes basic salaries, allowances, pensions,
performance bonus, share options and other employee benefits. Remuneration is
determined with reference to the performance, skills, qualifications, experience of

the employee concerned and the prevailing industry practice.

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance, work experience
and the prevailing market wage level. The total remuneration of the employees

consisted of basic salary, cash bonus and share-based incentives.

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up by the Board on the

basis of their merit, qualification and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors and senior management of the Group are decided
by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Total employee costs for the Year, including directors” emoluments, amounted to

approximately RMB130.8 million (2019: RMB145.1 million).

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, none of related party transactions set out in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements fall under the definition of “connected transaction”
or “continuing connected transaction” under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In
addition, there were no other transactions which constituted connected transaction(s)
or continuing connected transaction(s) for the Company under Chapter 14A of the

Listing Rules during the Year.

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions” stated
in note 35 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements, no contract of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the Group was a party and
in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted

during the Year.
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LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS RELATING
TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

In accordance with the disclosure requirements under Rule 13.21 of the Listing
Rules, set out below are details of the Company’s term loan facility entered
into during the Year and/or subsisting at the end of the Year, which contains
covenants requiring specific performance obligations of the Company’s controlling

shareholders:

On 10 July 2018, the Group entered into a facility agreement for a HK$708 million
term loan facility. The facility agreement includes certain conditions requiring
the Wong family to maintain, directly or indirectly, at least 30% of the beneficial
interest of the Company. Failing to do so would constitute an event of default under
the facility agreement. The term loan facility has a term of two years from drawdown
of the loan of up to HK$200 million and a term of two and a half years from the

drawdown of the loan of up to HK$508 million.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable date prior to the issue of this
Annual Report, the Company has maintained the public float as required by the

Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance policies and procedures in place to ensure adherence to
applicable laws, rules and regulations, in particular, those have a significant impact
on the Group. The Group would seek professional advice from its legal advisers to
ensure transactions and business to be performed by the Group are in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations. During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws and regulations that had a significant

impact on it.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board and management of the Company are committed to maintaining high
standards of corporate governance. The Board firmly believes that conducting
the Group’s business in a transparent and responsible manner and following good
corporate governance practices will serve its long-term interests and those of
shareholders. The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in Appendix 14 to

the Listing Rules as its own code to govern its corporate governance practices.
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Directors’ Report

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company on pages 87 to 100

of this Annual Report.

DONATION

Donation made by the Group during the Year amounted to RMB126,000.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to promoting awareness and decisions that contribute
to achieving environmentally sustainable development. The Group will comply
fully with all applicable environmental laws and regulations. We will use fuel,
water and other natural resources efficiently and conservatively. We recognise
this to be a continuous process of improvement and we seek to actively look for
environmentally-friendly options and carry out environmentally-friendly practices

whenever appropriate and possible.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company on

pages 35 to 86 of this Annual Report.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS

Employees are remunerated equitably and competitively. Continuing training
and development opportunities are provided to equip them to deliver their best
performance and achieve corporate goals. During the Year, our staff continually
pursue training and career development through our policy on top of mandatory
training on anti-corruption, safety and health awareness. They also work under
motivating remuneration and reward schemes and were provided with a smoke-free,

healthy and safe working environment.

Customers’ feedback and advice could be taken into account via customer

communication channel.

The Group uses suppliers that reflect its values and commitment. The Group has
policies and procedures to select suppliers and contractors who share our social,
environmental and labour practice standards. Appropriate steps are taken to ensure

that our partners and suppliers do not employ child labour or abuse human rights.
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EVENTS AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Company had the following important events after the end of the reporting

period:

On 6 January 2021, the Company issued additional senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of USD85 million with coupon rate of 14.25% per annum and due
in January 2023 (the “Additional Notes”). The Additional Notes were consolidated
and formed a single class with the USD 2023 Notes and have been admitted to the
official list of the Singapore Exchange. The Company intends to use the proceeds
from the Additional Notes to refinance its existing indebtedness. Details of the
Additional Notes are set out in the announcement of the Company dated 6 January
2021.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Company and further discussion and analysis
of the Group’s activities as required by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (Cap. 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, important events affecting the
Group that have occurred since the end of the Year, and an indication of likely
future developments of the Group’s business, can be found in the Chairman’s
Statement, the Management Discussion and Analysis and the Corporate Governance
Report set out on pages 6 to 8, pages 9 to 34 and pages 87 to 100 of this Annual

Report, respectively.

In addition, the Group’s environmental, employee, customer and supplier matters
and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Company can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report
and the Corporate Governance Report set out on pages 35 to 86 and pages 87 to 100
of this Annual Report, respectively. These discussions form part of this Directors’

Report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
EXPECTED SOURCES OF FUNDING

Save as disclosed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, the Group had no future plans for material

investments as at the date of this Annual Report.
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Directors’ Report

AUDITOR

KPMG was appointed as the auditor of the Company and will hold office until
the conclusion of the forthcoming AGM. A resolution will be proposed at the

forthcoming AGM to re-appoint KPMG as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Yam Yin

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 March 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Golden Wheel Tiandi
Holdings Company Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set
out on pages 145 to 295, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow
statement for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”)
issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman
Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not

provide a separate opinion on these matters.

EA
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The Key Audit Matter
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BB A
Valuation of investment properties
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Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 162.
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s investment properties comprise
completed properties, properties under development and right-of-use
assets in the Mainland China. These investment properties are stated at
their fair values based on valuations performed by an independent firm
of qualified valuers (the “Valuer”) at an aggregate amount of RMB6.63
billion.

The valuation process involves significant judgement and estimation in
determining the appropriate valuation methodology and in estimating
the key assumptions, including adjusted market price, capitalisation
rate, daily unit rent and budgeted cost. The valuations are highly
sensitive to key assumptions applied.
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Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment properties
included the following:

J Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of management’s
key internal controls in relation to the valuation of investment
properties >

. Obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports prepared by the
Valuer engaged by management and on which the directors’
assessment of the fair values of investment properties was

based >

J Assessing the Valuer’s qualifications, experience and expertise
in the properties being valued and considering its objectivity
and independence >

° With the assistance of our internal property valuation
specialists, discussing with the Valuer its valuation
methodology and the key estimates and assumptions adopted in
its valuations >
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B il B I ) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (concinued)
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The Key Audit Matter

TA A i 9 i B 3

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN (4)
Valuation of investment properties (continued)

B2 WA BB M 7E 13 R 162 HH) Bt BOF -

Refer to note 13 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 162.

ERBEYEHBERAEENEEE Ll R EERED
SR AP B TR JE I B S A B M) BRAM A A
)£ (E A2 b — TH B S A A R

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit
matter because of the significance of investment properties to the
Group’s total assets and because determining the fair values of
investment properties involves a significant degree of judgement and

may be subject to management bias.

AR A 8 77 3 0 DA R Oy 50 R B A T 3 R
BB AT 58 A B I 355 A R RO AT P A (R R
) B S AR (BB T - EALREREH
RALAE &) 8 R

DA 7 SR RE B R T SRR IH > DB
JEE B - 3l 25 MR SELAY B AR A B 9 T 5 R
OB EMRBAH R/ SR B 5 LI A9 F(
R A > S TR B e S A I () 5 e TR
fratfl ;s &

itk U ERF R B RBNHEMAESR
B 55 A1 2 {4k LA ) S B8 5 ] AR B ST FAEA T B

Evaluating the valuation methodology and challenging the
key estimates and assumptions (including adjusted market
price, capitalisation rate, and daily unit rent) adopted in the
valuations, on a sample basis, by comparison with available

market data and/or government produced market statistics

Conducting site visits to investment properties under
development, on a sample basis, to observe the development
progress and evaluating management’s development
budgets reflected in the latest forecasts with reference to
market statistics about estimated construction costs, signed
construction contracts and/or unit construction costs of recently

completed projects 5 and

Comparing tenancy information, including committed rents
and occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the Valuer with
underlying contracts and related documentation, on a sample

basis.
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The Key Audit Matter

T A% B
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

TA A i 9 i B 3

How the matter was addressed in our audit

PR B 8% o B S B 3R T S ) A B R

Assessing the net realizable value of properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale
BRI B HEM 18 R 19 LI RF 174 F 175 HHY 8 71 B -

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 174 to 175.

REFZFREFZA=ZF—H > ABEPREYERERTH
Y SER R (E AR AT 2 AR 7164800 MR BB AW
BEEN42% BEARBEPHENERCRTHEYEE
ERERMR PR AL FENETREFEEE - BURA
Bl T 58 B (L P B AR B AR

BB 8% 1 ) 2 T R TR ) S 00 AT A B (AT Y
i 7 B B K LR W > A HLR A TR R 0 B A T
S AR I o R TITSG A A S AL TR B o A A 4 R
HAE ERAAENE

The carrying amount of properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale totalled RMB7.16 billion as at 31
December 2020, which accounted for 42% of the Group’s total assets
as at that date. Properties under development for sale and completed
properties for sale of the Group are primarily residential and retail
projects, located mainly in Mainland China and Hong Kong, and are

stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value.

The assessment of the net realizable value of properties under
development for sale and completed properties for sale involves
the exercise of significant management judgement, particularly in
estimating forecast development costs and forecast selling prices.
Forecast development costs and selling prices are inherently uncertain

due to changes in market conditions.

A PR BE i 7 B W 3 S © R TR WS Y A 4 BT (EE
ATl R A

o TR RN B TR B B O A0 A R R B
T ) A B A R R R G SO AT A R 5

o LU HUE B R - LB S
AT N2 IRBUH A AR B B e
£ 2 B I A 40 T/ SR S8 BT 52 T8 L 00 5
A S5O A R o LA 9 O
GEIE

o HHHUARSEEEBLN E MR B E AR AR B TN
AR PHLTR DLE B fA S L A M R 5

Our audit procedures to assess the net realizable value of properties
under development for sale and completed properties for sale included

the following:

. Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of management’s
key internal controls in relation to the preparation and

monitoring of management forecasts of development costs 3

o Conducting site visits to properties under development for
sale, on a sample basis, to observe the development progress
and evaluating management’s development budgets reflected
in the latest forecasts with reference to market statistics about
estimated construction costs, signed construction contracts and/

or unit construction costs of recently completed projects >
U Assessing the accuracy of management’s historical forecasts of

selling prices by comparing the actual selling prices achieved in

the current year with forecasts prepared in previous years 5 and
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Wl i e ) KEY AUDIT MATTERS (concinued)
I S A% A 28 A i i B ¥k
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

BRCLE S L E G ani L/ EJRE $oh 4G
Assessing the net realizable value of properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale (continued)
AR A BN 18 R 19 LI RF 174 175 B B 7t B -

Refer to notes 18 and 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on page 174 to 175.

ERMAZPHEYXENCRTAHEYRHRERMEENE «  FHERERTERETHREYENCRTHEYE

AR e e R R A BB R 4 SR C R TR W e RY 4 F T 458 5L L T R 400 19 A (L 35 > i £ 1L 7 B 4
BUE (A bR A AN HEE ) 5 %4 R B 0 2 FF) B S At B B (B3 BELF- 2% 950 5 B A B 1 £l
HIBT - 78 V] e A TE S R U P RE 1) > FRAM A B B T R Al BB B AT T A5 S B A I S TR
S EL R TR Y300 w] 2 BUFHELRN APA5 51y B SREA H 0E HEATE L -

We identified the assessment of the net realizable value of the Group’s o Evaluating the valuation methodology adopted by management
properties under development for sale and completed properties for for assessing the net realizable value of properties under
sale as a key audit matter because of the significance of properties development for sale and completed properties for sale and
under development for sale and completed properties for sale to the comparing the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the
Group’s total assets and because the inherent uncertainties involved in valuations, including those relating to average net selling
assessing the net realizable value of the properties under development prices, with market available data and the sales budget plans
for sale and completed properties for sale that require a significant maintained by the Group.

degree of management judgement which could be subject to error or

management bias.
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T A% B
Independent Auditor’s Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the
TASB and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, ot the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

U Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

J Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group

to cease to continue as a gOiIlg concern.

J Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report

is Chan Ting Yuen.

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

30 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

#HEZE T ERFE T H =+ —H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2020

(AN E 7-/)95(7!/ ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

—RFE “E-NAE
2020 2019
g AR¥TT ARWFr
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

W25 Revenue 4 1,389,119 1,605,448

8 A Cost of sales (1,155,977) (1,074,088)
eVl Gross profit 233,142 531,360

BN T EH Changes in fair value of investment properties 13(a) 91,971 171,958

HAbYA ~ B dieks B Other income, expenses, gains and losses 5 318,124 66,069

B8 T B B 52 Selling and marketing expenses (81,415) (66,068)
TR 32 Administrative expenses (155,686) (175,291)
k| Profit from operations 406,136 528,028

Bl & R AR Finance costs 6(a) (233,545) (186,273)
JE L B 2 N w1 Y (s 1R) /s A1) Share of (losses)/profits of associates 15 (46,930) 105,050

JREA A 2 A ZE 1) 38 Share of profits of joint ventures 16 1,105 6,070

Wi A i ¥4 A1) Profit before taxation 6 126,766 452,875

RESi Income tax 7 (76,521) (200,347)
HE R F Profit for the year 50,245 252,528

DL N L AR Attributable to:

EN/NEIR E S Equity shareholders of the Company 34,788 252,561

JE e 25 Non-controlling interests 15,457 (33)
AN i Profit for the year 50,245 252,528

55153 % 295 H MM A BT IR T I — 800 ©

The notes on pages 153 to 295 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
#HEZE T ERFE T H =+ —H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2020
(AN E 7-/#(5// ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

“ERCRE “E-E
2020 2019
Bif st AR¥ T ANRETT
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
AN A Profit for the year 50,245 252,528
FERH A2 (BB R ER  Other comprehensive income for the
SHEREAR) year (after tax and reclassification
adjustments): 10
HETGEEM A ER 2 B H © Item thar may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss:
HE NRELS B ER Exchange differences on translation of
SV 45 sk % 1 91, 2 financial statements of the entities with
functional currencies other than RMB 1,149 14,635
FANMb2mYE  Othercomprehensiveincomefortheyear | LM9 14635
AR V)R 25 e SR E AN 4R 7 Total comprehensive income for the year
2 VWL 4 AR attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company 51,394 267,163
LR A Attributable to:
AR ) 1R TSR Equity shareholders of the Company 35,937 267,196
FEVE R 45 Non-controlling interests 15,457 (33)
A 2T WK A A AR Total comprehensive income for the year 51,394 267,163
BFRAERMN Earnings per share 11
BA (FRARYETT) Basic (RMB per share) 0.019 0.140
B (RN B C) Diluted (RMB per share) 0.019 0.140

55153 5 295 FUAY M M A S 25 R A — 3000
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
W FE - EE+ " H =1+—H At 31 December 2020
(LN EE 7-/)91(5// ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

“ROERE —E—NEE
+=A +=H
=t—H =+—p
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
Wi AR¥BFT ARWT T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
FEW B & Non-current assets
ERN & Property, plant and equipment 12 266,713 260,699
Ei8-L7E Investment properties 13 6,628,565 6,258,897
QNP £ Interests in associates 15 204,233 468,999
A B R Interests in joint ventures 16 413,064 419,231
oA 4 i G Other financial assets 17 289,529 221,667
3 PR SR AT A K Restricted bank deposits 22 181,011 170,000
R HE B TH G Deferred tax assets 30 143,629 154,324
8,126,744 7,953,817
MEEE Current assets
PREshRr Y Properties under development for sale 18 5,254,447 5,157,894
EAZEREEY/ES Completed properties for sale 19 1,903,760 1,145,750
HEHIEE Contract assets 20 15,205 6,473
2 by T Ho Al i 2 0A Trade and other receivables 21 534,943 348,773
AT - o 4 (B S BT A5 B Land appreciation tax and income tax prepaid 51,929 28,075
oA 4 i G Other financial assets 17 39,966 5,525
Z R SRAT A7 K Restricted bank deposits 22 383,182 604,359
Bl R B4 B Cash and cash equivalents 23 849,120 979,208
9,032,552 8,276,057
B A Current liabilities
B 5 B oAb JE A 3R Trade and other payables 24 2,175,139 1,808,858
FHARE Contract liabilities 25 1,881,711 971,179
T 5 Rental received in advance 32,106 31,342
L& A & Lease liabilities 26 45,862 43,298
AT Bank loans 27 1,831,855 2,393,017
BB IH Current taxation 556,871 683,578
B Senior notes 28 1,221,429 185,149
7,744,973 6,116,421
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

i TE TEFE A+ T H =4 —H At 31 December 2020
(LI B ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

ZRORE R JUE
+=A +=A
=+—H Sr=[
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
B AR F ANR¥Tor
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
WmERE Netcurrentasers ] 1,287,579 2,159,636
aupEsmBasL Total assets less current liabilities 9414323 | 10,113,453
Bl =Ry Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities 26 215,188 249,169
RITENX Bank loans 27 979,651 1,348,776
EILHIHA R Deferred tax liabilities 30 1,200,435 1,180,961
T 5 Rental received in advance 15,647 2,549
BREE Senior notes 28 2,083,456 2,501,362
T .. LA 5,282,817
BT NET ASSETS 4,919,946 4,830,636
HA R A CAPITAL AND RESERVES
e A Share capital 31(0) 113,099 113,099
fififhe Reserves 31(d) 4,713,951 4,704,098
K2 ) RE 45 Ji R B A E £ A AR Total equity attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company 4,827,050 4,817,197
I 1 O 4 Non-controlling interests 92,896 13,439
R 2R TOTAL EQUITY 4,919,946 4,830,636

EREN T AEZ A = BRI

EHE

Wong Yam Yin

EH

Directors

55153 £ 295 B MR R R OAR A RS IR 1 — 4
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B )

Wong Kam Fai

EH

Directors

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 March 2021.

The notes on pages 153 to 295 form part of these financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE T ZFRE A+ H =+ — H IL4F ¥ For the year ended 31 December 2020
(AN BB 75 ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

it
Note
REF-AETH Baunce w31 December 2019and
SF-RRCECERE Ly
L
CECRERERH:  Changesinequity or 2020
il Profit or the year
EEbRERE Other comprehensive income for
the year
MR Teoodien
BRbEER Surplus reserve appropriation 31(d)iv)
HFERCRE Dividends declared in respect of
the previous year 31b)
WRASERAZILS  Bouit seed sharebased
transactions i)
FRRRE Capital injection from non-
e gt
REBZRELZN Banceard] December 200
By Féi
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEZEZFE A+ ZH =+ —H IL4EE For the year ended 31 December 2020

(AN E ﬁakﬁ/ N) (Expressed in Renminbi)

KLAEERREL
Actrbutable o equity shareholdersof the Company
B ROEE  HARE OREARE WEEERE  BRERE  EBRE  RERA gt AEREE it
Property Share Nor-
Share Share Specal Exchange evaluation options Surplus Retained controlling
apital premium teserve feserve feserve feserve feserve cmings Toul interests Toul
W AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARKTT ARETE ARETT ARKTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Note RMB0 RMB0 RMB 00 RMBUD RMBUD RMBO0 RMBO0 RMBO0 RMBI0 RiBI0 RMBI00
(ki) (Waksia)  (absuon) (W siin) (Risk 9l (BHsts108)
(noedllc)  (noedl@) (o3 L)) (note31(d)iid) (00e29)  (note31(d)iv)
RZZ- N Balance at 31 December 2018
SIS SbE Y 614 176106 30 16631 1093 TSI Y R K - s
TR RIPR Tk Impact on initil application of
falt7a 74 IFRS16 = = = = = = = @) s (8412
REF-NE~A-HZ Balanceat | January 2019
i 113,099 416143 176,106 350 16631 1,093 138475 3,657,999 4579891 - 4579892
CENEREEE:  Changesinequityor 2009
Eighl Profit forthe per - - - - - - - 252561 252561 (33) 5258
EEBRERE Other comprehensive income
for the year - - - 14,635 - - - - 14,635 - 14,635
AHNEAE Total comprehensive income - - - 14,63 - - - 292561 267,19 () 267,163
BhREg Surplus eserve appropriation 31(d)iv) - - - - - - 5.5 25.93) - - -
HEERCRE Dividends declared in respect
ofthe previous year 31(b) - - (30,120) - - - - - (30,120) - (30,120)
DRARGERMANLS  Bquiyseted shaebsed cansactions. 29 - - - - - 09 - - 09 - 09
FERRRLS Capita injection from non-controlling
shareholders = S = = = = = = = 1341 1341
REZ-NE Balance at 31 December 2019
AUENSibd 109 M6 1% 14985 1661 K7 B N B ¥ B £ AT BB 4806

55153 £ 295 E R E AR A RS R 10— 4y o

The notes on pages 153 to 295 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flows Statement
#HEZE T ERFE T H =+ —H L4 For the year ended 31 December 2020
(LI B ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

e X
2020 2019
Wit & AR T ANRWTFT
Note RMB’000 RMB000
REWES) Operating activities
BEFHHEE Cash generated from operations 23(b) 624,680 302,724
BB Tax paid (88,054) (104,583)
RETEE) B 4T Net cash generated from operating
activities 536,626 198,141
BEWS) Investing activities
ST C MR B Interest received from bank deposits 31,503 18,035
AN TEFI AR (THATEFI A Incerest received from financial assets measured
i) M EREE S A at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVTPL”) 878 1,554
N BT HoAt 2 T 45 Interest received from financial assets measured
([ 2P (B A A2 T i i 1) at fair value through other comprehensive
F 45 O L WSO 8L income (“FVTOCI") - 523
B - MR BB Purchases of property, plant and equipment (47,762) (47,419)
WEE AT EFABSENSMERE  Purchases of financial assets measured at
FVTPL (179,145) (238,472)
Eid-C/ES DI Increase in investment properties (317,201) (190,117)
N AR 2 E Investment in associates (35,664) (18,000)
B — [ E A E Disposal of an associate 78,000 -
R E Y ¥ Disposal of investment properties 49,994 84,218
HERATEF ARG Z SRS E Disposal of financial assets measured at FVTPL 76,237 460,361
) B ) A A R Advance to associates and joint ventures (91,918) (42,459)
(4 - UNCIN SR s € T Repayment received from associates and joint
ventures 26,556 12,500
B — ] Bf 2 ) Disposal of a subsidiary - 461,640
B&Em (rH) / Fi B 4 Net cash (used in)/generated from investing
activities (408,522) 502,364
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HEBeRER

Consolidated Cash Flows Statement

BWE - E - FEF+ " H =4 —H IL4FJF For the year ended 31 December 2020
(LN EE 7-/)9/[5// ) (Expressed in Renminbi)

TR —ZF-hE
2020 2019
Wit & AR T ANRWTFT
Note RMB’000 RMB000
il 5 3 ) Financing activities
BB BRSNS T EGK Advance from associates and joint ventures 53,584 165,045
B NG SR E T Repayment to associates and joint ventures (31,000) (38,091)
BT S B TS BUE Proceeds from issue of senior notes 2,561,986 1,224,475
ST EEAT 8 S SRR B A B S Payment of expense attributable to issue of
senior notes (34,0006) (18,014)
W SR K New bank borrowings raised 468,748 2,902,580
BT B Repayments of bank loans (1,274,181) (1,722,920)
B ] S0 B4 Repurchase of senior notes (1,790,411) (1,018,394)
AT AL Interest paid (476,418) (387,250)
AT A w)RE A AR 2 B R Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the
Company (26,313) (30,120)
R SRAT B CE HK Placement of deposits pledged for bank loans 273,402 (380,000)
BRE LR ASH Repayment of principal of senior notes - (966,344)
I IR T Capital injection from non-controlling
shareholders 64,000 13,472
E AT E L4 0 G A Capital element of lease rentals paid (22,008) (24,118)
B AT A B L4 A F)E R 2 Interest element of lease rentals paid (16,530) (18,547)
WA HPIREFH  Neccashusedinfinancingaccivides Q401D (298226)
BERBEEEEME (W) /B Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash
equivalents (121,043) 402,279
A—H— W& B E&FED Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 979,208 576,051
A1 I 2R 455 ) 22 Effect of foreign exchanges rates changes (9,045) 878
RHZA=Z+—HBBEX
B4 % EY Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 23(a) 849,120 979,208

55153 2 295 H Y B GRS BOAS B SRR 1 — B 4 The notes on pages 153 to 295 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(17 P HE s 2 2 AN B 5 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(a)

— BB
SREIERA WA (AT )R =%
— AR TN SR B R AR
RERRARAT AR H % =4
—J1 7 AR W 45 3 50 B PR 24
(BT ) L -

ARA G — W EER AR o AR T R
B~ w (DU SRE (A% E]) EEfeH
W SEEERE W) SE I Sl T B -

HR it 8Ok

AR

A% B W TS AR R B B Y R
(I I B i Y 2 2 ) L £ 9 B 2
F I % B 5 0 o Y ) (T B B 5 o o5 98
SULJ) (OB A R 6 55 B A 90 D S 1 B
5 ot V)~ o B (T B B o
SI1J) B B T A S o AR A B B R ORAT &
s R 91 0 30 R ML E B I 5 5
P AT FR A R e 5 TS ) 2 S
A% S T8 R A0 1Y FOK 8 R BOR R R SCHR -

8 5 i Y 0 e LA 4 T AT A
65 T I 5 ot ) > 4 A S R
B A0 ] A AT R R A o B AR
2(c) WA BEAR B 43 oh R W BRI B
gt 0 ] B A 4 A BT F e D 22
R AL B AT T R BOR B ER

(a)

GENERAL

Golden Wheel Tiandi Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted Company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands on 26 April 2012 and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) with effect from 16
January 2013.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally

engaged in the property development, property leasing and hotel operation.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which
collective term includes all applicable individual International Financial
Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and
Interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”). These financial statements also comply with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are first effective or
available for early adoption for the current accounting period of the Group.
Note 2(c) provides information on any changes in accounting policies
resulting from initial application of these developments to the extent that
they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting periods

reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(17 P HE s 2 2 AN B 5 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HREHEHBOR )

T 7 3 o S s
BEEZE+T H=1+—HIHEERN
SEA SRR S A AR B A SR i T
NE KA B EN R -

BT S BB R TR 41 - R T
BRI T LR o LA S

Y L SR 5 A A R B Y
SRS R AR A th & B BOR M RE R > DL
7~ B WA B B O Y
B FIET - AG ST BB < TE e Ah S B
R R R 4 DA A6 e A LT IR IR 1
LR B B 2 T M R R AR i > L&
SR ST B T S0 T 0 L A AR A B By
ok R0 AL Y R A (LB £ £ 0 B
FEBE o FIRAS R T REA IR 2 Mt -

YR L AN B A 5 DRLAG T O R MR
AR g BT R R B R
HY B2 M AR R
EHT MRS A B AR AT
() S T o A S0 ] e 8

A T L D U 5 o o B g
1 3 A B i A TR R B D
B EBIAG TR AT E R R Y i 2
IR ML ©

(b)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020

comprise the Group and the Group’s interest in associates and joint ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial statements is

the historical cost basis except as set out in the accounting policies hereunder.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and
expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily

apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future

periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs that have
significant effect on the financial statements and major sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed in note 3.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFE I 2 21 2 AN B H$ DY 77 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R BOR 4

& 5 BUR R 5 B)

A 4R B BN G R R e R R
JRE R AT i R PR 4 ) 2 < A A 11 )
X B TS 1 Y J A B T A

o BIFBRMBHASERRBRBET A
KB EH

o BUPR TS IR HE RS 16 9B T AR
S Covid-19 4 B 19 7 52 95 7%

I % R A RIS 3 SR AB T A TR
5T 2 1T 0 3 A I A 0 R s 1 100 T
SE 18 T B IR DU 4 B S o A
Wt 2507 s A R R - AREEN
308 108 P £ 6 75 i 5 A0 D A A e
AT F R R R o P A R Y A 16
SRAEFTAS > B Covid-19 M B 14 0 4 Ui 4 R
O BAERT AR —THE BT 25 &
FER AR FEA R Covid-19 B 16 H £ 5
() 5 7 L 4 ol 2 1 AR B AT > TR
%S R e A SR A JE AR AT
R AN KA R I R B 9 R T A R
BN

B R B R AR 5 16 S KT AR - B
Covid-19 1 B 197 2 I %

G AR - THE R 25 BRPK
AN S5 545 T Covid-19 1 B H B B
i FH 48 % (157 Covid-19 48 BR A9 L 45 Bk
) BEERHEBT > MR ZEHE
BARARIE BB -

A4 BB R R IR A % S BT I R
WA M E R T AEEN A S B
B Covid-19 M B 1 0L 4 k% E Fi P
Jrid o UL > B R 4 W6 B ki il 5 L
AT O SR A M AR A
R =R IR -2 =R ON X OTN o=
13(0) M ARBR -EZFE—-H—HM
T 2 SO0 5 B P A AT AT 2 o

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following amendments to IFRSs issued by the

IASB to these financial statements for the current accounting period:

. Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business

. Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to IFRS 3, Definition of a Business does not a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or prior periods
have been prepared or presented in this interim financial report. The Group
has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet effective
for the current accounting period except for the amendment to IFRS 16,
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, which provides a practical expedient
that allows lessees not to assess whether particular rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic are lease modifications
and, instead, account for those rent concessions as if they were not lease
modifications. Impacts of the adoption of the amended IFRSs are discussed

below:

Amendment to IFRS 16, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The amendment provides a practical expedient that allows a lessee to by-pass
the need to evaluate whether certain qualifying rent concessions occurring
as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic (“Covid-19-related rent
concessions”) are lease modifications and, instead, account for those rent

concessions as if they were not lease modifications.

The Group has elected to early adopt the amendments and applies the
practical expedient to all qualifying Covid-19-related rent concessions
granted to the Group during the interim reporting period. Consequently,
rent concessions received have been accounted for as negative variable lease
payments recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers those payments occurred (see note 13(c)). There is no

impact on the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(17 P HE s 2 2 AN B 5 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

HREHEHBOR )

i NEWE Y 5
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(d)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group has
power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other parties) are

considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial
statements from the date that control commences until the date that control
ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised
profits arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting
from intra-group transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised

gains but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not attributable
directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of those interests which
would result in the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in
respect of those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure any non-
controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’

proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement of
financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable to the
equity shareholders of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling
interests and the equity shareholders of the Company. Loans from holders
of non-controlling interests and other contractual obligations towards these
holders are presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with note 2(q)or 2(r) depending on the nature

of the liability.
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(BRFE I 2 21 2 AN B H$ DY 77 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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(d)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby adjustments
are made to the amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests
within consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no

adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former subsidiary
at the date when control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial asset (see note
2(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in

an associate or joint venture (see note 2(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in a
subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(k)), unless the
investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).
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(e)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity in which the Group or company has significant
influence, but not control or joint control, over its management, including

participation in the financial and operating policy decisions.

A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or company and other
parties contractually agree to share control of the arrangement and have rights

to the net assets of the arrangement.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements under the equity method, unless it is
classified as held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is classified as
held for sale). Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group’s share of the acquisition-date fair
values of the investee’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the investment (if
any). The cost of the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct investment
into the associate or joint venture that forms part of the Group’s equity
investment. Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the post acquisition
change in the Group’s share of the investee’s net assets and any impairment
loss relating to the investment (see note 2(k)(iii)). Any acquisition-date
excess over cost, the Group’s share of the post-acquisition, post-tax results
of the investees and any impairment losses for the year are recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, whereas the Group’s share of
the post-acquisition post-tax items of the investees” other comprehensive
income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the associate or the
joint venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of further
losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of the investment
under the equity method, together with any other long-term interests that
in substance form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate or the
joint venture (after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests

where applicable (see note 2(k)(1)).
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(e)

®

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Associates and joint ventures (Continued)

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates and joint venture are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint venture or
vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the investment

continues to be accounted for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal
of the entire interest in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a

financial asset (see note 2(g)).

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of

(1) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair
value of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree;

over

(i)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities

measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised immediately in

profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.
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(®

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Goodwill (Continued)

Goodwill represents the excess of (Continued)

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
arising on a business combination is allocated to each cash-generating unit, or
groups of cash generating units, that is expected to benefit from the synergies

of the combination and is tested annually for impairment (see note 2(k)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any attributable
amount of purchased goodwill is included in the calculation of the profit or

loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group’s policies for investments in debt and equity securities, other than

investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/derecognised on the
date the Group commits to purchase/sell the investment. The investments are
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, except
for those investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or loss. For an
explanation of how the Group determines fair value of financial instruments,
see note 32. These investments are subsequently accounted for as follows,

depending on their classification.
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@)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Investments other than equity investments
Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified into one of the

following measurement categories:

= amortised cost, if the investment is held for the collection of
contractual cash flows which represent solely payments of principal
and interest. Interest income from the investment is calculated using

the effective interest method (see note 2(v)(v)).

- fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) — recycling,
if the contractual cash flows of the investment comprise solely
payments of principal and interest and the investment is held within
a business model whose objective is achieved by both the collection of
contractual cash flows and sale. Changes in fair value are recognised
in other comprehensive income, except for the recognition in profit
or loss of expected credit losses, interest income (calculated using the
effective interest method) and foreign exchange gains and losses. When
the investment is derecognised, the amount accumulated in other

comprehensive income is recycled from equity to profit or loss.

- fair value at profit or loss (FVPL) if the investment does not meet the
criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling).
Changes in the fair value of the investment (including interest) are

recognised in profit or loss.

2020 4F JE 5 ANNUAL REPORT 2020

161



o B A 5 A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(17 P HE s 2 2 AN B 5 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(g)
(1)

ROk )
At 5 W 25 i R B (40
W&
BRI E R EEHMREE > B
TER) IR HERR % S B IR > AR A T — MR
ARSI R E B A B DA A
PAEFEA A A T g OR AT EER) &
DGR i 55 1 2 -1 58 8 7 EL b 2 T Wi 4 o
MR > BRI B F R E WA AR AT
ERF AR5 o ASSE [ 2500 4 T H B
AT B (iR B s BEEZER
BEREBITAAE Tm%ﬁﬁﬁﬁmtﬁo
T AT ol e A TH Wi 48 H Y 2
AR F”%ﬁﬁﬁ*ITTﬁE
HEBEZELE - T'CH:.MLET&%HT’
ANTEGEE B OR AT E) B 2548 50
ﬁAﬁ WF > AEmEESEA o s
#ﬁ%%&Mmﬁ%EffA¥ﬁ%A
Tﬁi?“?ﬁﬁk 2T A5 HE AT
B ﬂFmWEﬂwm%ﬁWMﬁﬁ%E
1 R ERR Ay HAA -

A <EIES

REWERHEMER CLMEE2) THA
B 2 R R AT o DU 4 i
AR/ SRR EARMERR - GV
FE BT R (E B 1 R B R AR R iR 2 3t
Bt B b 3% F AR RESU AR 2 3%

BREWHELATHEIE - REGRBED
SE T A I R AT 7 B B v S A
{E R BE A IR AT SE MRt 42 o PR SF-(H 52 )
o} B HE S B BE  SET EE AE AT fT 2R
il 1R 48 A BERR - RO AR Sk
AT EE 20v)Gid) BT 2 A o

(g)
(i)

(h)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Other investments in debt and equity securities (Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVPL unless the equity
investment is not held for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate the
investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in fair
value are recognised in other comprehensive income. Such elections are
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis but may only be made if the
investment meets the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in other comprehensive
income remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until the investment
is disposed of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair
value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an investment in equity
securities, irrespective of whether classified as at FVPL or FVOCI, are
recognised in profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policy set

out in note 2(v)(iv).

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are owned or held
under a leasehold interest (see note 2(j)) to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation. These include land held for a currently undetermined
future use and property that is being constructed or developed for future use

as investment property.

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are still in the
course of construction or development at the end of the reporting period
and their fair value cannot be reliably measured at that time. Any gain or
loss arising from a change in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of
an investment property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from

investment properties is accounted for as described in note 2(v)(iii).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(k)):

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment includes
the cost of materials, direct labour, the initial estimate, where relevant, of the
costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which
they are located, and an appropriate proportion of production overheads and

borrowing costs (see note 2(x)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment are determined as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are recognised in
profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal. Any related revaluation
surplus is transferred from the revaluation reserve to retained profits and is

not reclassified to profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line

method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

- Leasehold land and hotel property 20-50 years
- Land and buildings held for own use 20-306 years
- Motor vehicles 4-10 years
- Computers and office equipment 3 years

- Leasehold improvements over the lease period or 5 years,

whichever is shorter
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both the useful life

of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right
to direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the

economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease component(s),
the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for
each lease component and any associated non-lease components as a single

lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability, except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group enters into a lease
in respect of a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those leases
which are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a systematic basis

over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially recognised at the
present value of the lease payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial
recognition, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest
expense is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to profit or loss in

the accounting period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is initially
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, and any initial
direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, discounted to
their present value, less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see notes 2(i) and 2(k)(iii)), except for the following types of right-of-

use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are

carried at fair value in accordance with note 2(h).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease
payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the reassessment of whether
the Group will be reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use
asset, ot is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use

asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a change in the scope of
a lease or the consideration for a lease that is not originally provided for in
the lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not account for as a separate
lease. In this case the lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective date of
the modification. The only exceptions are any rent concessions which arose
as a direct consequence of COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases, the
group took advantage of the practical expedient set out in paragraph 46A of
IFRS 16 and recognised the change in consideration as if it were not a lease

modification.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Leased assets (Continued)

As a lessee (Continued)
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and presents lease

liabilities separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the current portion of
long-term lease liabilities is determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting

period.

As a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether
each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a
finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the

lease is classified as an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. The rental income from operating leases is

recognised in accordance with note 2(v)(iii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases are classified as a
finance lease or as an operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 2(j)(i), then the Group

classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables
The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) on the

following items:

= financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, including loans to associates
and joint ventures, which are held for the collection of contractual cash

flows which represent solely payments of principal);

= contract assets as defined in IFRS 15 (see note 2(n));

- debt securities measured at FVOCI (recycling); and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including funds, equity
securities measured at FVPL, and structured bank deposits, are not subject to

the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference
between the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the contract and

the cash flows that the Group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following discount rates

where the effect of discounting is material:

= fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and contract
assets: effective interest rate determined at initial recognition or an
approximation thereof;

= variable-rate financial assets: current effective interest rate;

— lease receivables: discount rate used in the measurement of the lease

receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum

contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort. This includes
information about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future

economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from
possible default events within the 12 months after the reporting date;

and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result from all
possible default events over the expected lives of the items to which

the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables, lease receivables and contract
assets are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors and an assessment of both the current and forecast general

economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant increase in credit
risk of the financial instrument since initial recognition, in which case the

loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of default
occurring on the financial instcrument assessed at the reporting date with
that assessed at the date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i) the borrower is
unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse
by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (ii) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing

whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their contractually

due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial

instrument’s external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results

of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market, economic or
legal environment that have a significant adverse effect on the debtor’s

ability to meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a
significant increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or
a collective basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the
financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,

such as past due status and credit risk ratings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in the financial
instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in the ECL
amount is recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt securities that are measured
at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss allowance is recognised in other

comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling).

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(v)(v) is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset unless the financial
asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the

financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether a financial asset is credit-
impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial

asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following

observable events:
- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;
= a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or

other financial reorganisation;,
- significant changes in the technological, market, economic or legal

environment that have an adverse effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial

difficulties of the issuer.
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(i)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Credit losses from financial instruments, contract assets and lease
receivables (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset, lease receivable or contract
asset is written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the Group
determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-

off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off are
recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which

the recovery occurs.

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e. the guarantor)
to make specified payments to reimburse the beneficiary of the guarantee (the
“holder”) for a loss the holder incurs because a specified debtor fails to make

payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes a party to
the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date of initial recognition
for the purposes of assessing the financial instrument for impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit risk since
initial recognition of a financial guarantee contract, the Group considers the

changes in the risk that the specified debtor will default on the contract.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make payments
only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the expected losses is the
present value of the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects to receive from the

holder, the debtor or any other party.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Credit losses from financial guarantees issued (Continued)

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts for which the effective interest rate
cannot be determined, the Group will apply a discount rate that reflects the
current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks that are
specific to the cash flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are
taken into account by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the

cash shortfalls being discounted.

To determine ECLs, the Group considers changes in the risk of default of
the specified debtor since the issuance of the guarantee. A 12-month ECL is
measured unless the risk that the specified debtor will default has increased
significantly since the guarantee is issued, in which case a lifetime ECL
is measured. The same definition of default and the same assessment of

significant increase in credit risk as described in note 2(k)(i) apply.

As the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a default
by the specified debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument
that is guaranteed, an ECL is estimated based on the expected payments
to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amount that
the Group expects to receive from the holder of the guarantee, the specified

debtor or any other party.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may be
impaired or, except in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use assets;

- goodwill;

- interests in associates and joint ventures; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial

position.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Impairment of other non-current assets (Continued)
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In
addition, for goodwill, the recoverable amount is estimated annually whether

or not there is any indication of impairment.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely
independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined
for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e.

a cash-generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the carrying amount of an
asset, or the cash-generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units
are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to
the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if

determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is reversed
if there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not

reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year

in which the reversals are recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Credit losses and impairment of assets (Conrinued)

Interim financial reporting and impairment

Under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited, the Group is required to prepare an interim financial
report in compliance with IAS 34, Interim financial reporting, in respect of
the first six months of the financial year. At the end of the interim period, the
Group applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal criteria

as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes 2(k)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of goodwill
are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the case even if no loss, or a
smaller loss, would have been recognised had the impairment been assessed

only at the end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

Property under development for sale

Properties under development for sale, representing leasehold land and
buildings located in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) under
development for future sale in the ordinary course of business, are stated at
the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost comprises the costs of land
use rights, construction costs, borrowing costs capitalised and other direct
development expenditure. Net realizable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. Properties
under development for sale are transferred to completed properties for sale

upon completion of development.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Completed properties for sale

Completed properties for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost comprises the costs of land use rights, construction costs,
borrowing costs capitalised and other direct development expenditure. Net
realizable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course

of business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When a completed property for sale is transferred to property, plant and
equipment as evidenced by commencement of owner-occupation, the carrying

amount of such property is the deemed costs at the date of transfer.

When a completed property for sale is transferred to investment property
when there is a change of intention to hold the property to earn rentals or/and
for capital appreciation rather than for sale in the ordinary course of business,
which is evidenced by the inception of an operating lease to another party.
Any difference between the fair value of the property at the date of transfer

and its previous carrying amount is recognized in profit or loss.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises revenue (see
note 2(v)) before being unconditionally entitled to the consideration under
the payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are assessed for
expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(k)
(i) and are reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has

become unconditional (see note 2(0)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays non-refundable
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue (see note
2(v)). A contract liability would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive non-refundable consideration before the Group
recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable

would also be recognised (see note 2(0)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract asset or a net
contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts, contract assets and

contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing component, the contract
balance includes interest accrued under the effective interest method (see note

2(v)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration. A right to receive consideration is unconditional if only
the passage of time is required before payment of that consideration is due.
If revenue has been recognised before the Group has an unconditional right
to receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see note

2(n)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method

less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(k)(1)).

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that
are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash
management are also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for expected credit losses (ECL) in accordance with

the policy set out in note 2(k)(i).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value. Except for
financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance with note 2(k)(ii), trade
and other payables are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect

of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair value less transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing

costs (see note 2(x)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans and the cost of non-monetary benefits are
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees.
Where payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material,

these amounts are stated at their present values.

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs to the scheme, which contributions is

matched by employees.

The employees of the PRC subsidiaries are members of the state-managed
retirement benefits scheme operated by the PRC government (the “PRC
Scheme”) The PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute specified rate of
the employees’ salaries to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefits.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits

scheme is to make the required contributions under the scheme.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Share-based payments

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total estimated fair
value of the options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the

probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is expected
to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the cumulative fair value
recognised in prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the year
of the review, unless the original employee expenses qualify for recognition
as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capital reserve. On
vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the
actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
capital reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting
conditions that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares. The equity
amount is recognised in the capital reserve until either the option is exercised
(when it is included in the amount recognised in share capital for the shares

issued) or the option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax
assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that they relate
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting

period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.

Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities, and all
deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the asset can be utilised, are recognised.
Future taxable profits that may support the recognition of deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those
differences relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss
arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses and credits, that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can

be utilised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Income tax (Continued)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities
are those temporary differences arising from goodwill not deductible
for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect
neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of a
business combination), and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences,

unless it is probable that they will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 2(h), the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale of
those assets at their carrying value at the reporting date unless the property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the property
over time, rather than through sale. In all other cases, the amount of deferred
tax recognised is measured based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred

tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit
to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes

probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are

recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is recognised.
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(v)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are
presented separately from each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax assets against deferred
tax liabilities, if the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following

additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or the
Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and

settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to income

taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend to realise the current
tax assets and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or

realise and settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the

obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is
disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from the sale of
goods, the provision of services or the use by others of the Group’s assets

under leases in the ordinary course of the Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service is transferred
to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at the amount
of promised consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any

trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies

are as follows:

Sale of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed for sale in the ordinary
course of business is recognised when the customer obtain the control of
the completed property, which is the point in time when the customer has
the ability to direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all of
the remaining benefits of the property, and the Group has present right
to payment and the collection of the consideration is probable. Deposits
and instalments received on properties sold prior to the date of revenue
recognition are included in the consolidated statement of financial position

under contract liabilities (see note 2(n)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Sale of properties (Continued)

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of
payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or services
to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a significant
financing component. A significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the contract or
implied by the payment terms agreed by the parties to the contract. For
contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the associated
goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any significant financing

component.

For advance payments received from customers before the transfer of the
associated goods or services in which the Group adjusts for the promised
amount of consideration for a significant financing component, the Group
applies a discount rate that would be reflected in a separate financing
transaction between the Group and the customer at contract inception. The
relevant interest expenses during the period between the advance payments
were received and the transfer of the associated goods and services are

accounted for on the same basis as other borrowing costs(see note 2(x)).

Hotel service income
Revenue from hotel accommodation and other ancillary service is recognised

when relevant services are provided.

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss in equal instalments over the periods covered by the lease term, except
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits
to be derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease incentives granted are
recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period in which they are

earned.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Revenue and other income (Continued)

Dividends
- Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the

shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.

- Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share

price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues under the effective interest method
using the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset. For financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI
(recycling) that are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is applied
to the gross carrying amount of the asset. For credit-impaired financial assets,
the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying

amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see note 2(k)(1)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement of financial position
initially when there is reasonable assurance that they will be received and
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are recognised as income in
profit or loss on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses
are incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost of an asset are
recognised as deferred income and subsequently recognised in profit or loss

over the useful life of the asset.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses
are recognised in profit or loss, except those arising from foreign currency
borrowings used to hedge a net investment in a foreign operation which are

recognised in other comprehensive income.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. The transaction date is the date on which the
Company initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities. Non-
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at

the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Renminbi (‘RMB”) at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. Statement of financial position items, including goodwill
arising on consolidation of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the closing foreign exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income

and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of the exchange

differences relating to that foreign operation is reclassified from equity to

profit or loss when the profit or loss on disposal is recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of an asset which necessarily takes a substantial period of time
to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of
that asset. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are

incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a qualifying asset
commences when expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing costs
are being incurred and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for
its intended use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is
suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare

the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.

Related parties

(@) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related to the

Group if that person:

(1) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or

the Group’s parent.
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WG ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(ii)

(i11)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is

related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
an associate ot joint venture of a member of a group of which

the other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the

Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person

identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to

the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may

be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.
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(a)

()

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Coatinued)

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item reported in the
financial statements, are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s

various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for financial
reporting purposes unless the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not individually

material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s

accounting policies

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has

made the consolidated accounting judgement:
Classification between subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

The Group co-operated with certain third parties to engage in property
development project through certain entities. The Group has made judgment
on the classification of these entities to subsidiaries, joint ventures or
associates in accordance with the respective agreements, articles of associations
and the involvement of the Group and the other parties in these entities.
The Group will continuously evaluate the situation and such investments are

accounted for in accordance with accounting policies set out in notes 14, 15

and 16.
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(a)

(i)

(ii1)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Critical accounting judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting pOliCieS (Continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.
Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation and
another portion that is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under finance lease, the Group accounts
for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion is held
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a property does not qualify as

an investment property.

Classification between investment properties and properties held for
sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. Judgement is made by management
on determining whether a property is designated as an investment property
or a property held for sale. The Group considers its intention for holding the
properties at the early development stage of the related properties. During
the course of construction, the related properties under construction are
accounted for as properties under development included in current assets
if the properties are intended for sale after their completion, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment properties under construction
if the properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/or for capital

appreciation.
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(i)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
source of estimation uncertainties at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment properties are stated at fair
value based on the valuation performed by the independent professional
valuer. In determining the fair value, the valuer have based on a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates. In relying on the valuation report,
the management has exercised their judgement and is satisfied that the
assumptions used in valuation have reflected the current market conditions.
Changes to these assumptions would result in changes in the fair value of the
investment properties of the Group and the corresponding adjustments to the

amount of fair value gain and loss reported in profit or loss.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sales of properties less
deductible expenditures including sales charges, borrowing costs and all

property development expenditures.

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The details of implementation have
been announced by the local tax bureau in certain major cities, however, the
Group has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the local tax
bureau in those cities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant judgments are
required in determining the amount of land appreciation and its related taxes.
The Group has recognised these liabilities based on the management’s best
estimates according to the understanding of the tax rules. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax expenses in the period

in which such determination will be made.
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(b)
(ifi)

(iv)

(v)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Continued)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Net realizable value of properties under development for sale and
completed properties for sale

Properties under development for sale and completed properties for sale are
stated at the lower of the cost and net realizable value. The net realizable
value of properties under development for sale is determined by reference
to the estimated selling prices less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are estimated based on the Directors’ best available

information and the prevailing market conditions.

Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price arising from any
changes to the property market conditions, properties under development
for sale and completed properties for sale may be written down. There is no
write-down of properties under development for sale or completed properties

for sale during both years.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Certain of the Group’s financial assets and unquoted equity instruments
are measured at fair values with fair values being determined based on
unobserved inputs using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques and the relevant
inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions relating to these factors could affect
the reported fair values of these instruments. Further details of disclosure of

the fair value measurement are set out in note 32(e).

ECL on financial guarantee
The management estimates the expected credit losses for the financial
guarantee issued. Should the actual outcome differ with the estimation, a

material loss may arise.
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4 Wt B i 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING
(a) & (a) Revenue
AEBZFTREGHREFHERE Y The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
SERH B DT B A o e R DR A0 i leasing and hotel operation. In a manner consistent with the way in which
TS A SR B B e AT B B R information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
RHIAR R 7 2 AR Rk = A K management for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
AR o A A AR B R RS TR B assessment, the Group has identified three operating and reportable segments.
HE— 0 F I I B T 4(b) iR o Further details regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note
4(b).
1) Was (1) Disaggregation of revenue
TSR R & P B B B R A Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by business lines
AR RN and geographical location of customers is as follows:
e
2020 2019
ANRET T ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
75 b B Property development 1,144,467 1,328,197
iR Property leasing 207,594 209,592
T Hortel operation 37,058 67,659
Wi i K8 7 Total revenue 1,389,119 1,605,448

Disaggregated by geographical location

& F 3 E A IF of customers

Fh R A Mainland China 1,387,245 1,586,404

s Hong Kong 1,874 19,044
1,389,119 1,605,448

TR U 45 B SR IRS B E AT B B P A #0559 43 Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of

KR #  H 5E 4b)) © revenue recognition is disclosed in note 4(b)(i).

AR B A B — 2 5 R R A A I T A 4 No single customer of the Group contributed 10% or more to the Group’s

109 8 DA 2 Wi as o revenue for both years.
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4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

(if)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation
for contracts with customers
The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2020 and the expected timing of recognising

revenue are as follows:

E SR
Sales of
properties
ANRHTFT
RMB'000

2,387,509
561,505

Within one year

More than one year but not more than two years

2,949,014

o3 e

A S5 T 2 A = I SR A A TR S -
i HEECWR 7y B B R B AT ) A 5 I R AT
B BRE 2 AR AR 7 X AR D
SIILAT = ff mT i 0 5 - A et
BB R o

75 b € ) % — PSR
&

MmEME - YXHE (G
SLINEN-R7ES
RoHEEEY
*)

5 - EEE

(b) Segment reporting
The Group manages its businesses by three business lines. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has presented the following
three reportable segments. No operating segments have been aggregated to
form the following reportable segments.
Property development —  Development and sale of properties
Property leasing —  Property leasing (including lease of self-
owned properties and sub-lease of rented

properties)

Hotel operation —  Hotel operation
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(b)
@)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance and allocating resources
between segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors the

results, attributable to each reportable segment on the following bases:

Revenue are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to sales
generated by those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation of assets
attributable to those segments. Segment revenue all generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales during the reporting year.

Segment profit before tax represent the profit earned by each segment without
changes in fair value of investment properties, other income, expenses, gains
and losses, unallocated head office and corporate expenses, finance costs, share

of results of associates and share of results of joint ventures.
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4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(i)  Segment results, assets and liabilities (Continued)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing of
revenue recognition, as well as information regarding the Group’s reportable
segments as provided to the Group’s most senior executive management for
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 is set out below. No segment
assets and liabilities are presented as they were not regularly provided to the
chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and

performance assessment.

M B hERE HEEEE 5l
Property development Property leasing Hotel operation Total
CRIRE CER-NE ZRIRE DR ZRIRE AR ZRIRE CEE
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
AR AREFr  ARKTE  AREFr ARETE ARFFT AREFL ARFFx
RMBUO  RMBOOY — RMBUO  RMBOWW ~ RMBUIO  RMBOW ~— RMBUO  RMBOW
e W i e R Disaggregated by timing of
IR [ 43 2 revenue recognition
fie [ 2% Point in time 1144467 1328197 = - = - L4467 1308197
s e [ Over time = - 207,594 209,592 37,08 67,659 244,652 277,051
]
2 Es Reportable segment revenue 144467 1328197 207,594 209,592 37,058 6659 1389119 1,605,448
FRBAHT AT #R %5  Reportable segment profit
35 i A1) before tax (B53B) 236605 119,682 101,026 (7.609) 11,086 36,700 348717
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4 Wedi B sy A () 4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Concinued)
(b) E RS (A7) (b) Segment reporting (Continued)
Gi)) A AR A 0 AR (ii)  Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or loss
“ERCRE “E -
2020 2019
ARWF ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
T 4R 4 0 ik ) Reportable segment profit 36,700 348,717
BB ENTEEE) Changes in fair value of investment properties 91,971 171,958
FAtl A ~ B3~ s KR Other income, expenses, gains and losses 318,124 66,069
0 e B B ] B S Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (40,659) (58,716)
V& A Finance costs (233,545) (186,273)
JEEAL T A R RY (548 / il Share of (losses)/profits of associates (46,930) 105,050
JREAG 5 8 A SE 1 Ui A Share of profits of joint ventures 1,105 6,070
BB Al 4 1 Y A Consolidated profit before taxation 126,766 452,875
(ii1) Holh 7 55 &P (iff)  Other segment information
T TR AR £ T A4 3E Bl 2 s Depreciation of property and equipment included in the measurement of

segment profit or loss:

“RORY “ENAE

2020 2019

AR T ARWT T

RMB’000 RMB000

MEME Property leasing 4,145 5,515
5 7 Hotel operation 28,133 23,628
F 4 i Unallocated 4,402 1,901
A5t Total 36,680 31,044
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4  REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(b) Segment reporting (Continued)

(iv)  Geographic information
The Group’s revenue from external customers is derived substantially from
its operations in the Mainland China, and non-current assets of the Group are

also substantially located in the Mainland China.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s non-current assets other than
other financial assets, restricted bank deposits and deferred tax assets by

geographical location of assets:

i 8 ) B

Specified non-current assets
TR —F-E
2020 2019
AR¥F NR BT
RMB’000 RMB'000
HR ] [ b Mainland China 7,512,575 7,407,826
T Hong Kong - _
7,512,575 7,407,826
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5 JLAMOA ~ BSE - W B i 4t 5  OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES
@ FHABKA (@) Other income
“Emi | -z
2020 2019
AR F7 ANRHTT
RMB’000 RMB000
AT FF B AA Interest income from bank deposits 31,503 18,035
N ER AR R &/ E E Interest income from financial assets
FE YA measured at FVTPL - 1,554
A TR FE A A A 1 s 1 Interest income from financial assets
SRV E R )= A measured at FVTOCI 878 523
B TER AR 21 & /E = Dividend income from financial assets
B E A measured at FVTPL 6,267 5,968
e AR AR G 1 & R Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL
HE A 2,956 3,579
Compensation income from early termination
PR ZEA 2 HE A of leasing contract 7,776 5,134
R By (B 5E) Government grants (Note) 869 1,242
HAt Others 2,699 3,504
52,948 39,539
B o« 5% < A 2 A IO 42 [ M T A Note: The amount mainly represented the unconditional subsidies received from the local
JRF 2 S5 IR 7% b 58 o S 58 TR 0 ) 2 A governments where the Group entities were located for encouragement of business
T B 45 o development activities in the local areas.
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5 HABWCA P - WM REHE 4 5 OTHER INCOME, EXPENSES, GAINS AND LOSSES

(Continued)
b))  HAbW s K iER (b) Other gains and losses
CERORE —F—E
2020 2019
AR#F ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB 000
FE 5G4,/ (ks 18) 15 30 Net foreign exchange gain/(losses) 231,650 (39,092)
BNTEFFABENEMEEAT  Gainon changes in fair value of financial assets
[EE e measured at FVTPL 368 32,548
HH A A R D A 4 Gain on disposal of a subsidiary = 63,918
i 7] / T o] S B AR 2 i g / Gain/(losses) on repurchase/redemption of
(E18) senior notes 36,970 (20,236)
268,988 37,138
(© HAbRX (c)  Other expenses
“Fr  —zam
2020 2019
AR T ANRIFT T
RMB’000 RMB000
el Donation (126) (10,340)
HoAth Others (3,686) (268)
(3,812) (10,608)
My Total 318,124 66,069
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6 BRBL Nt A 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
BB AR C Ik (GEA) ¢ Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
(@) HE A (a) Finance costs
ZRORE “E -
2020 2019
ANRWFr ARWT T
RMB’000 RMB'000
§E TERAE (BEE2300) Interest on bank loans (note 23(c)) 199,010 165,187
BAMEAE (5 2300) Interest on lease liabilities (note 23(c)) 16,530 18,547
ﬁ{' R (B EE 23(0) Interest on senior notes (note 23(c)) 487,480 320,069
W B ERBETREYER Less: Interest expense capitalised into properties
B % B W SE 1 ) BB S under development for sale and investment
properties under development* (469,475) (317,530)
Mt Total 233,545 186,273
* B AR B4R R 11.02% (—F— JLAF * The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 11.02% per annum (2019:
7.8%) EAAL o 7.8%).
by HBITHA (b)  Staff costs
“Fr  —zam
2020 2019
ANRWFr ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e (CAL K HoAth AR A Salaries, bonuses and other benefits 127,054 129,777
R A FH B Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 3,558 15,065
JBe A 468 B BB A S A (BfFGE 29) Equity-settled share-based payments (note 29) 229 229
Less: amount capitalised to properties under
W B ERBE P REMER development for sale and investment
RS eSSt/ EIER properties under development (34,4406) (36,432)
96,395 108,639
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I B it ) (42 6 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION (Continued)
HAEH (c) Other items
“ERORE “ENAE
2020 2019
AR¥Fx ANRBFir
RMB’000 RMB’000
EiiE Depreciation
—BHEWE - W KA — Owned property, plant and equipment 31,239 25,548
—{f R — Right-of-use assets 5,441 5,496
36,680 31,044
1% SR 4 Auditors’ remuneration 1,400 1,300
VE S Cost of properties 1,102,025 1,011,883
BRI 7  INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AR ET R - (a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
represents:
“ERORY xRN
2020 2019
ARWT AR T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EIEGE N Current tax:
— B EER ([ RFEMBEH]) - PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) 64,970 86,250
— L (B ~LAT (21,479) 98,120
— A 5B - Hong Kong profits tax 2,861 -
e e 46352 184,370 _
R AE R IE (B3 30) Deferred tax (note 30)
—{ERHRH ~CIT 13,268 40,507
— (B ~LAT 16,901 (24,530)
e eieeeeiiieieeeieiicieieeieieieieiicieieiecececeoooo.... 069 1977
76,521 200,347
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16.5% (—F—JUH 1 16.5%) 71 H o
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(a)

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

represents: (Continued)

No provision for taxation has been recognised for companies incorporated in
the Cayman Island and the British Virgin Islands as they are not subject to

any tax during both periods.

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated by applying the
estimated annual effective tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) to the year ended
31 December 2020.

The provision for PRC income tax is calculated based on the respective
corporate income tax rates of 25% (2019: 25%) applicable to the subsidiaries
located in the PRC.

The LAT is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% on the
appreciation of land value, being the proceeds from the sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including payments made for acquisition of land use
rights, costs and expenses for the development of the land or for construction
of new buildings and supporting facilities, or the assessed value for old
buildings and structures, tax payable relating to transfer of the real estate
and other deductible items prescribed by the Ministry of Finance. Apart
from the aforementioned deductions, property developers enjoy an additional
deduction, which is equal to 20% of the payment made for acquisition of
land use rights and the costs of land development and construction of new

buildings or related facilities.
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g R LRy A 7 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)
4 P8 2 5T S5 B JE B 2 B e R (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting profit at
i Il =[] ) SR applicable tax rates:
A
2020 2019
AR T ANRH#T T
RMB’000 RMB 000
B A Al e A Profit before taxation 126,766 452,875
259 B A TR BB R Tax using PRC CIT rate of 25%

ERL 31,692 113,220
AN R TG B SR BB A Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose 45,845 71,329
PEERBA BB 52 4 Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose (1,786) (25,006)
JRE AL B 5 ) S A Y B S o 2 Tax effect of share of results of associates 11,733 (26,263)
FEAL BB EER MBI 2 Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (276) (1,517)
-+ b 3 (E R LAT (21,479) 98,120
A b2 (R R B e 2 Tax effect of LAT 5,370 (24,530)
AT RR B T s 48 0 B RS 5 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 13,154 3,239
il R AR A R W AR B JE s 1R P B Tax effect of previously unrecognised tax losses now

s recognised (5,052) (10,719)
s 12 A DR 23 B i BN Y Effece of withholding tax on undistributed profit

AN A 5 2 from PRC subsidiaries (2,680) 2,474
B R B IH B 52 Actual tax expense 76,521 200,347
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8§ WML

AR A 4w R 912 3830 Bk S
O E) (B 2 2R 4 EORE) AR5 2 R 5

WEHEM ST

BRE-Z-FE+HA=+—HIE

£33

ArnEs

THERE
T ()
EHBEE

Tjie Tjin Fung 76
David Janata 7

FATES

Kiky Gunawan 7
Janata Suwita fE4E

BLEAmEs

RIEASE
ZEEEE
Z BRI (WiEiv)
B

Executive directors

Mr. Wong Yam Yin

M:t. Wong Kam Fai (note 1)
M. Wong Kam Keung Barry
M. Tjie Tjin Fung

M. David Janata

Non-executive directors

M. Kiky Gunawan

Mr. Janata Suwita

Independent non-executive

directors

M. Wong Ying Loi

Mr. Lie Tak Sen

M. Li Sze Keung (note iv)
M:t. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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8 WIHME 8  DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Concinued)
BE_F-NWAETA=Z1T—HIk For the year ended 31 December 2019
A
ek i RIRAE A
RS HAER (B3 i) G At
Contributions
Salaries and Bonuses to retirement
Directors’ fees other benefits (note i1) benefit schemes Total
ARETFr ANRETFr ANEETr ANRHFx ARBTF
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
WhE$ Executive directors
EHEEE Mr. Wong Yam Yin 317 = 7,345 = 7,662
TEEEE (M) Mr. Wong Kam Fai (note ) 127 3,748 1,757 32 5,664
EHBLE Mt. Wong Kam Keung Barry 127 2,022 1,757 32 4538
Tjie Tjin Fung £ M. Tjie Tjin Fung 253 - 211 - 464
David Janata J5 M. David Janata 211 - 158 - 369
FafES Non-executive directors
Kiky Gunawan 72 M. Kiky Gunawan 21 - 158 - 369
Janata Suwita T M. Janata Suwita 253 - 211 - 464
B ES Independent non-executive
directors
L5y St Mr. Wong Ying Loi 127 - - - 127
BEERE Mr. Lie Tak Sen 127 - - - 127
ZRRRE S (F3kii) M Li Yiu Fai (note iii) 68 - - = 68
Z i e (et iv) M. Li Sze Keung (note iv) 59 - - - 59
HRENEE Mr. Wong Cho Kei Bonnie 127 - - - 127
2,007 6,370 11,597 64 20,038
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8 WHME #
B3 -
G ERACEERBAARGRAR LR

SO R T 6 4 HCAR B AT U AR AR
BRAEBITERNME

(i)  REMBRANSEEENEARBIESE -
Gi) MRIEZF—JEASNATNHE FREELELED
BT FEAATES -

(ivy BT E-NLEANATNH FEBEAAD
BRI EPITEDS -

TR > A58 B AR A8 1) A 2 AT T 3 2 5
5T P A 5 o A A 2 I S B By 2 5
BT 2 R o 7 AT
a4 o

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(@)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Mr. Wong Kam Fai is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his emoluments
disclosed above include those for his services as the Chief Executive and

remuneration as the Executive Director.

Performance related bonuses is determined by reference to the individual

petformance of the directors.

Mr. Li Yiu Fai was resigned as independent non-executive director on 14 June
2019.

M. Li Sze Keung was appointed as independent non-executive director on 14 June
2019.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors

of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or

as compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has waived any

emoluments during the year.
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B A 9  INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
FfiEEMe NN =4 (ZF—JLF Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, 3 (2019: 3) are directors
=%) BES > HMERR s - AR whose emoluments are disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments
% (ZF—JUAF - M) A LM & A in respect of the other 2 (2019: 2) individuals are as follows:
BEINIMT
e Jme 2.2 —EF-NEE
2020 2019
AR ANBHT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
e M H A AR A Salaries and other benefits 3,012 3,044
fL4L Bonuses 2,476 1,874
DA B A &t L IR M3 S AR 0 Equity-settled share-based payments 39 39
R PR I B4 K Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 76 117
5,603 5,074
A FE AR F T H A T 5 R 2 The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the
FETE B EE T Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:
“ROFE —EF—NEF
2020 2019
BTHH BIT#H
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
F L £ 1,000,000 # TT HK$Nil - HK$1,000,000 - -
1,000,001 ¥ 7T % 1,500,000 #5 7T HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 - -
1,500,001 # 7T % 2,000,000 # 7T HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 - 1
2,500,001 i 7T £ 3,000,000 # 7T HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 1 =
3,000,001 # JE 2 3,500,000 # TT HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000 - -
3,500,001 # JC % 4,000,000 # TT HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 - 1
4,000,001 ¥ 7T 2 4,500,000 # TG HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 1 -
2 2
JRAE N > A 4 (B A 0 1) 4% B e B+ During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five
HH ) AT o] — 42 SCAH B 46 1 20 o A A 2 B highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group

TS B 2 BE R e KA 2 M -

or as compensation for loss of office.
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10 3ol 2 i W i 10 OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
BLHC A 2 TG Wi 4 4% AL B 43 AH R Y Tax effects relating to each component of other
B % comprehensive income
e i
2020 2019
bt i B % Bk BBt BURB S [E3i83
Before tax ~ Tax expense Net of tax Before tax Tax expense Net of tax
ARETE  ARWTFE  ARWTZ  ARKTT  ARFTT  ARWTZ
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000

BEIMBEEMGE  Exchange differences on
INEE Ay translation of financial
IR0 I 5 statements of entities with

EH functional currencies other
than RMB 1,149 - 1,149 14,635 = 14,635
Hib2miks Other comprehensive income 1,149 - 1,149 14,635 - 14,635
1 gREam 11 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(@) TRIFEAREA (a) Basic earnings per share
g FREREAR B R T AR R AR A ) 3 A i R M The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the profit attributable
i3 RN R 34,788,000 76 (& — JUAF - to ordinary equity shareholders of the Company of RMB34,788,000 (2019:
N B 252,561,00070) K TEAF A C 8 17 RMB252,561,000) and the weighted average of 1,802,456,000 ordinary
T IR I RE T34 801,802,456,000 LR (= shares (2019: 1,802,456,000 shares) in issue during the year.

T— LA 1 1,802,456,000 %) #HE -

528 P R T Weighted average number of ordinary shares:
SEemE Sz
2020 2019
T A
shares ‘000 shares 000
R—A—HE+=A=Z+—H Issued ordinary shares and weighted average
O BT 0 4 i S A i Y number of ordinary shares at 1 January and
RS- 2 31 December 1,802,456 1,802,456
(b) IR B A (b) Diluted earnings per share
N R R NA e ke A AL The computation of diluted earnings per share does not assume the exercise of
AT E R 2 T TS > Mok EE the Company’s outstanding share options because the exercise price of those
Y I 2 ) e 1 AR SR AT AN T R options was higher than the average market price for shares for both reporting
T BERE o R0 > WA 30T R 2 4 B e periods. Accordingly, the diluted earnings per share was same as the basic
T R LA I R A R ] earnings per share for both periods.
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12 W% BB Rkt 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
HELHR  HERRR gk HEWE
WEn%  LHRET R AR kB fhmgE i
Leasehold land Land and Computers
and hotel  Buildings held Motor and office Leasehold ~ Right-of-use
property for own use vehicles equipment  improvements assets Total

ARKTFT  ARETE  AR¥TT  ARKTT  ARETT  ARKTFT  ARKTR
RMBOW  RMBUO  RMBUW  RMBUO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW

Bk Cost

REF-NE Ac 1 January 2019

-A-A 480,601 88,028 9,09 13218 48,088 fm 681,753
RE Additions 15402 7903 498 4574 19,042 17,902 65,321
BRARETEE  Tunfer fom properties under

ES development for sale 4358 4148 - - - - 8,506
EizR Exchange differences 4479 - 39 3 7 - 4,548
hE Disposals (405,320) - - (1,327) (607) - (407,54)
e ey K At 31 December 2019 and

FZAZT=HE 1 Janvary 2020

S <5

—J—H 99,320 100,079 9,633 16,488 06,530 60,624 352,874
RE Additions 3910 = 593 2,534 4425 = 51462
EiER Exchange differences - - (107) (48) - - (155)
k= Disposals = (9,639) (195) (334) - - (10,168)
REBZRE At 31 December 2020

F-H=Z1+-H 103,430 90,440 9,924 18,640 110955 60,624 394013
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12 W3k BB RS 2 12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)
HELHR SRR gk HEWE
LI SR YL RE BARH kB fiimegE it
Leasehold land Land and Computers
andhotel  Buildings held Motor and office Leasehold ~ Right-of-use
property for own use vehicles equipment  improvements assets Total

ARHFE  ARETT  ARKTr  ARETFT  ARKFT  ARHTT ARKTL
RMBOOO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUO  RMBUW  RMBUW  RMBUW

HilirE Accumulated depreciation
REZF-1E At 1 January 2019

—HA—H (9,449) (271345) (6,569) (8,330) (22,880) = (74,569)
R Charge for the year (7.942) (4794) (1,170) 731 (10911) (5.496) (31,044)
B ER Exchange differences (106) - (39) 19 ? - (166)
th & Disposals 12398 - - 840 366 - 13,604
REE— U At 31 December 2019 and

+ZRB=+—-Hk 1 January 2020

ZRIRE

—~A—H (5,099) (32,139) (1,774 (8,240) (33427) (5,496) 92,175)
ERT Charge for the year (7.815) (4402) (1,035) (3,110) (14877) (5,441) (36,680)
B ER Exchange differences - - 107 38 - - 145
ik Disposals = 895 195 320 = = 1,410
REFZZE At 31 December 2020
L L R (o O L (0% | @s3h (o3n (127,300)
T Net book value
RERZRE At 31 December 2020

TZRZ1-H 90,516 54,794 1417 7,648 62,651 49,687 266,713
RZZ—UE At 31 December 2019

+2A=+-H 94421 67,940 1,859 8,248 33,103 55,128 260,699
MNoEZ-ZFE+A=+—H > BEEEL As at 31 December 2020, leasehold land and hotel property and land and
NE%59388,0007C (= F—JLE : AR¥ buildings with carrying amount of approximately RMB59,388,000 (2019:
6,956,000 7C) Y FE 65 1 M K 70 5 9 S DL R RMB6,956,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
T BT R T RAT > B AREEE granted to the Group.

FIE T HRATRE R -
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B 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
R TG 1 3 R (@ Reconciliation of carrying amount
Y 2N B B
BEMmE BEME i R At
Investment
Completed properties
investment under Right-of-use
properties development assets Total
ANRIFTT NRIBF ARBFr ARETT
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
RZF—)UEFZH  Ac31 December 2018
=+—H 5,062,769 645,300 = 5,708,069
YRR R I R A A Impact on initial application of
HUERANEE 1698198 IFRS 16 (Note)
(B &) - - 211,084 211,084
—NE—~H—H At 1 January 2019 5,062,769 645,300 211,084 5,919,153
NE Additions - 190,117 6,994 197,111
AR THFEYE  Transer from completed properties
for sale 54,893 - - 54,893
LL %01 Transfer 914,447 (914,447) - -
& Disposals (84,218) - - (84,218)
R HERR Z A F{E % Net change in fair value recognised
CoREE in profit o loss 65,797 133,430 (27,269) 171,958
A B LFEA H At 31 December 2019 and
=t A R=F=E 1 January 2020
HF—H—H 6,013,688 54,400 190,809 6,258,897
NE Additions 19,406 297,795 2,901 320,102
HEACR LHFEYZE  Transfer from completed properties
for sale 19,900 - - 19,900
HE Disposals (49,994) = (12,311) (62,305)
SRR Z A TH%  Net change in fair value recognised
oRE ] in profit or loss (38,432) 157,305 (26,902) 91,971
A_RIRETZH Ac31 December 2020
=+—H 5,964,568 509,500 154,497 6,628,565
BigE: R oF T+ A= ‘l“ A IR (E4) Note:  As at 31 December 2020, investment properties with carrying amount of

J\E”ﬁ%‘s 102,778,000 7C (%

—UE AR

1 3,865,200,000 7C) [ £ & ¥y 2E 3K F 4R
11 > DB R SE B A 25 TSR TR TR R

approximately RMB3,102,778,000 (2019: RMB3,865,200,000) were pledged to

banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.
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13 BEWE )

(b) PIEH AR

G  ATFHFH
T 2 5 51 A e A ot S0 AR AR A A
AFREAYER APE - M TRCE
N A 5 o U5 13 95 T (AT
P R B =8 A8 - AL B2 L
T AGE T 35 B 5% B A R ) ] BB AR
JERE EANE - 0 E AP E R BE
I B o 4 6 %

o AR B
VAR 2 0 GO0 B 1A
{1 I 357 A R A A D) AR R
i

o RN B AN
R A R (BDOREE SR — S AT B
SEH A BUR) 0 5 SRR T B
AR FT AP o A AT B oA
ELE i i 855 B B i A B

e BEMAEE  RA AR T B
AR AP

13

(b)
@

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s properties
measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair value
measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and significance of the inputs

used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable

inputs
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13 BEWE @ 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(b) M A PAEE & (49) (b)  Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)
@) WS () 1) Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
?
“EIRE - o
A BB AS R
i AR
1 A Pl Fair value measurements as at
bt il 31 December categorised into
31 December B8 B B
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBFI ARBFI ARBFr ANRBFI
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
YN i Recurring fair value
measurement
AR A Mainland China:
SLE 3/ — Commercial properties 6,399,380 - = 6,399,380
—(FH — Car park 74,688 - - 74,688
— MRS — Right-of-use assets 154,497 - - 154,497
Mgt Total 6,628,565 - - 6,628,565
s
e - o
=5 BB A=t
~1Th CUST EE
AR Fair value measurements as at
Faitvaluelat 31 December 2019 categorised into
31 December F— %5 B4
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ANRIEFT ANRIEFIT AR EFI AREF
RMB 000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB 000
B e T Recurring fair value
measurement
B A Mainland China:
—HEME — Commercial properties 5,992,600 - - 5,992,600
—FHL — Car park 75,488 - - 75,488
—fd R — Right-of-use assets 190,809 - - 190,809
st Total 6,258,897 = = 6,258,897
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13 BHEYE A

(b)  PISEM AP EE

0 ATFMHEH )
RBE-FFFER-FNET A
=AU 5 S R
T PEV T LY T TRES
G 5 A 005 5.2 0 L0 9
B R RS

AL A DR TREYE - Bk
EMRERERMREEHCOR F _FF
TZA=t— RETEY - i E )y H Y
AR AL A PR A F (T ) (— AW
WA B ASE R 7] > AE YA E 7 T
B M B A ) AT o WA P A B R
& HHPEAT Ah (E R > AEEN B RED
BEL A 0 i o i 4 (L0 o 2 5 (EL A 2R

13

(b)
@)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s
policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group’s completed investment properties, investment properties
under development and right-of-use assets were revalued as at 31 December
2020. The valuations were carried out by CHFT Advisory And Appraisal
Led. (“CHFT”), a firm of independent qualified valuers in Hong Kong with
relevant experience in the valuation of properties. The Group’s chief financial
officer has discussion with the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed at each interim and annual

reporting date.
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(b) PR AP ()

) HHASHATHA R

Completed investment

properties

CATHEN

Investment properties

under development

B S CE S

S B
Property
category

Commercial

properties

[EE3UES

Car park

RS

AFEES
Fair value
hierarchy

Level 3

i)

Level 3

=4

Level 3

=8

Level 3

iRt
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13

(b)
(i)

fhlHHk
Valuation

techniques

Direct comparison

B

Income method

oAk

Direct comparison

Hf bk

Residual approach

MRl

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

EAATEES YR
Significant

unobservable inputs

Adjusted market price
(RMB/square meter), and

BHRETE AR/
¥k &

Level adjustment
Slme
Capitalisation rate, and

EAfLER

Daily unit rent
(RMBJsquate meter)
BB (AR¥T/
#ik)
Adjusted market price
(RMB/pe car park)
(eI INS e
(i)

Adjusted market price
(RMB/square meter)

BRETE \R¥T/
FIk)

Budgeted cost
(RMB/square meter)

BHRA AR#TL/
ik
Anticipated developer's

profit margin

AR AR

AMBES AR
Range of

unobservable inputs

7,970 t0 109,200
(2019: 10,179 10 80,183)
79708109200 (“F—JUAE -
10,179 %80,183)
0% to 65%
(2019: 0% t0 65%)
0% 6% (ZF- e
0% % 65%)
49 to 6%
(2019: 4% 10 5.5%)
IR A Sk
49 %5.5%)
2w017
(2019: 1t017)
27 EE R D)

158,730 t0 316,667
(2019: 158,730 t0 350,769)
(ZEZ-E 1587302
350,769)

11,045 0 22,582
(2019: 13,561 to 22,801)

10455058 (ZF- N

13,561 £ 22,801
4973 107,736
(2019: 5,651 10 7,981)
497387736 (ZF— L
5,65127981)
10% to 20%
(2019: 10% to 20%)
10% £ 20% (“F— U8 :
10% £20%)

ATREHABRER
WFERER
Relationship of unobservable

inputs to fair value

The higher the adjusted market price,
the higher the fair value.

WRETEAR A FEER-

The lower the level adjustment,

the higher the fair value.

BAIEERIE > ATEEE -

The higher the capitalisation rate,

the lower the fair value

EAMRER  ATERE -

The higher the daily unit ren, the higher
the fair value

B AR APEER -

The higher the adjusted market pric,
the higher the fair value

BRI AR

The higher the adjusted market pric,
the higher the fair value

R R A FHERGE -

The higher the budgeted cost, the lower

the fair value

BEHARR A FEBE -

The higher the anticipated developer's

profit margin, the lower the fair value
FRRERA R ATH
i -
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13 HEWE @) 13

(b) PERAFEE R H) (b)
(i)  HHE=ZRAFETRGER () (i)

S b AFEESR  ES

Property Fair value Valuation
category hierarchy techniques
Right-of-use assets Sub-leased Level 3 Income method
properties

[EEE Lt/ EE WA

CRTHEVENATHIRSETE L
WX S 10 i 355 58 B B IR R (R 0L
E) o VEALIE A BA AT HEE
I RE B WA 3 2R G 25 TR SE 1R
SRSy (G ) T 7o € o

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

ATEEHABRR
EAATEES AU AT EES AR WFERRR
Significant Range of Relationship of unobservable
unobservable inputs unobservable inputs inputs to fair value
Capitalisation tate 0.5% 10 6.75% The higher the capitalisation rate, the
(2019: 6.5% t0 6.75%) lower the fair value
EAfk 65%E67s% (“E-NE: EALREER AFERE -
6.5%£6.75%)
Daily unit rent 1t016(2019: 1t027) The higher the daily unit ent, the
(RMB/squate meter) higher the fair value

BB AR/ 1216(2F-NF 15y BREAMER  ATHEES
Thk)

The fair value of completed investment properties is determined by making
reference to the market transactions or asking evidence, as the case may be, of
comparable properties, and on the basis of capitalisation of the rental income
derived from existing tenancies or market rental with due allowance for

reversionary income potential of the properties, where appropriate.
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BEWE )

Py SE P fE B
HHFB=HAF AT 2 EH ()

B EE th BUE W M AT E TR S E MUY
FENEHTSOL M EN > RIERETA K
WA A~ BEAN A L R B B i N
15 H B3R TG RE AR (% % BB R WA B
(Ko 4%) TR 52 T DLk P 9
A2 4 A DLy A B T e Y TR AT R
i B A S ) TG 7

8 AR S O SF-(EL 7 08 7 ) o
S B0 A 3 B A R Y T B 2 R 5
EATREBLMREE - fSEIESEE AR
MEAL R R - BT AR B RE
RAEE B LA BETHE - AP ERHE R
EAAL A B AR R AR AR - B B o B
AEELAR 2 A -

BB LT ER RS R R [
EYISE N T(HE S | E s -

13

(b)
(i)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement of properties (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (Continued)

The fair value of investment properties under development is determined
by making reference to the current or recent prices of similar properties and
estimated costs to completion based on construction budget, committed
contracts, allowances for contingencies as well as developer’s profit margin,
which reflect the risks in relation to, inter alia, the completion of the
construction and marketability of proposed development, and in achieving

the anticipated income or capital appreciation on the date of valuation.

The fair value of right-of-use assets is determined by discounting a projected
cash flow series associated with the assets using risk-adjusted discount rates.
The valuation takes into account capitalisation rate and rental rate of the
respective assets. The discount rates used have been adjusted for the quality
and location. The fair value measurement is positively correlated to the
capitalisation rate and the rental rate, and negatively correlated to the risk-

adjusted discount rates.

Fair value adjustment of investment properties is recognised in the line item
“changes in fair value of investment properties” on the face of the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.
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13 BEWE ) 13 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
(© PEHIRER (c) Right-of-use assets
e R 2 A B 4 v ok RRE O E P R T The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying
FBESHTWT asset is as follows:
=
=V S Y B
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
AR T ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

HEE B RN E (DITER  Other properties leased for own use, carried at

AT () depreciated cost (Note) 49,687 55,128
FGRHBA T4 10F 2 HMHEE Ownership interests in leasehold investment

TGN A HERE AR (P property, carried at fair value, with remaining

{H5 ) lease term of between 4 to 10 years 154,497 190,809
204,184 245,937
B < A A ] o AL B T 15 £ LA Note: The Group has obtained the right to use of other properties through tenancy
BEWIEMERN - HEAENL A E agreements to operate hotels. The leases typically run for an initial period of 8 to
15 4F o RS A SO 1 23 AER I — 15 years. Lease payments are usually increased every 1 to 3 years to reflect market
DL Hkl—'ﬁ i%fﬂﬁ ° rentals.
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BEWE ) 13

1 FHRE % (40) ©)
TeAR 4 AR I A B B A 2 T B 2
wr

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss

is as follows:

“ROFE —E-hE
2020 2019
ANBRHET X ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB 000
A EE A HAMYERRE S Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by

1 PR O O 97 B B S class of other properties leased for own use 5,441 5,496

RCEW R E W A REE E  Fair value change of right-of-use assets by class of
2 F-{E 5 B investment property 26,902 27,269
FLE B G E (B 6) Interest on lease liabilities (note 6(a)) 16,530 18,547
E it COVID-19 A B FH 4 36k COVID-19-related rent concessions received 5,545 -

AR PR B I N R 2,901,000 UG
B R T & W s M Y BT A B A
L& -

ARG 4 AR L LE & AR
T B RE R 20 BT B 5 23d) J 26 -

HANM R 200 B iR - AEBMC RN F
B i e RSB 165 L - cOVID-19
HBR & B (BRTA) » I ©AHERT A BT
SUAI AT A7 HEEL 7 15 M A 8 A 42 [ B 1
BN ETA GBS R - E— 71
P FE T 3CG)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were RMB2,901,000. This
amount is all the capitalised lease payments payable under new tenancy

agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of lease

liabilities are set out in notes 23(d) and 26, respectively.

As disclosed in note 2(c), the Group has adopted the Amendment to HKFRS
16, Leases, Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions, and applies the practical
expedient introduced by the Amendment to all eligible rent concessions
received by the Group during the period. Further details are disclosed in (i)

below.
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1)

BEWE )

i I RE 5 2 (40
BLEAE R A oty 3

% 4 ] B B L5 1 A (0 D Ly 2
L R o L 1090 2 00 RO O
8154 o HEMK—ME1 23 EE @
s LAR BT 5 4 o

#0340 PR A ARAR B A
SMEH o ERATRE LT - AL E SRR
A [ T4 A AR SR AR AR DUSRALE
G o A MR AL BH 4R H IR 7 6
R R IR 2 P R A B o kA
W B E AT B AR SRR T A 0
I ARATHE A HAF AR E AR E -

% AR B B YA S B i

LG LG Operate hotels

13

(c)
@

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties through tenancy
agreements to operate hotels. The leases typically run for an initial period of 8
to 15 years. Lease payments are usually increased every 1 to 3 years to reflect

market rentals.

Some leases include an option to renew the lease for an additional period after
the end of the contract term. Where practicable, the Group seeks to include
such extension options exercisable by the Group to provide operational
flexibility. The Group assesses at lease commencement date whether it
is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. If the Group is
not reasonably certain to exercise the extension options, the future lease
payments during the extension periods are not included in the measurement
of lease liabilities. The potential exposure to these future lease payments is

summarised below:

3 48 R AR B RLAE I
CL e 8 1 L B AL I8 SRR JE P VB 1E
(BHiE) AR E A ORIEBL)

Potential future lease
payments under extension
options not included in

Lease liabilities recognised lease liabilities

(discounted) (undiscounted)
SEoRE TN SRSFE TAk
2020 2019 2020 2019
ANREFL ANREFETT AREFILE ARETIL
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
56,300 59,066 75,858 82,308

= FE R AE B H COVID-19 % 15
375 T 0 B G 0 e 5 8 e e b 0 R
T HA ] A 4E [ DA B A 3k A TR Y
AERHEW A - FREEHEMNREHE
AANRYES 545000 0 (ZF—JUFE %) -

During 2020 the Group received rent concessions in the form of a discount
on fixed payments during the period of severe social distancing and travel
restriction measures introduced to contain the spread of COVID-19. The
amount of fixed lease payments for the year is RMB 5,545,000 (2019: nil).
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BEWE ) 13

3 LyES )
AEERE RS E A E -
RS RB1E 104 - HEN LRSS

1 AGERN— K 0 LR BT 4 o

TSR, H > AR SR R R A0 T RE i A
AR K A LIRS A R 4 BUR B+ 3Km

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Investment properties
The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. The leases
typically run for an initial period of 1 to 10 years. Lease payments are usually

increased every 1 to 4 years to reflect market rentals.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases in place

at the reporting date will be receivable by the Group in future periods as

Ik follows:
S e
2020 2019
AR T AR B Fr
RMB’000 RMB 000
RN Within 1 year 190,860 168,769
VE&E S N After 1 year but within 5 years 280,543 219,729
S A% After 5 years 41,039 43,237
512,442 431,735

T W B 4 ¥) 2 4 14
FRER FEH AL F R

+ oA S AR ERESA R

B WG 2 7RG o BRIE 5 A T A1

BRHF I OV B BRI

AT AR REREE  EHGREA

Place of incorporation ~ Form of business

Name of company and business structure
ERERARLT EREARE (E  AREHELA
RARE)

Golden Wheel Jade Company Limited ~ British Virgin Islands Limited liability
(‘BVI") company

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries which
principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group as at 31

December 2020. The class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise stated.

BT ke
Proportion of ownership interest
CRfRARNA ARE  RRF WEAR
Rt g RS FRE FRE 2ERE

Particulars of issued Group's Held Held

and paid-up capital effective by the bya

and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
£ 100% 100% - BEER

Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
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14 RWBARZEE @)

AR At B % A
Place of incorporation

Name of company and business

MR A ERRARE

Golden Wheel Pear! Company Limited ~ BVI

ERETARAR ERRARE
Golden Wheel Diamond Company ~ BVI

Limited

ERENARLA FRELHE
Golden Wheel Jewel Company BVI

Limited

ERkRARA FRELHE
Golden Wheel Crystal Company BVI

Limited

ERFHARAR ERRAHE
Golden Wheel Amber Company BVI

Limited

ERETARLT ERE LN
Golden Wheel Tourmaline Company ~ BVI

Limited

RATARLA EREAHE

Golden Wheel Opal Company Limited ~ BVI

ERAEARLT ERRAHE
Golden Wheel Ruby Company BVI
Limited

14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FHEREA

Form of business

structure

HREMELT
Limited liabilicy

company

HRREAR
Limited liability

company

AREMELT
Limited liability

company

HREMELT
Limited liability

company

HRREAA
Limited liability

company

HRAEMELT
Limited liability

company

AREEAT
Limited liabilicy

company

HRREARA
Limited liability

company

ERIRAERA
Rt @R

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

and debr securities

3
Uss1

1 £
Us$1

1 £
Uss1

1ET
Uss1

1 £
Us$1

3T
Uss1

3
Ussl1

1£5
US$1

222 & R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

(i P
kiR
Held
bya

subsidiary

BN
Proportion of ownership interest
ARE  RAA
KhlEs A
Group's Held
effective by the
interest  Company
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%

IR

Principal activities
RERR

Tnvestment holding

il

Tnvestment holding

il

Investment holding

BERR

Investment holding

el

Tnvestment holding

i

Investment holding

i

[nvestment holding

BRER

Investment holding
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14 JAMBARZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRTRARRA ARE KA WEAR

AR MRS RHERDR YT T v HREE R BRE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
SRATHRAA ERRARE HRAEAT 1€ 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Emerald Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRETHRAA FRELHE ARERELR 1E7 100% 100% - BEER
Golden Wheel Sapphie Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
ERREARLA FREAHE ARAIELH £ 100% 100% - hEER
Golden Wheel Jasper Company BVI Limited liability I 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRREARAA ERRAHE HRAEA £ 100% 100% - BEEE
Golden Wheel Treasure Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRATARLA ERELHE ARELT 1E7 100% 100% - BEER
Golden Wheel Trinity Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRR EREAHE FRRELR 17 100% 100% - REER
Golden Wheel Enamel Company BVI Limited liability Us$1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRAMARAR EREAHE FRAEA £ 100% 100% - BEEE
Golden Wheel Liuli Company Limited ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
company
SRARARLA ERE L FRERLR 1£7 100% 100% - BREER
Golden Wheel Bright Jade Company ~ BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
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14 RBBAWNZBE w) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A ke
Proportion of ownership interest

BRTRARRA ARE KA WEAR

AR MRS RHERDR YT T v HREE R BRE TERE
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation  Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activities
BEARAR ERRARE HRREARA 100 100% _ 100%  fEER
Winning Year Company Limited BVI Limited liability US$100 100% - 100%  Investment holding
company
SRVEARLA FREAHE ARERELR 1ETL 100% 100% - BEER
Golden Wheel Jumbo Company BVI Limited liability Uss1 100% 100% - Investment holding
Limited company
SRAUBREARAT Fi AREIELH 100,000,000 7 100% - 0% SERR
Golden Wheel Incernational Hong Kong Limited liability HK$100,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Tnvestment Limited company
SRABAEARLT Fi HRREAA 48,000,000 100% - 100%  fEER
Golden Wheel International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$48,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Corporation Limited company
SRARARARLT Fi ARRELA 30,000,000 0 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel Incernational Creation  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
SRABAEARAR wik ARAMEAR 30,000,000 72 100% g 0% SEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Capital ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$30,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
SRARARARAR wik HRAEA 10,000,000 ¢ 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel International Billion ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
SRARARARAR Bi HRAMEAA 10,000,000 100% - 009 SEER
Golden Wheel Incernational Wealth ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investmen holding
Limited company
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14 RRBAWNZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

DR RAERA ARE AR WEAR

kAT Al REERY  RHERDRA RigHERHE HhEE A BRE IEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya

Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activities

SRARMERRAR wi ARAELR 10,000,000 72 100% - 009 BEHER

Golden Wheel International Trend Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SEABARHRAR Eib ARELAT 10,000,000 7 100% . 00 REER

Golden Wheel International Success ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRARARARLR Fi ARAIELH 10,000,000 7 100% - 00 SEER

Golden Wheel Incernational Glory Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company

SRABMERRAR wik ARAIELT 10,000,000 ¢ 100% - 007 BEER

Golden Wheel Incernational Idea Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company

SRARATARLR wik HRREAA 10,000,000 ¢ 100% - 0% REER

Golden Wheel International Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Innovation Company Limited company

SRARARARLA Fi ARAIEAH 10,000,000 7 100% - 00 SEER

Golden Wheel International Harvest -~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRARAERRAT Fit HRAIE L 10,000,000 7T 100% - 0% SERR

Golden Wheel Incernational Merit Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company

SRARAGHRAR wik HRREAR 10,000,000 72 100% - 00 SEER

Golden Wheel Incernational Inherit ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
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14 MRBARZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

DR RAERA ARE AR WEAR

kAT Al REERY  RHERDRA RigHERHE HhEE A BRE IEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activities
SRARMEARAR wi ARAELR 10,000,000 72 100% - 009 BEHER
Golden Wheel Incernational Wisdom ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Company Limited company
SRARARARLA wik HRAMEAA 10,000,000 7 100% - 0% REER
Golden Wheel Incernational Excellent ~ Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000,000 100% - 100%  Investment holding
Limited company
ARARA wik ARERLT 1T 100% - 00 FRERE
Success Seeker Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HKS$1 100% - 100%  Property development
company
HRFRERERARA i P R R 14950000 % T2 100% - 0% FEHRERERDEHE
Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel Realty ~ the PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  US$14,950,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Company Limited * property leasing
HHEBEREREAMAT R SEBRLE 13,200,000 % 76 100% - 00%  FEHRERERDENE
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate  the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ US$13,200,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Development Co., Led enterprise property leasing
PNERERERRARLA e REE 13,000,000 % 72 100% - 0% FHERSE
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate  the PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  US$13,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development

Development Co., Ltd.*

HHERHEERARAT  HE ARARFEAT  AR¥s000007C 100% - 00 FHEXKER

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Business the PRC Domestic limited liability ~ RMB500,000 100% - 100%  Property operation
Management Co., Ltd.* company

ERERFHERRARAT  TE SEBRLE 6130000 % 100% - 100%  FEHRERERDENE

Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate  the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ US$6,130,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Development Co., Ltd * enterprise property leasing
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AR

Name of company

HRNREREEARA
Nanjing Pearl Golden Wheel Realty
Co., Led.*

HREER R R EARELL
il

Nanjing Metro Real Estate Investment
Co., Ld.*

MRk EEXARAA
Nanjing Crystal Golden Wheel Realty
Co., Led *

HReRHEEARAARAR
Nanjing Golden Wheel Business

Management Co., Led.*

RUSREREEARLA
Changsha Golden Wheel Xinghao
Hotel Co., Ltd.*

HREHeRERARAT
Nanjing Sapphie Golden Wheel Real
Estate Co., Ltd.*

R EeRELARAT
Nanjing Jumbo Golden Wheel Realty

Company Limited*

14 RBBAWNZBE w)

ek b B A

Place of incorporation

and business

Gl
the PRC

i
the PRC

Gl
the PRC

i
the PRC

i
the PRC

e
the PRC

14

FHEREA

Form of business

structure

IEEELE
Wholly-foreign invested

enerprise

B ARE(L A

Domestic limited liabilicy

company

IEEELE
Wholly-foreign invested

enterprise

bR R

Sino-foreign joint venture

B RERLA
Domestic limited liabilicy

company

e R b

Sino-foreign joint venture

b B

Sino-foreign joint venture

ERERAERA
RAHR

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

and debt securities

2,000,000 7
152,000,000

280,000,000 7C

RMB260,000,000

AR 45,000,000 7
RMB45,000,000

32,000,000
RMB32,000,000

AR 51000000 C
RMBS,000,000

330,000,000
RMB330,000,000

N 500,000,000 78
RMB500,000,000

A M R MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFE I 2 21 2 AN B H$ DY 77 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

B R G ke

Proportion of ownership interest

A%H
L
Group’s

effective

interest

100%
100%

100%

100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

88%
88%

AR
it
Held

by the
Company

(i P
kiR
Held
bya

subsidiary

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 100%
- 100%

- 88%
- 88%

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FEEH

Principal activities

FE RS L EE
Property development and

hotel operation

FHERE

Property development

FHERE

Property development

VESiL

Property leasing

BEEE

Hotel operation

FHERE

Property development

FHERE

Property development
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Company Limited*

enterprise

& R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

14 JAWRE 2 W Z B ) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Concinued)
AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE  AMT WEAR
kAT Al REERY  RHERDRA RigHERHE HhEE A BRE IEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activities
BRAHERERARAT W P EEE NEH 452,000,000 100% = 100%  FHERE
Nanjing Ruby Golden Wheel Real the PRC Sino-foreign joint venture - RMB452,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Estate Co., Led.*
EGHERENEREARAT B AEBELE B 830,000,000 100% . 00% FEHERE
Wuxi Yizhong Real Estate the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMB230,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co., Led enterprise
BREEWERRARLY T SEEELRE NERHES,000,0007C 100% - 0% RHEEKER
Nanjing Tourmaline Business the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ RMB3,000,000 100% - 100%  Property operation
Management Company Limited* enterprise
DNEREREEARLA (Wik) R AAEREELD  ARW2000000% 32645 - e BHERE
Yangzhou Sufangtou Real Estate the PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB20,000,000 32.64% - 32.64%  Property development
Co., Ltd.* (Note 1) company
MTER RS EERES R ARAREELT  ARH15000007 100% - 100 EEEE
AEERARLA
Yangzhou Economic & Technologicel  the PRC Domestic limited liability ~ RMB15,000,000 100% - 100%  Hotel operation
Development Zone Golden Wheel company
Sing Yuet Hotel Management
Co., Ltd*
RUFREREFARLA i SEBELRE 5,000000 70 100.00% - 000w BHERE
Changsha Jade Golden Wheel Realty  the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ USDS,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development



AR

Name of company

EGLBRNEREERAT
Wuxi Golden Wheel Real Estate

Development Co., Ltd.*

MR RAEREERARAT
Nanjing Chuanghui Golden Business

management Co., Ltd *

SENEERERARAA
Golden Wheel Commercial

Management Holdings Limited

RS RELARAA
Zhuzhou Jade Golden Wheel Realty

Company Limited*

EHeRARTETAARAT
Wuxi Chuanghui Golden Business

Management Co., Ltd.*

HREREHHEARAA
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingzhi
Hotel Co., Ltd.*

HREREHLRARLA
Nanjing Xinghao Decoration

Engincering Co., Led *

14 RBBAWNZBE w)

ek b B A

Place of incorporation

and business

1
the PRC

i
the PRC

Fi
Hong Kong

i
the PRC

i
the PRC

e
the PRC

G
the PRC

14

FHEREA

Form of business

structure

SEELE
Wholly-foreign invested

enterprise

IEEELE
Wholly-foreign invested

enerprise

ARAMERA
Limited lability

company

G e
Wholly-foreign invested

enterprise

ARAEREELT
Domestic limited liability

company

BRARE(L A
Domestic limited liabilicy

company

BAAERERLA
Domestic limited liabilicy

company

ERERAERA
RAHR

Particulars of issued
and paid-up capital

and debt securities
6,000,000

USD6,000,000

2,000,000 7
USD2,000,000

1T
HKS1

BB 400,000,000 7C
RMBA00,000,000

B 1,000,000 1T
RMB1,000,000

85,000,000 C
RMBS,000,000

ARH1,0000007C
RMB1,000,000

A M R MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFE I 2 21 2 AN B H$ DY 77 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

B R G ke

Proportion of ownership interest

KER
L b
Group’s
effective

interest
100.00%

100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

100.00%
100.00%

AR
it
Held

by the
Company

(i P
kiR
Held
bya

subsidiary

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

- 100.00%
- 100.00%

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

FEEH

Principal activities

FHERELEHE
Property development and

property leasing

i

Investment Holding

FHEXHER

Property operation

FHER#%

Property development

VSN

Property leasing

1344

Hotel operation

s34

Property decoration
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Co., Led*

company

& R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

14 JABE A v 2 B ¥ () 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continucd)
AL I
Proportion of ownership interest
CRTRSERA ARE  AMT WEAR
kAT Al REERY  RHERDRA RigHERHE HhEE A BRE IEER
Particulars of issued Group's Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activities
HRAHEREFARAA i e REE AR 6510000007C  100.00% - l000%  FHERE
Nanjing Emerald Golden Wheel Real  the PRC Sino-foreign joint venture  RMB651,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development
Estate Co., Ltd.*
EREREERRARAT  HE EEELFE 2000000%7C 100.00% - l000%  BERRE
Nanjing Golden Wheel Hotel the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ USD2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Investment Holding
Management Co., Ltd * enterprise
EHERERERARLA i MAAREELAA  AR¥2000007  10000% - l000%  FHERE
Wuxi Jade Golden Wheel Realty the PRC Domestic limited liability ~ RMB20,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property development
Company Limited* company
EHMENERRARAA i MAERELELAD  ARH000000C  6000% - oos  WEHEE
Wuxi Metro Business Developmenc ~ the PRC Domestic limited liability ~ RMB30,000,000 60.00% - 00.00%  Property leasing
Company Limited* company
HReRRENEEAARAT RAEREELD  ARH1200000  10000% - l000%  HEHE
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xingda the PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB12,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property leasing
Business Management Co., Ltd * company
BHEFRNHSEREELE Pl SAEBELE 160000000078 100.00% o l0000%  fRERR
BERRA
Yangzhou Economic & Technological  the PRC Wholly-foreign invested ~ USD16,000,000.00 100.00% - 100.00%  Investment Holding
Development Zone Ruixiang enterprise
Business Management Co., Ltd *
REENEENARAA i BAREEAT  AE#60000007 100.00% - 100009 HERE
Nanjing Jinyi Business Management  the PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB6,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Property leasing



Ao o S R A
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(BRFE I 2 21 2 AN B H$ DY 77 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

14 MRBARZEE @) 14 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AL I
Proportion of ownership interest

DR RAERA ARE AR WEAR

kAT Al REERY  RHERDRA RigHERHE HhEE A BRE IEER
Particulars of issued Group’s Held Held
Place of incorporation ~ Form of business and paid-up capital effective by the bya
Name of company and business structure and debt securities interest ~ Company  subsidiary ~ Principal activities
BRERERWEARAA il BAEREEAT AR 20000007 100.00% - 000 EEER
Nanjing Golden Wheel Xinghao the PRC Domestic limited liabilicy ~ RMB2,000,000 100.00% - 100.00%  Hotel operation
Hotel Co., Ltd.* company
* AT REEMR S E %N * The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their official
)8 7 2 P e names are in Chinese.
BFRE 1 : %R MR B0 R A RS 2 BRI 4 ) Note 1: The entity is accounted for as a subsidiary as in accordance with the investment
FEMEEO I EEEAMBEIEE - M agreement. The board of directors of the entity can direct the relevant activities of
A SE M 0] AT A L the entity. Since the Group is able to appoint more than half of the directors in the
M o PR A R R S A SR e A board of the entity, the directors of the Group consider that the Group is able to
S AT A o exercise control to the entity.
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15

TR T 2 v B £

T RSN E R BN RS > H A
REFZREFZH =+ — Bl ETTISR

ERFE EHAREE

WandaR

Name of associate

HRAEERHRAA (HARA
)

Nanjing Mingyu Real Estate
Co., Ltd. ("Nanjing Mingyu’)*

HRAERAERRARAA
(TS E])

Nanjing Ruiyu Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.
(“Nanjing Ruiyu”)*

FHAE R LR ARAA
(T M)

Changzhou Peiling Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd.
(“Changzhou Peiling")*

LB SO R AR
(N B))

Jiangsu Realty Investment Utban
Development Co., Ltd.

("Jiangsu Fangtou”)*

FHERREA

Form of business

structure

AAARELAR

Domestic limited liability

company

RAARELAR

Domestic limited liability

company

P EEE

Sino-foreign joint venture

RAEREAR

Domestic limited liability

company

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

available as at 31 December 2020:

At R A

Place of incorporation

and business

Gl

The PRC

i

The PRC

Gl

The PRC

il

The PRC

il e

Registered capital
AEH)
(RMB)

BHETL

730 million

EESH

20 million

BSOAET

750 million

1,000 F B C

1,000 million

& R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

&L
kiR
Held
bya

subsidiary

33%

33%

5%

5%

13.33%

13.33%

18%

AL
Proportion of ownership interest
ARE kR
i) R ]
Group's Held
effective by the
interest  Company
33% -
33% -
5% -
5% -
13.33% -
13.33% S
18% -
18% -

18%

The following list contains only the particulars of material associates, all

of which are unlisted corporate entities whose quoted market price is not

FEEH

Principal activity

FHERS (B

Property development
(Note 1)

FWERE (H2)

Property development
(Note 2)

FWERE (H53)

Property development
(Note 3)

BERR (Hit4)

Tnvestment holding
(Note 4)
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B 2 B RERR ()

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

BEATLR FHRREA AN GES TS
Form of business Place of incorporation
Name of associate structure and business
BEEREREXARLA ARAREELAR TR
(MEZiEkRER)
Lianyungang Sufangtou Realty Domestic limited liability ~ The PRC
Tnvestment Co., Lid. company
(‘Lianyungang Sufangtou”)*
ILHk i XA R ARAREELT PR
(TIhk i o))
Jiangsu Shanghao Real Estate Domestic limited liabilicy ~ The PRC
Development Co., Ltd. company
(“Jiangsu Shanghao”*
GMARERERAR AREREELR PR
(M)
Yangzhou Jiuhe Real Estate Domestic limited liability ~ The PRC
Development Co., Ltd. company
(“Yangzhou Jiuhe')*
* Lo F ARG 2 - B *
XA ERLHE -

fidl) e

Registered capital
AER)

(RMB)

ELY

50 million

WEET

20 million

WHET

20 million

BRI
Proportion of ownership interest

ARE AR WEAR
KBS A R
Group's Held Held
effective by the bya
interest ~ Company  subsidiary
10% - 10%
10% - 10%
37% - 37%
37% - 37%
49% - 49%
49% - 49%

2

Principal activity

FHERE (W)

Property development
(Note 9)

FHERE (o)

Property development
(Note 6)

TR BB (Fff ok 7)

Property development
(Note 7)

The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their official

names are in Chinese.
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15 RIBE A v Wk )

Bfzk1: RoF—LE—H REBERIHZ
WL = 7 IR L R A
%N R 240,900,000 TC3f FE A 33% FHE o
04 B R P R T B A IR AT A D
MEFEHE RS EL - N T
4 B A B R B AR S AT e
CECRE EEAEmAEEES -
W FEFETA AR AEER
o R A I AT B 4 R A N D R A
I 7 A A PR A A BRLAE B T Y
—RE I B A ST L ek
A B T A A R A B A AR Y B
N R A 330 BERE  fUE A AR
279,300,000 7C  H B B A 4N A HE 25
A AR B N R 62,170,000 7T ©

BfsF2: o FE—tE+H RAEBBER I =4
TS =7 SR T R R s
%\ R 5,000,000 7T 1 1 A 259 i HE -
T 0 S S5 A P R RS B A R AT A D
T B - N F— L
M SR B B R R A %

MisEs s Mo —tE+ A > AREHH T I
208 5 =y L[] T E N g ) E
& AR 100,000,000 7C 3 £ A 13.33%
JHE o RSB FH MR EEGTHE
T—%ZEH Wit AEHEEREA
BB N A KR o H N
VR AR BT R IR AT A A R
5 M PSS o A R R WM
WO R EMERL E i EEREE
Wik = F = RAER G AT IHE o

Bfek4 . RZF—JUELH > AREBBER I H A
W5 = WO B B > AR ) H
& AR 18,000,000 7T 3lf 1 A 18% Mk
B AEMAMRITHRERNERGH
ZR—RBEF W AEBMEERL
REBMBTHEREERBED - T
J5 15 25— [T P B BT A BRI AE AR
TEFFE R E - R — L TR
BB B 45 N 4 B S e B E E -
RoF-FE  IHERERE PR
B — {8 5 b E B TE R vh B R
21 5 b s B S T E o

15

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

In January 2017, Nanjing Mingyu was established by the Group and other two
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMB240,900,000 and has a 33% equity interest. Nanjing Mingyu is a limited
liability company established in PRC and engaged in property development.
In 2019, Nanjing Mingyu has commenced delivery of properties in Nanjing,
PRC. In 2020, Nanjing Mingyu has was by the Group. On 29 October 2020,
Nanjing Golden Wheel Glory Commercial Management Co., Ltd., the Group’s
wholly-owned subsidiary incorporated in the PRC, entered into a share transfer
agreement with a third party partnership established in the PRC, and disposed
33% equity interest of the Group’s associate incorporated in the PRC, Nanjing
Mingyu, at a consideration of RMB279,300,000. The losses on this disposal of
interest in associates is RMB62,170,000.

In October 2017, Nanjing Ruiyu was established by the Group and other three
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMB5,000,000 and has a 25% equity interest. Nanjing Ruiyu is a limited
liability company established in PRC and engaged in property development. In
2019, Nanjing Ruiyu commenced delivery of project in Nanjing, PRC.

In December 2017, Changzhou Peiling was established by the Group and
other two independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB100,000,000 and has a 13.33% equity interest. The Group
is able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Changzhou Peiling and
therefore the directors of the Group consider that the Group has significant
influence over Changzhou Peiling. Changzhou Peiling is a limited liability
company established in PRC and engaged in property development. In 2020,
Changzhou Peiling has completed the construction of its property development

project in Changzhou and commenced delivery of project in 2020.

In September 2019, Jiangsu Fangtou was established by the Group and other five
independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital contribution
of RMB18,000,000 and has a 18% equity interest. The Group is able to appoint a
director in the board of directors of Jiangsu Fangtou and therefore the directors of
the Group consider that the Group has significant influence over Jiangsu Fangtou.
Jiangsu Fangtou is a limited liability company established in PRC and engaged
in property investment. In 2019, Jiangsu Fangtou has invested a property
development project in Yangzhou, PRC. In 2020, Jiangsu Fangtou has invested
a property development project in Nanjing, PRC, and 2 properties development

projects in Lianyungang, PRC.
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15 RIBE A v Wk )

Bt aEs

Bt 56 :

Wi5E7 -

B T TR A A S ] B A 0 4
WL = AL R R b A
2 [ E R 5,900,000 78 K HEH 10%
JRAEE o AR B2 [ RE A0 HA B VB BR S AR  FE
HERE—LEE WAEBEERLL
AREMBEELHRERBEFERLE -
LT R 3 2 A o B ST ) A BR R AT
NF RFEDFEEBERE N F
CERE B ERRE R T PEEE
R — R R EIEE -

ROFZRENA S AEMBEY — 4 H
1098 37 55 = 77 ST UL R 4 B o AR 4R B I
%\ R 8,900,000 TG M A 499 ik HE -
AEEO R - - RENAEH 4
519% - W > AEBMEREZEH A
37% ° TLRR W UFAE T B R 1 — W
i EREEIEE o

BB R REZART A
SE R T AR LA DACE AR
31,064,000 7C Wit 1 H: 4995 BEHE « 45 M LA
B—Z N B AR AR 1§
ERMEREEE RN FE G
MU T B B I — 18 5 2 B
BIHH -

At B A W E M A A AR
B -

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note 5:

Note 6:

Note 7:

In August 2020, Lianyungang Sufangtou was established by the Group and
other four independent third parties, among which the Group injected capital
contribution of RMB5,900,000 and has a 10% equity interest. The Group is
able to appoint a director in the board of directors of Lianyungang Sufangtou
and therefore the directors of the Group consider that the Group has significant
influence over Lianyungang Sufangtou. Lianyungang Sufangtou is a limited
liability company established in PRC and engaged in property development. In
2020, Lianyungang Sufangtou has invested a property development project in

Lianyungang, PRC.

Jiangsu Shanghao was established by the Group and the other third party in
April 2020. The Group injected capital contribution of RMB8,900,000 and has a
49% equity interest. The Group’s equity interests changed to 51% in June 2020.
Afterwards, the Group changes the entity interests to 37%. Jiangsu Shanghao has

invested a property development project in Lianyungang, PRC.

Yangzhou Jiuhe was established in February 2020. The Group acquired the 49%
interest in September 2020 at a consideration of RMB31,064,000. Yangzhou
Jiuhe is a limited liability company established in PRC and engaged in property
development. In 2020, Yangzhou Jiuhe has invested a property development
project in Yangzhou, PRC.

All of the above associates are accounted for using the equity method in the

consolidated financial statements.
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15

TR A vl B RE S (40)

AL 8 A B A o 2 B A R 2 FR

15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of the material associates, adjusted for any

T o w6 S R B2 B B 4R R differences in accounting policies, and reconciled to the carrying amounts in
IR BR T (B P S IR B R A the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
WM
Changzhou Peiling
e
2020 2019
AR T ANRWTFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
T8 24 i R T AL Gross amounts of the associate’s
MEEE Current assets 1,196,605 2,398,201
I E) A Non-current assets 220 6,168
E A fE Current liabilities (278,109) (1,691,614)
HE 45 Equity (918,716) (712,755)
i 45 Revenue 1,729,004 -
B s A (ks 18) Profit/(losses) from continuing operations 205,961 (7,867)
FoAt A T A Other comprehensive income - -
é\ﬁqﬁlﬁfi/ (518 A% Total comprehensive income/(loss) 205,961 (7,867)
B AR A W 8 A W) Reconciled to the Group’s interests in the
FARE 25 IR associate
Tk ) Y 1 (L A IR T (L Gross amounts of net assets of the associate 918,716 712,755
AR [ PR AR Group’s effective interest 13.33% 13.33%
7 B O A0 O D 1) O A Group’s share of net assets of the associate 122,495 95,034
SR B IR < IR T (E Cartying amount in the consolidated
financial statements 122,495 95,034
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15 WG A v i HE AR (40 15 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Concinued)
A 7 9 B R B 2 R ) RE AR ) Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material:
e e
2020 2019
ANRETTT ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000

SRR BB R A B 9 R A Aggregate carrying amount of individually

) 4 U T AR immaterial associates in the consolidated
financial statements 81,738 121,922
SR B A 5% S e 0 R I AR Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of those
associates’
FFELE (BH) / Tt ) (Loss)/profit from continuing operations (12,215) 1,123
] 5 48 48 R 1R Loss from discontinued operations (62,170) -
R RS Other comprehensive income - -
AT (1) /W fi B Total comprehensive (loss)/income (74,385) 1,123
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16

TR 4 A B

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

DTF AR —F - FF+ A=+~ Details of the Group’s interest in joint ventures 31 December 2020, which
HRGEAEMERN - ZEELEEH is accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated financial

MR IR FT A SR A B R A -

statements, are as follows:

BN
Proportion of ownership interest

AZE  ART WEAR

AREEAH FHEREA At R A alEAR  EEEE R R TERE
Group's Held Held
Form of business Place of incorporation effective by the bya
Name of joint venture structure and business Registered capital interest ~ Company  subsidiary  Principal activity
HEeBMIARLA HREMELT EREARE 50,000 %78 49% 49% - RERR
(M) (Wt (HBERHE])
Powerlong Golden Wheel Coral Limited liability British Virgin Islands US$50 thousand 49% 49% - Investment holding
Company Limited (“Powerlong company (‘BVI")
Golden Wheel Coral”)* (Note 1)
HEeRRRARARL HREMELT Fik 10FEET 49% - % REER
(3 1)
Powerlong Golden Wheel Limited liability Hong Kong HK$10 million 49% - 49%  Tnvestment holding
International Famous Limited company
(“Powetlong Golden Wheel
Famous”)* (Note 1)
T%J'I‘?%%fé‘i’%‘éﬁ%ﬁ RAd WEELE Gl 6IHEET 4% - fn  FHERE
(k1)
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong ~ Wholly-foreign invested  the PRC US$61 million 49% - 49%  Property development
Realty Co., Led. (Yangzhou enterprise
Golden Wheel Powerlong
Realty”)* (Note 1)
GHERERERARAR  RANEREEAD B ARH 0T BT 20% = 0% BHERE
(MM ) (BE2)
Yangzhou Jiashiwei Construction Domestic limited liability ~ the PRC RMB140 million 20% - 20%  Property development
Development Limited company
(“Yangzhou Jiashiwei")* (Note 2)
i IR IYNCIOE S @A T = A & < The English translation of the above companies are for reference only. Their official

XATRITIER 4 -

names are in Chinese.
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16 REBEENHER @)

BfeE

BfzE2

R-FZFEE-F-RAE+ZA
=B AR A HE < T
499% A BE > T H S MMM 54 H
M A B 2 S WA
SR P M 4 B TR AR AR P (A
R T L L) -

AR A St o 4 P o AR S
B —wT#Jr S BRAR LS
BiL 1 35 41 1 36 5 (o] ik 2 AR B ) o AR
SE T B LR F5 A ERIRE R 53 — AT R T 2
— B o [ o T SE T A RS £
ALz BERE-

R-FFER-F-ALE+ZA
= o AR B B 5 R 209
B HE o MR A S A W B A
o 7 B B H At T 4 77
T 50 B 2 S M 3 M o] i 2 A
I 7 8 8 A A T T St ) AT ARG
HAb T #9797 2 — B B o I - By 1 5%
e Ty ARSI s AL 2 R E A o

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group holds 49% of the equity investments
of Powerlong Golden Wheel Coral, which holds 100% interests in Powerlong
Golden Wheel Famous and which in turn holds 100% equity interests in
Yangzhou Golden Wheel Powerlong Realty (collectively referred to as the “Coral
Group”).

Under the joint venture agreement, the Coral Group is jointly controlled by
the Group and the other party because the relevant activity affecting its returns
from its involvement with the Coral Group requires the unanimous consent of
the Group and other party sharing the control. Therefore the Coral Group is

accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group holds 20% of the equity interests
of Yangzhou Jiashiwei. Under the joint venture agreement, Yangzhou Jiashiwei
is jointly controlled by the Group and other parties because the relevant activity
affecting its returns from its involvement with the Yangzhou Jiashiwei requires
the unanimous consent of the Group and other parties sharing the control.

Therefore, Yangzhou Jiashiwei is accounted for as a joint venture of the Group.
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16

R A B AR RS ()

LB B IR A0 A o 22 510 o) o B 2 3
T 11 A MO SRR P SR R

16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of Coral Group, adjusted for any differences

in accounting policies, and a reconciliation to the carrying amount in the

{2 BHIRPEH MR consolidated financial statements, are disclosed below:
“ERORE —F—-h4E
2020 2019
ARWF ANRBT T
RMB’000 RMB000

381 45 1 A A Gross amounts of Coral Group
TE Current assets 709,712 596,738
I i dh Non-current assets 683,908 721,940
E) A fE Current liabilities (307,812) (252,507)
IR B R Non-current liabilities (293,220) (278,220)
£ Equity (792,588) (787,951)
bl E AR AL Included in the above assets and liabilities:
B R &5 ED Cash and cash equivalents 5,483 14,514
mEEMAR (AMIFEE S KM Current financial liabilities (excluding trade and

JRE A5 BRI DA R 48 ) other payables and provisions) (4,120) (3,303)
FmB A (FEFES R Non-current financial liabilities (excluding trade

b JREAST X IE DA K S 465 and other payables and provisions) (205,000) (220,000)
& Revenue 91,966 39,202
TR B K08 S i Profit from continuing operations 4,637 16,082
A 1A 36 Profit for the year 4,637 16,082
AT W 45 ARAE Total comprehensive income 4,637 16,082
bt i PR A Included in the above profit:
E-YE 3 Depreciation and amortisation - 720
FE A Interest income 120 197
BRL A 5 B0 SS90 2 I i i R Reconciled to the Group’s interest in Coral

Group

I B84 4 [ S VR (A Gross amounts of Coral Group net assets 792,588 787,951
AN A5 ) BB 55 Group’s effective interest 49% 49%
74 52 B8 A1 3 390 42 [ ) K VL Group’s share of Coral Group net assets 388,368 386,096
A B RE 4 B T (0 Carrying amount of the Group’s interests 388,368 386,096
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16 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not individually material:

me Jwe 23 —EEF
2020 2019
AR ANRH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
GAMBHMEAMANEERGES Aggregate carrying amount of individually
S MR T AR (E immaterial joint venture in the consolidated
financial statements 24,696 33,135
AEMEBEGZESEREUT Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of the
JHH joint venture’s
g @%%%}@E Loss from continuing operations (1,167) (1,810)
At 2 T iR Other comprehensive income - -
AT i %5 AR Total comprehensive income (1,167) (1,810)
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17 JEAb 4k % 17 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
SRR T
2020 2019
AR T ANRWT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
N TR AR 5 0 4 RlV& Financial assets measured at FVTPL
—HEEE — Held-for-trading 39,966 5,525
=k Bl AR 5 (M 5E) — Unlisted equity securities (Note) 192,440 203,144
— HoAts — Others 93,255 10,760
/N I W R TN i) Financial assets measured at FVTOCI
SRGRE 3,834 7,763
329,495 227,192
U B T — N EIZIE Less: Amounts due within one year shown under
current assets (39,966) (5,525)
I & A Amounts shown under non-current assets 289,529 221,667
BEFRE « FF b T MR AR R 5 i LI I PR R AT I O A R Note: The unlisted equity securities represent an equity interests in Xiamen International

A A] (TEP E BRRAT D) 0 FBORE > S8R4T
— T o BT P R R P AT A
FRATHER - TERAT B EE - R
RS BRI AT EFHE - R
AR T (N R 5 192,440,000 7C (. F — L
40 NIR W 203,144,000 7C) E 80T 8247
DA B AR SE B4 () 275 T SR AT RV PRI I

18 P EmE 18

WoEZEFEL A=+ —H AEEZ
B T R D O P o A B R A
B W) 3 T R A B B BUVR (E 2 K
GIHE o A ERE IR AEBIRHEAAR
W2 742,114,000 70 (ZF— L4 ARHE
2,997,061,000 7G) Z # B 5 v 15 B 4y 3
CHMHTRIT > UAAEEER A TR
TRV LR -

Bank Co., Ltd. (“XIB”), a licensed commercial bank established in the PRC and is
principally engaged in the banking business, retail banking and funding business.
The carrying amount is measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period.
At the end of reporting period, total carrying amount of RMB 192,440,000 (2019:
RMB203,144,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking facilities
granted to the Group.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT FOR SALE

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s properties under development for
sale are situated in the PRC. All of the properties under development for
sales are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. At the end of
reporting period, certain of the Group’s properties under development for
sale with a carrying amount of approximately RMB2,742,114,000 (2019:
RMB2,997,061,000) were pledged to banks to secure certain banking

facilities granted to the Group.
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B ARGE IES

REFZFEFTZA=1—H > AEEHD
BT EWEMD TR LG - TEC R
TR 3 T4 i A B AT 2 BV (B 2 A
FHHNHR o REE R - ARBERTES A
R #1,251,619,000 76 (ZF —JL4F : AR
#508,245,00070) 2% FER LI EWE

BT 4RAT - Dl R SR AR 2 5 T 4R
TR TR -

GEb

B34 HIN R B A

19

20

Incremental costs

COMPLETED PROPERTIES FOR SALE

At 31 December 2020, the Group’s completed properties for sale are situated
in the PRC and Hong Kong. All completed properties for sales are stated
at the lower of cost and net realizable value. At the end of reporting period,
certain of the Group’s completed properties for sale with a carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,251,619,000 (2019:RMB508,245,000) were pledged

to banks to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

CONTRACT ASSETS
“2®E |z
2020 2019
ARWFor AR ¥Tor
RMB’000 RMB 000
to obtain contracts 15,205 6,473

NERCERFER E-FT AT
H &AL 2 A & A B A T 8 5 8 B &
5 b AR (B 55 00 8 65 05 B AR 0 % Ak
A SE R B R Y ERT L H
Bk MRS e - S ABAR
T AE T 2 0 i R IR e

R 45 R MRS 2 B9 8 B B B S — R4y o

WAENFEREER 2 EARMEEA LTS
ANE#15,205,000 70 (—F—JLE © AR
6,473,000 7G) © 4F N M4 A B AR AL B A
S92 A O AR AL A M

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to sales employees and property agents
whose selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and purchase
agreements for the Group’s properties which are still under construction
at the reporting date. Contract costs are recognised as part of selling and
marketing expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which revenue from the related property sales is recognised. The
amount of capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year was
RMB15,205,000 (2019: RMB6,473,000). There was no impairment in
relation to the opening balance of capitalised costs or the costs capitalised

during the year.
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21 U5 B 3o sk 21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
B 5 M WOk T B LA B & W SE R T Trade receivables mainly comprises certain consideration for sale of properties
(VY EER=R §<¢/EY FigitkzEL )/ eI and rental receivable in respect of self-owned investment properties and sub-
4 o BB 2E 2 AVE AR I AE B B B ok leased properties. Consideration in respect of sale of properties is receivable in
R IR o AL — Ak & T B Ol o AR accordance with the terms of related sale and purchase agreements. Rentals
AREEMERTE TEFRRNGEED - are usually received in advance. However, longer credit periods might grant

to certain customers on a discretions basis.

e e 25 e eIKiE

2020 2019
Bif & AR T AR T
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
H 5 REWGK IR Trade receivables 77,996 169,141
JE S A R B Amount due from associates and joint
e 0| ventures (i) 110,427 45,065
HoAth R i E Other debtors 253,914 94,852
AR RS CEi= kY Less: Allowance for credit losses (27,714) (27,714)
e B IS T 1 4 Financial assets measured at amortised cost 414,623 281,344
ST R B T 1YY B Advances to contractors (1) 12,023 19,933
A 7 £ B Other taxes prepaid (i) 108,297 47,496
534,943 348,773
B 3E Notes:
(1) STHEAR S B8 A2 BOREE 1 B (1) The advances to associates, joint ventures and contractors are unsecured, interest-
Ty BEIEAT 0 B R R Bk A free and repayable on demand.
(ii) A T AT B T A 0 S A vl (i) Included in other taxes prepaid are value added tax receivables in PRC arising from
eH (B - the sales of property.
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21 S5 B oAb MBSk I ) 21 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIV ABLES (Continued)
HR 8 43 e Ageing analysis
BEREHA > BRYERLMAIRE R As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade receivables
it B 2508 5 BECRE (B 5 Bk net of allowance for credit losses presented based on the date of delivery of
) ARE AT InT properties/date of rendering of services, is as follows:
e
2020 2019
ANRWT T ANR¥T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
30 RN Within 30 days 69,510 166,297
312 60K 31 to 60 days 6,709 1,711
61 £ 180K 61 to 180 days 1,777 1,133
77,996 169,141
Jifr A At B B H Al BB WS LA R — 4 All of the other trade and other receivables are expected to be recovered or
NIEER YT recognised as expense within one year.
A BA G B G HBOR I B 5 R A TR Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from trade
SBT3 S B 8 B 3 32() debtors and bills receivable are set out in note 32(a).
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22 ZRURIB AT AR

22  RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

e e 25 “EFNE

2020 2019
Bif & AR T ANREFTT
Note RMB’000 RMB 000
FoAt 32 PR 47 3K Other restricted deposits (i) 257,138 197,510

MR P ERINIER Deposits pledged for guarantees granted to
R 1 77 3K customers (ii) 13,957 10,349
HRERAT B LA A A7 3K Deposits pledged for bank loans (iii) 293,098 566,500
564,193 774,359

ST Analysed as:

ME) Current 383,182 604,359
E| el Non-current 181,011 170,000
564,193 774,359

Wi

() RERAFAIRAE AR BN R A T ARATIN R
SRAT A S T YA AR 5 1 o B B T
7 e R 3R IE B o 52 BRI SRAT A SO IR )
K E R TR MR -

W4 A AT T AT AR S [ 5
HRATEL T4 T 4048 BB R 490 0 9 A R
SRATAE K o & IR SR AT A7 e SR AT W 31 &
FF 1 SRAT 32 2 AR B 40 26 9 5 R B A R
R P45 th 4% 48 53 HEAT 3 420 6 P B o
ARTIERG R R BT A R R R A
T ARA R

(ii)

%5 AR HEAT T SRAT AR B T SRAT A 3K
IS HH0 5 FD A B W AT A7 Ko

(iii)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB placed with certain banks in the PRC
and the usage of which are restricted to certain of the Group’s property development
projects in the PRC. The restricted bank deposits will be released when the property

projects obtain the certification of the completion.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as security for
certain mortgage loans granted by the banks to the Group’s customers. The
restricted bank deposits will be released upon receiving the building ownership
certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as a pledge
for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the directors of the
Company, the building ownership certificates will be granted within the next

twelve months.

The amounts represent bank deposits in RMB pledged to banks as security for

certain bank borrowings.
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22 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS (Continued)

The restricted bank deposits carry fixed interest rates as follows:

S

2020 2019

AR T ARWT T

RMB’000 RMB’000

A 1) 3 Range of interest rate per annum 0.3%-3.575% 0.3%-3.575%
B4 B e b B4R 2 BB 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

B m LR (a)  Cash comprise:

CRORY —F-E

2020 2019

AR#F AR BT C

RMB’000 RMB 000

FHE & Cash on hand 1,605 1,068

SBITH & Cash at bank 847,515 978,140

Mt Total 849,120 979,208
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23 BEREMAEREER @) 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(Continued)
(b) 1% o, i Vi ) LA 7 Pl A5 B 4 2 SR - (b)  Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:
e e 2.2 —F—hE
2020 2019
f 1 ANBRHT T AR ¥TF T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
W 5 T i ) Profit before taxation 126,766 452,875
BUAT S IHAE LR Adjustments for:
REMENTHES) Changes in fair value of investment
properties 13(a) 91,971) (171,958)
e FER AR R I RE Changes in fair value of financial assets
E (B 5 By measured at FVTPL 5(b) (368) (32,548)
He oy (A R A A 2 T A Impairment loss of financial assets
F <5 Pl 7 3l LM 11 measured at FVTOCI 3,930 2,287
ER & LR Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 6(c) 36,680 31,044
W LA Finance costs 6(a) 233,545 186,273
AR AR 21 & RUE Dividend income from financial assets
E Y IR S A measured at FVTPL 5(a) (6,267) (5,968)
SRATAE R B Interest income from banks deposits S5(a) (31,503) (18,035)
SRV E R R A Interest income from financial assets (878) (2,077)
B A PER A B0 S Gain on disposal of financial assets
Tl E i 4 measured at FVTPL 5(a) (2,956) (3,579)
55 BB 2 kA Gain on disposal of a subsidiary 5(b) - (63,918)
S o R SR EE R Y (i ks) (Gain)/losses on repurchase of senior
18 notes 5(b) (36,970) 20,236
FEA 8 A Rl ks 1, (i ) Share of losses/(profits) of associates 15 46,930 (105,050)
JEAG A8 4 2 i A Share of profits of joint ventures 16 (1,105) (6,070)
DA B AR & L P A S A 3k Equity-settled share-based payment
THBA expenses 229 229
M 56 (M 4s) /s 48 Foreign exchange (gain)/losses (231,650) 85,999
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23 BRI R TR ) 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
(b) B Fl B A4S 15 B 4 2 $HR - (b)  Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash generated from operations:
e
2020 2019
f 1 ANBRHT T ANBWHT T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BEEAREY) Changes in working capital:
R Gk EREES Increase in properties under development
for sale (96,553) (354,684)
Bk TR EYERm Increase in completed properties for sale (758,010) (531,435)
B 5 Je H A JE g T e / Decrease/(Increase) in trade and other
() receivables 316,617 (63,773)
B 5y B A I A T B Increase in trade and other payables 265,789 540,009
B H B RS Increase in contract liabilities 910,532 479,567
BREERM Increase in contract assets (8,732) (4,680)
TE AL 4 38 m / () Increase/(decrease) in rental received in
advance 13,861 (13,519)
Z PR SR AT A7 FR 28 Increase in restricted bank deposits (63,236) (118,501)
RE s Bla Cash generated from operations 624,680 302,724
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23 BRI R TR ) 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
© MEFHIZAMEEK (c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
TERHIALEMEEH 2 AEEH > & The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
BB ENFBR 2T - MEEHEELZA activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
B HB &M BRI e R E R AL financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
B & A Bl & R b BUA B0 A R flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as
EEEH MBI AN - cash flows from financing activities.
EBRATR
Big S 7 4 HERE ]
Amount due to
Interest associates and
Bank loans payables Senior notes joint ventures Lease iilties Toul
\FEFE  AREFE ARETE  AREFT  AREFE  ARETE
(Witn) (Kitas) (it (it
(note 27) (note 28) (note 24) (note 26)
REE-MEFZR=1-HE  At31 December 2019 and
ZRIRE--H 1 January 2000 374179 100,426 2686311 58859 12467 726005
BERSRERE: Changes from financing cash flows:
?ﬁﬁﬁ %T‘W 3 Proceeds from new bank loans 468,748 - - - - 468,748
E%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%‘ﬁ Repayment of bank loans (1,274,181) = = = - (1,274,181)
g@“ﬁ% /A\ﬂ RASHEA Advances from associates and joiat ventures - - - 55,984 - 53,984
ARELE &@% HERT Repayments to associaes and joint ventures - - - (31,000) - (31,000)
EffRfSEAR} Capital element ofese rentls pid - - - - (22,008) (22,008)
g mﬂgﬁﬁ%ﬂ ‘E\%MJ\ Tnterest element oflease rencals paid - - = - (16,530) (16,530)
?é@ BrEgiaA Proceeds from issue of senior notes - - 2,361,986 - - 2,501,986
BB TRELR A Payment of expense attributable to ssue of
Senior notes - - (34,000) - - (34,006)
BHELE Repurchase of senior note - - (1,790411) - - (1,790411)
EfffIE Intetest pid - ({76418) - - - ({76418)
RORERERANE Toddwpsfonioocigeailions [ L L N - S M o
Buaag bmgaones wm uS L ..
RS Other changes:
R Wﬂﬁ%ﬂﬁgéiﬂﬁ Tncrease n lease liablicis from entering into
B féi%iﬂﬂ ‘ new leases during the year - - - - 2902 2902
HERX (3E b)) Tnterest expenses note 6(2) 199,010 = 487,480 = 16,530 703,020
Rithpyms Terminacionand mdifaion of e - - - - (1231 (12311)
BRI (E50)  Guinonedempion ofsenior notes ot ) - - (36970 - - (36970)
f{%ﬁ*ﬁiﬁ B ﬁﬁ;’(lﬁﬁw Decrease of amounts due to an associate - - - (201,300) - (201,300)
MIEEREEERAIES  Amorizaion ofsenior notes and bank loan (182,13) 571,585 (384,601) - - 4762
RUBER I oo . s bay o [ Rl
RERZREAZAZT=0 A December 2020 2811506 195,593 3304885 20143 261050 6833177
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23 BAeKRIMBEEREER @)

© MEHEZAHEHE @

23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

(Continued)
BERELAR
Bt AR BARE  GRLENE HEnk i ]
Amount due to
associates and
Bank loans Inveest payables Senior notes jont ventutes Lease lisbilices Toul
IBEFE  AREFE  ARETE  ARETE  ARETE  ARETE
]Wﬂ‘ U RMBO0 [(M;? o RiBI0 RUBI0 RMBO0
(Wit (3k2s) (i) (it
(note 27) (note 28) (note 24) (note 26)
REF-MEFZAZT=H A3l December 2018 2529263 75,06 336739 3L - 623113
MR R RS E Impact on initial application of
Fiesnpe IFRS 16 . . . . 291689 291689
REBUEA-R S L I na L s DSy G
BEREREES Changes from financing cash flows:
HRET A Praceeds from new bank s 2000580 - - - - 2000580
RERIEN Repayment of bk oans (1722.920) - - - - (1722.920)
BeldRaatEds Advances from associates and joint ventures - - - 165,045 - 165,045
mEEARAREERT Repayments to associaes and joint ventures - - - (38,091) - (38,001)
EffiEMEEAT Captalclement of e renls paid - - - - (24118 (24,11
g f\ﬂﬁgfﬂ%ﬂ k) Interest element oflease rentals paid - - - - (18,347) (18547)
%ﬁ ey U Proceeds from issue of senior notes - - 124475 - - 124475
BB ERR R L Payment of expense attributable to isue ofsenior
otes - - (18,014) - - (18,014)
%@Eﬁ%% Repurchase of senior note - - (1,018,394) - - (1,018,394)
] i e Repayment of principal o senior notes - - (966,344) - - (966,344)
EffHIE Inetest pid - (387,50) - - - (387,250)
RRALRERINE  Twdiniooigablm L B0 o o W
Buaag Bowgrausmns L S S e
Kezd: Other changes:
Rl i R R R Tncrease in lease iablices from entering into new
Al . leases during the year - - - - 24,896 24896
HERL (htow) Ittt expenses (e ) 165,87 - 320069 - 18547 303803
B AELERER ) Loss on redemption of senior notes
) (note 3(b) - - 20,236 - - 20,236
ARREERERRIES  Anoriation of senior noesand
bank loan (161,025) 412470 (51 445) - - -
s W wwo g am e B8
REFPEHZAZT-H A December 019 374179 100426 2686511 88859 9461 7,260,056
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23 B RIB &R EER @) 23 CASH AND OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(Continued)
@ HMEBLWHAH (d) Total cash outflow for leases
ZRFE RN
2020 2019
AR¥T ARWEFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
REF W& Within operating cash flows = —
il B 4 O i Within financing cash flows 38,538 42,665
38,538 42,665
A RTINS EA R These amounts relate to the following:
“RFE xRN
2020 2019
ARETI AR BT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EfHEME Lease rentals paid 38,538 42,665
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B 50 B 3L i A ok OB 24 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
“RORE —E-NEF
2020 2019
Bif & AR T AR T
Note RMB’000 RMB000
B 5 REAS 3 JE Trade payables 1,260,938 886,378
FHoAt REAT 3 IE Other payables 654,058 483,621
WEH%MK' AT REEMEEFIH  Amounts due to associates and joint
ventures (1) 260,143 438,859
2,175,139 1,808,858
B3 Note:
(i) JEAT g 8 7 A %#\ U5 MR (i) Amounts due to associates and joint ventures are unsecured, interest-free and
Eis! &fﬁ}“gj{fé’ repayment on demand.
R ERAEBIR > R H 2 A 5 A As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables
AR RE AT T presented based on the invoice date, is as follows:
A
2020 2019
ANBRH T ANRWTIT
RMB’000 RMB'000
180 K I Within 180 days 1,175,729 823,867
181 2365 K 181 to 365 days 114 22,714
K Over 1 year 85,095 39,797
B 5 BEA 3 E AR Total trade payables 1,260,938 886,378
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wRIAR 25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES
“RORE —E-NEF
2020 2019
AR AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
TE 8 W) SE OB 2 Deposits and prepayments received from pre-sale
JHEA RIE of properties 1,881,711 971,179

JAZA S B 5 AT S0 R M ke > AN
W B B B & P R4 - %%
EHDBHEMAR > HEEYHEZ T RLKE
T EE o AUE BT8R A%
PR ST RS S o R > AR SR B B AR 4
T OLE R 8 I B A T & P Ik HAT
$ % 7 [ 55 B 0 T R A
IR B T ST BR K o A7 B BRI A B
MR EIRER T W SE R A O Ak 2
BHERE o BeAh o B A B G IR A 4R T R
R RGBS T8 DAR A SR B 2
AT H T B AR R AT
B R R B A A
BEEBEREEEEN > HERERT
) S 2 T RE S 2 P R T 2 AR
e o

The Group receives part of the contract value as a deposit from customers
when they sign the sale and purchase agreements. These deposits are
recognised as a contract liability until the properties are completed and legally
assigned to the customers. The rest of the consideration is typically paid when
legal assignment is completed. However, depending on market conditions,
the Group may offer customers a discount compared to the listed sales price,
provided that the customers agree to pay the balance of the consideration
early while construction is still ongoing, rather than on legal assignment.
Such advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the remaining property construction period for the full amount
of the contract price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased
by the amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect the
effect of any financing benefit obtained from the customers during the period
between the payment date and the completion date of legal assignment. As
this accrual increases the amount of the contract liability during the period
of construction, it therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised when

control of the completed property is transferred to the customer.
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wRIAA @) 25 CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Concinued)
EN - ARABREHNT Movements in contract liabilities during the year are as follows:

=

2020 2019
AR¥F ANBHT T
RMB’000 RMB000
i —H—HZ &% Balance at 1 January 971,179 491,612
HERRFT AP A& 4 & &1 Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of
N AR A Y A A R R recognising revenue during the year that
was included in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the period (1,144,467) (491,612)
RATGAEEEHELN A4 E  Increase in contract liabilities as a result of
fE billing in advance of pre-sales activities 2,054,999 971,179
T A= B2 AR Balance at 31 December 1,881,711 971,179
A8 TR W SE BT SO Y T A 4 I B O The amount of forward sales deposits and prepayments received from pre-sale
SRR —F NHER BB - of property is expected to be recognised as income within one year.
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26 HEAM 26 LEASE LIABILITIES
TR AR B T S 1 O R K The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the
08 2 R S R A AR 16 9% HB Y Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous reporting
HEARR T AAIFEN periods and at the date of transition to IFRS 16:
R-FZREFZA=Z+—H REZE_FFE—~A—H
At 31 December 2020 At 1 January 2020
RAGH & AR & A & RIEHE
kB (NEE ] B (EREEsL
Present value Total Present value Total
of the minimum minimum of the minimum minimum
lease payments lease payments lease payments lease payments
ABRHTI ARBT ARBT T ARHTFIT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB 000
TR Within 1year L S 132 B8 M8
—EfBH R AE N After 1 year but within 2 years 45,121 49,803 44,015 52,482
[ ER AN After 2 years but within 5 years 113,284 140,160 121,888 147,641
FAER After 5 years 56,783 86,816 83,266 129,064
U e 26779 249009 3081
261,050 324,151 292,467 373,985

W KA BB S Less: total future interest expenses

F¥ (63,101) (81,518)
HEABEEHE Present value of lease liabilities 261,050 292,467
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27 BANK LOANS

REZFZRETZA=Z+—H o HFERR At 31 December 2020, the bank loans were repayable as follows:

T SERRAT LT -

e
2020 2019
AR#F ANR#FT
RMB’000 RMB000
AL S E Nt Within Lyearorondemand [ ] L8SL85S | 2393017
—HFRHEMERN After 1 year but within 2 years 601,848 483,150
MR AL AR After 2 years but within 5 years 377,803 865,626
e 979,651 1348776
2,811,506 3,741,793
MN_FE_EE+_H=+—H > FITEK At 31 December 2020, the bank loans were secured as follows:
BB T
e
2020 2019
AR Frx ANRBFr
RMB’000 RMB’000
A Secured 2,718,866 3,658,836
4HE HE 7 Unsecured 92,640 82,957
2,811,506 3,741,793
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27 BT () 27
A R A MR A ) 0 B GRLAT lL  1)

BANK LOANS (Continued)

At the end of respective reporting petiods, the following assets were pledged

AT AT B to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group:
e
2020 2019
AR¥FIT NRBT T
RMB’000 RMB000
VESY & Property, plant and equipment 59,388 6,956
VS L/E Investment properties 3,102,778 3,865,200
A T E R AR £ 0 S Financial assets measured at FVTPL 192,440 203,144
PR B E Properties under development for sale 2,742,114 2,997,061
CRILGEYE Completed properties for sale 1,251,619 508,245
Z BRI SRAT 475K Restricted bank deposits 293,098 566,500
7,641,437 8,147,106

A% S5 18 B A R AT B R R A TR A S B
T8 A AR LR E TR - i
A SR R BB - IR SR R R T B
JHBY LR o A G2 1 1) 5 2 0 % 2 2 )
RESPAS UL A B AR 5 L R B e B
3 — 2 1 O B RE 320b)

All of the Group’s banking facilities are subject to the fulfilment of covenants
relating to certain of the Group’s balance sheet ratios. If the Group were to
breach the covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable on
demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants.
Further details of the Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in

note 32(b).
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28 BRI 28 SENIOR NOTES

“ERORE —E A

2020 2019

AR T ANRWT T

RMB’000 RMB000

w—H—H As at 1 January 2,686,511 3,326,739
AN BT BT 15 Sk E TR A Net proceeds from issuing during the year 2,527,980 1,206,461
FERFE Interest for the year 487,480 320,069
FEREAT A FLE Interest paid/payable for the year (384,691) (251,445)
N RE S (e ss ) /518 Exchange (gain)/loss for the year (185,014) 49,189
i [ 4% 2f 2 4 Senior notes repurchase (1,827,381) (998,158)
HEARS Repayment of principal - (966,344)
A=+ —H As at 31 December 3,304,885 2,686,511
W B R E B Less: shown as current liabilities (1,221,429) (185,149)
Bl 5 IR TR E) A 1 Shown as non-current liabilities 2,083,456 2,501,362
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28

B A )

RoE—NEF—H=H > AN FEHH
AT A 4 $1%6 100,000,000 3 G 19 18 5
1 (DA E g ) o 58 DUt 08 JE 245
PASETCHHE » 3 5B 03 7 5 28 5 B A IR
AT T o B IO B e A AR A R
8.25% wt B o P R MK AT > BR R
FLIE ] s - A AR U
A= HE - BT B e R BT A
BABGHMYE RATYEEE #H’
BaRE— AR RE - R =F—/\F
7 4 8] 1% [1] 4 %8 /5 12,000,000 3£ 0 2 18 5
B M ZE-NE S AN AIEBREHE S
88,000,000 3 7T Z 18 55 4%
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 3 November 2016, the Company issued at par senior notes in an
aggregate principal amount of US$100,000,000 (the “Fourth Senior Notes”).
The Fourth Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the Singapore
Exchange Limited. The Fourth Senior Notes carty interest at a nominal rate
of 8.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and matured on 3
November 2019, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of
the Fourth Senior Notes is to refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund
new property projects and for general corporate purposes. During 2018, the
Company repurchased US$12,000,000 of the senior notes. During 2019, the
Company repaid US$88,000,000 of the senior notes.

On 25 April 2017, the Company further issued additional senior notes of the
Fourth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$200,000,000
(the “Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes”) listed on the Singapore
Exchange Limited. The Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes carry
interest at a nominal rate of 8.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in
arrears, and will mature on 3 November 2019, unless earlier redeemed
or repurchased. The offering price of the Additional Notes of the Fourth
Senior Notes was 101.237% of the principal amount. The other terms of the
Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes are same to the Fourth Senior
Notes. Details of the Additional Notes of the Fourth Senior Notes are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 11 April 2017. During 2019, the
Company repurchased and repaid US$200,000,000 of the senior notes.

On 11 January 2018, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Fifth Senior Notes”). The Fifth
Senior Notes are US$ denominated and listed on the Singapore Exchange
Limited. The Fifth Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 7% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 18 January
2021, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The purpose of the Fifth Senior
Notes is to refinance existing indebtedness, and to fund new property projects

and for general corporate purposes.
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SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 25 February 2019, the Company further issued additional senior notes of
the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$160,000,000
(the “Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes”) listed on the Singapore
Exchange Limited. The offering price of the Additional Notes of the Fifth
Senior Notes was 89.024% of the principal amount. The other terms of
the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are same to the Fifth Senior
Notes. Details of the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are set out in

the Company’s announcement dated 25 February 2019.

On 20 September 2019, the Group further issued additional senior notes of
the Fifth Senior Notes in an aggregate principal amount of US$40,000,000
(the “Second Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes”) listed on the
Singapore Exchange Limited. The offering price of the Additional Notes of
the Fifth Senior Notes was 91.04433% of the principal amount. The other
terms of the Second Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior Notes are same to
the Fifth Senior Notes. Details of the Additional Notes of the Fifth Senior

Notes are set out in the Company’s announcement dated 20 September 2019.

On 6 January 2020, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$200,000,000 (the “Sixth Senior Notes”) listed on the
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Singapore Exchange
Limited. The Sixth Senior Notes carry interest at a nominal rate of 12.95%
per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 14 March
2022, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased. The offering price of the
Additional Notes of the Sixth Senior Notes was 99.943 % of the principal
amount. The purpose of the Sixth Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Details of the Sixth Senior Notes are set out in the Company’s

announcement dated 6 January 2020.

2020 4E it ANNUAL REPORT 2020 261



o B A 5 A A

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRAF RN R S AN R 1517 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

28

29

B A )

RoFFELHH > A 7 45 1w (%
7 7 4 #8%170,000,000 3 JC 19 4 76 25 9%
(M5B BB - Ry 5
G A RRAR LT o LB
AR R 1425% 508 > R ER KX
A5F > B I B A B ) S I S R =
TS HIJUBE B BR IR B R R
[ o 5B LB B B EE A SN
100% > BATHELMBEEHRESELBA
B HRE > XA EEBREES K
AR R - &% 2 RE VR
T F—ATH(TEEA)) BEE
SRAR G A B4 I 0] BT A %A N SR R R
2% G5 () AT AR 478 o I M4 2 2 K I ) 5
PBARSHEMN100% - HIMERHELSEF A (R
WG H) B RER BR A RS - 5L A8
EEBENFERRAARANA -F %
EARHZTHBAEN -

DARE %t 55 53 DA By 2 S 0 19 58 5

Apaf % — AT A+ BRI
HERTH] (TR HERT &) - AL A A HEH
8 FEHE 1.00 8 T 1 ACAE 15 A 2 R BOHATE
] B Ja v =) 0 2 W) AR FT AT~ JE L
7 oOm S E BT S U R B (e 2
WG S MR 5 C A B
T 7 42 B o K B A T AN (R
EXE RS e REVEY . Xl
> ERHZ B S B o W
HoF - ARG ERER

28

29

SENIOR NOTES (Continued)

On 9 July 2020, the Company issued at par senior notes in an aggregate
principal amount of US$170,000,000 (the “Seventh Senior Notes”) listed on
the Singapore Exchange Limited. The Seventh Senior Notes carry interest
at a nominal rate of 14.25% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears,
and will mature on 9 January 2023, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased.
The offering price of the Seventh Senior Notes was 100% of the principal
amount. The purpose of the Seventh Senior Notes is to refinance existing
indebtedness, and to fund new property projects and for general corporate
purposes. Each holder of the notes has the right, at such holder’s option, to
require the Company to repurchase for cash all of such holder’s Notes, or any
portion of the principal amount on 10 January 2022 (the “Put Settlement
Date”) at the repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding
the Put Settlement Date. Details of the Seventh Senior Notes are set out in

the Company’s announcement dated 30 June 2020.

EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
which was adopted on 10 December 2012 whereby the Company has the
right to grant options to any executive, non-executive or independent non-
executive directors or any employees (whether full-time or part-time) of the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries or associated companies or any other
person whom the Directors consider, in their sole discretion, has contributed
or will contribute to the Group (“Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the
Company for a consideration of HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to the Participants. The Share
Option Scheme will remain effective for a period of ten years commencing

from 10 December 2012.
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EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

The total number of shares in respect of which options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number of shares issued
and to be issued in respect of which options granted and may be granted
to any individual in any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the
ordinary shares of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. Options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director in excess of 0.1% of the
Company’s share capital or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be

approved in advance by the Company’s shareholders.

The exercise price is determined by the Directors, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company as
stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date
of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the ordinary shares of the Company
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the grant; and (iii) the

nominal value of the ordinary shares of the Company.

All holders of options granted under the Share Option Scheme may only

exercise their options in the following manner:

Maximum percentage
of options exercisable Vesting period
25% of the options Upon the first anniversary of
the date of grant
Additional 25% of the options Upon the second anniversary
of the date of grant
Additional 25% of the options Upon the third anniversary of
the date of grant
Additional 25% of the options Upon the fourth anniversary of

the date of grant

Unless otherwise determined by the directors and specified in the offer letter
to be given to a Participant at the time of the offer of the option, there is
neither any performance target that needs to be achieved by the grantee before
an option can be exercised (the “Performance Target”) nor any minimum

period for which an option must be held before the option can be exercised.
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29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

On 23 July 2014, the Company granted 8,700,000 share options (the “2014
Options”) to certain key management personnel and employees with certain

Performance Target determined by the directors as follows:

. If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to
the period when the tranche of the 2014 Options become vested (the
“Vested Tranche”) is RMB200 million or more, the portion of the

Vested Tranche will be completely exercisable.

. If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding
to the period when the Vested Tranche is more than zero but less
than RMB200 million, the portion of the Vested Tranche will be
not exercisable, and will be automatically deferred to the next year
of vesting period and so forth until the audited net profit meets the
required RMB200 million.

. If the audited net profit of the fiscal year immediately preceding to the
period when the Vested Tranche is negative (i.e. audited net loss), the

portion of the Vested Tranche will be cancelled immediately.
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29 DHERRGSH UL Bk BEMAR S 29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(4 (Continued)
TREGBRE-Z-FFTA=1+—H The following tables disclosed movements of the 2014 Options granted under
kZF—NE+ZA=+—HIEFEERE the Share Option Schemes during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31
PO St B9 2 R — O AR IR 2 B December 2019:
)
REAESE  Nameofgmaee  RtiHH fif# fiffif ERg L LT ER%R
Outstanding as Outstanding as
at | January at 31 December
2020 & 2020 &
1 January Grant Exercised Forfeited Lapsed 31 December
Date of grant Exercisable period Exercise price 019 duringtheyear  duringtheyear  during theyear  during the year 2019
FEEEAR  Kymmgmer 2372014 237.2015-227.204 HK$L.00 2,800,000 = E 5 = 2800000
“Z-lE ZE-RELS LO0ETL
tAZtER CHERECRCRE
tAZtZH
] Employees 51201 237.2015-20.7.204 HKS$1.00 5,900,000 = = S = 5,900,000
“E-ME “E-TELA LO0ET
tAZT=R CPERECFCRE
tAZ+ZR
8,700,000 - - - - 8,700,000

BEZENE  Exercisbleat3l
FZAZF=H December 2019

wfifE 700,000
REZZZE Execsbleacdl

FIAZ4=H December 2020

Al 8,700,000
MR ZRERF—-NET A= — At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the number of shares in respect of which
H oo 8 M SRR st 8 C 5 o B R AT (Y options under the Share Option Schemes had been granted and remained
6 T HEE AT 9 B 2 A #0 B & 8,700,000 I outstanding was RMB8,700,000, representing 0.48% of the total shares of
WA FR % B 28T IR BB 0.48% the Company in issue at that date.
REBE_F_FFE+_A=+—HE=ZF During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, no share
—NWEFTZA=Z+—HILEE - A2 options were granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company, and no share
SRR I P MRt B e AT {0 T B Ak option were lapsed, under the Share Option Schemes.

1 I S PO HE SR
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29 DHERRGSH UL Bk BEMAR S 29 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED TRANSACTIONS

(4 (Continued)

R U IR P E TR R T The fair value of the 2014 Options was determined at the date of grant using,
P L G A1 7 58— &7 A8 100 0 e 1 among others, the Black-Scholes-Merton Option Pricing Model based on the
R > LA M A A R B A PR TE AR respective vesting period of the share options in accordance with the variables
H A A Y e R R A 2 R BB and assumptions based on the Directors’ best estimate upon the grant date.
FEE o AR H AR s SRR 1 A A The total estimated fair value of the share options granted on the grant date
{8 K84 £5 2,032,000 5 7T OF 5 % 40 N R was HK$2,032,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB1,603,000). During
1,603,0007C) c REE _F _FHE+ A the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company recognised total expenses of
ZEt—HIEEE  ARRMANFREZ RMB229,000 (2019: RMB229,000) in relation to share options granted by
Jif P HEE il R ) S AR N IR W 229,000 78 (Z the Company.

F— U+ NR¥229,0007C) o
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30 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised:

(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets and liabilities

The components of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position and the movements during the

year are as follows:

L FaLR
R A ~WREAR  RATH
RAREA Wik ARER
DTREEER LR R Gl Sl mE - EERRE  dBEE
EILHA: Deferred tax arising from: o OATEES ik HAER EUE (] HEnE  AvEER  ATHED FELTS g 3t
Fair value
adjustment
Vithholding on property,
taxon plantand  Changesin
Changesin  undistributed equipment  fair value of
fair value of profts Allowance  Accelerated ~ arising from financial
LT investment of PRC Tax for other @ acquisition of assets at Contract
differences properties  subsidiaries losses ~ receivables  depreciation  a subsidiary FVTPL costs Leases Total
AG#FE  ARBFT  ARETT ARETT  ARKTT  ARETT AREFT BT ARETT AREFT ARETX
RIBO00 RiB 000 R0 RaB 00 RiB 00 RiBo0 RiB0 RiBo0 BB RAMBO0 RBO0
REZ-NE-F=0 e Jaary 2019 0747 (L0 (#4248 6209 6929 (.86 (34970) 630 (9) 941 (L048916)
JigErl Recogaised in profic or o 9834 (28.466) (474 nm - - - (8,136) (L,169) 2161 (1597)
HE-HREAR Disposalofa subsidiary - - - - - 3,80 34970 - - - 38,256
REE-AEEZA A1 December 2019 and
SHRRCESE Ly 2000
F-f-n 18 (11203584 (46,722 18482 6929 = = (12031 (1618) e (L0660
RBERED Recognised i profc ot bos (16901) (18,268) 2080 (1359) - - - 3 018 2584 (30,169)
REBZRECA At31 December 2020
Bl 100380 (1,138,852) (44,042) 17,124 6929 - - (8,760) (3800 14216 (1056806)
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30

(a)
(1)

B34 S5 IR DL A O 1R

30

INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED

(#) STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)
CHBREHIEEERAE : (@) (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised: (Continued)
BB BT 0 H R (ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position
“ERORY “E A
2020 2019
AR#F AR T
RMB’000 RMB 000
&R A BRI R FERR AR AEBITH Nec deferred cax asset recognised in the
R consolidated statement of financial position 143,629 154,324
SRR E N i PR IRIERITE  Net deferred tax liability recognised in the
TR A IR D 2 R 1 A% A ot I f b
BE T4 consolidated statement of financial position (1,200,435) (1,180,961)
(1,056,8006) (1,026,637)

A% T 50 0% HE BV

R B 5 200) T 010 & 5T BOR > A I
e RR 2 R s 1RO\ R 13,154,000 70
(ZF— L+ AR ¥ 12,957,000 C) 19 1E
MERLIEE E o (R A BB RS R
S KT B A R A M RRUB U A A b4 A
W 4H o RABHATRLL > h BB 2 7 B A
(¥ i TE s 4R A B s R A A LT S
AN JiE i o

AT R HE B I A

WS EFERE M FF ) FE—H—
HBEG > b 2%\ A i Bl B AG 3as ) E
IR NI ke ) WA A DEANC K
I B RSN 100 TN BT AR » TER
A A BT R AR S S 9 1 1B BB R
(M98 ) o Bk b 4t £ f o 2 e 0 2 0 9 o
2 T a8 R R 348 0 o BT 0 B A B A
RoF-FE+T A=+ —H > WERA
TRE)NAFE—H— A T B E A R &
ARM1531HEIL (CE—JUE: AR¥
1,363 H B 70) W8k T 4~ B i AR TR AT (T8
HERE TR A o D PR A 4 ) 0 5% S5 I
AR AT TR P gk o 0 T 43 () T
SERAM RS > B R A AE W) T RS AR AR
AIREAS & 43 (] o

(b)

Deferred tax assets not recognised

In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(t), the Group
has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of
RMB13,154,000 (2019: RMB12,957,000) as it is not probable that future
taxable profits against which the losses can be utilised will be available in the
relevant tax jurisdiction and entity. The tax losses incurred by the subsidiary
in the PRC will expire within 5 years from the year when such losses were

incurred under current tax legislation.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

Under the CIT Law, starting from 1 January 2008, 10% withholding income
tax is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned in year 2008
onwards and distributed to foreign investors for companies established in the
PRC. For investors incorporated in Hong Kong, a preferential rate of 5%
will be applied where appropriate. Other than the PRC withholding income
tax provided in respect of undistributed profits of PRC subsidiaries as above,
no deferred taxation has been provided for the remaining retained profits of
approximately RMB 1,531 million as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB
1,363 million), which was derived from the PRC subsidiaries since 1 January
2008 as the Group has set aside such sum for non-distributable purpose, and
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it
is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.
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31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(@) Movements in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each
component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s
individual components of equity between the beginning and the end of the

year are set out below:

ANk Company
Bk Rt PR R G f itk it
Shate options Accumulated
Share Capital Share premium Special reserve reserve losses Total
it AG#TE AR T NG NERT NERTR AW
Note RIBO0 RMBO0 RMBI0 RMBY0O RMBO0 RMBOD
Wisio  (Hibswon)  (HSEsudi) (it )
(note 31(c) (note 31(d)0) (note 31(d)(i) (note 29)
ENE-A-H Balanceat | January 2019
b 4 113099 11614 319,707 1093 (17,520 0516
“ENERGRE: Changes in equity for 2019:
ERAmIEAE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - (1712537 (172530
HEERERIRE Dividends decared in respect of he
\ previos year 31(b)i) - - (30,120) - - (30,120)
DERE ARG AR Equity seteled share-besed transactions
kY] Y - - - 0 - 0
REB-NETZR Balance at 31 December 2019 and
SH-RRCEZRE 1 January 2000
~H-Rekk 113099 476, 89587 1y (690063) 190,088
“RCREERA: Changes in equity for 2020:
ERAERGLE Total comprehensive income for he year - - - - 313,056 313,056
LEERERIRE Dividends declared in tespect of the
‘ previous year 31(b)i) - - (26313) - - (26313)
DERERURBBER  Equiy seted sharebusd tansactions
ik ¥ - - - 0 - 0
REZZRELZR Balance at 31 December 2020
Eanibd i 113099 {1614 263,74 1351 B77.007) 477,060
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31 HAR - Gl BB () 31

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

b KR (b) Dividends
W) FEREMNEL A s RFENRE (i)  Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company in respect of
the year:
me Jwe <3 “EEF
2020 2019
AN BT ANRET T
RMB’000 RMB'000
EE IR IR PR E A ZE (2 Interim dividend declared and paid is nil
— L FIRE) (2019: nil per share) = =
Wk R ERO AR YRE B Final dividend proposed after the end
F(ZF—JUE AR 0.014  of the reporting period is nil per share
Jt) (2019: RMB 0.014 per share) = 25,834
- 25,834

TR IR > s R A% Al 1 R BB
ARSI A -

Gi)  FRBWERIRA AL~ BEEIEEL i)

The final dividend proposed after the end of the reporting period has not been

recognised as a liability at the end of the reporting period.

Dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable

] 78 IR IR to the previous financial year, approved and paid during the year
e Jwe 2:3 “EIUEF
2020 2019
ARET T ARH T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERAEUE IR0 & — A BUE LAY Final dividend in respect of the previous financial
AR B RN R 0.014 78 year, approved and paid during the year,
(ZE—NF - BRARYE of RMB0.014 per share
0.0177C) (2019: RMB0.017 per share) 26,313 30,120

B B A ) B 2 84T 19 1,802,456,000
3 R o

BBRE - Z-NETF A=+ —HILEE
BRI B S > =B — JUEAE B T4
2 oP T 48 R 1 oK 309 A S LA IR L o R UR
) &40 2 M7 7E AR 479,000 00 (%
— A &) W25 BT Bl i E
FT— JUAEAF SN 5 HO Y [ 72 T =R v
T S 49 (L BEL R ) D300 R R 2 T
N W S O T R 25 TR o

The calculation of dividend per share is based on 1,802,456,000 ordinary

shares in issue.

In respect of the final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2019,
there is a difference of RMB479,000 (2018: nil) between the final dividend
disclosed in the 2019 annual financial statements and amounts approved and
paid during the year, which is mainly due to the RMB/HKD exchange rate
difference between the fixed middle average exchange rate on the date of the
2019 annual result announcement and the actual exchange rate applied on

the date of payment.
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CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

JRE A (c) Share capital
HIE Authorised:
SECRER RN
2020 and 2019
Jetr 0 H SHRT
No. of shares Amount US$
(TH) Tz
("000) ‘000
B BEE(E 0.01 FEICH S @I (—F Ordinary shares of US$0.01 each
—JLE 1 0.01 ETC) (2019: US$0.01) 3,000,000 30,000
C AT B 1 R Ordinary shares issued and fully paid:
“RIRE “E-NE
2020 2019
et % H W ARWEM Tefn 8 H SE ARWBEE
No. of Amount RMB No. of Amount RMB
shares usSh equivalent shares USD equivalent
(FR) F#x Fr (T FEL Fr
(000) 000 000 (000) 000 000
AT ZH=1—H  At31 December 1,802,456 18,025 113,099 1,802,456 18,025 113,099

WA A N AT OROR B IR Z IS i
ATRAR AR & Bt BB 8 — 5 - B
e R A R 2 TR TR A
Al o

fo A L e 78

Wt vt 1

A i 4 AR 2 ) B PB4 A (BB AT A
B P S B ] PR 473 S AT R X
Z MR o RAEP 2 WS AR B
i 1B R T (A0 U T A R BOR > M B
A IRBR BIAR > AL FIHBEN IR
— JBCES AR P B AT B G o

(d)
@)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s

residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

Share premium

The share premium represents the difference between the par value of the
shares of the Company and the proceeds received from the issuance of shares
or the consideration paid for the repurchased shares of the Company. Under
the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium account is
distributable to shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to be distributed,
the Company will be in a position to repay its debts as they fall due in the

ordinary course of business.
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31 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i)  Special reserve

e e
2020 2019
AR¥ T ANRETT
RMB’000 RMB 000

7R (A) Deemed distributions (A) (25,296) (25,296)
?ﬁi%ﬁt%—k (B) (C) Deemed contributions (B) (C) 78,629 78,629

FH(ERR IO EEZR E(D) Amount arising on Reorganisation

(as defined below) (D) 105,936 105,936
ke B = 0 S AE 2 5EL(E) Amount arising from acquisition (E) 395,332 395,332
BB () Dividends (F) (434,928) (408,615)
119,673 145,986

AR LT A 4 TR A % TR 2 FA 0

A RZE-FERCE——F WA

AR5l Ay N R 12,113,000 76 & A
[ 513,183,000 7C > F5 ME UG o 4
[ 7 B A A PR A A (7 o & 5
o ) BRI A & B LA #ER
1 2 - (B 2 T A0 25 38 > 1 5 Al Aok A
B o NP T R R KR
AN (B AR s AR
WIEE B IR AL SRR 2R
i i 7

B M FE—FEAHATABKESR
B R LA BRA ] ([ St B PR B ])
o B Je 2 ) R e s E AR
55 ) G rE o A e T R R
WerE A RE - R CF
— T ZAZ T H IR %
48 15 8 A 5] R 7 B W r 4 i
7 KT B 4 7 A A H
3 A A 4 B R 2 A 4 B 2 T Y
2B 11,597,000 0 A RS £ 48
A 1) 5 £k A AL 3

Special reserve comprises amounts arising as a result of the followings:

A

In 2010 and 2011, deemed distribution of RMB12,113,000 and
RMB13,183,000 respectively representing the difference between the
principal amount of the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate”)
and its fair value at initial recognition were charged to the special
reserve. The fair value is determined by discounting the estimated
future cash flows throughout the expected life of the advance (that is,

from date of advance to expected repayment date).

Subsequent to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
Corporation Limited (“Golden Wheel International Corporation”)
and its subsidiary Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June
2012, the Group waived Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate from
repaying the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate.
The difference between the amount due from Nanjing Golden Wheel
Real Estate carried at amortised cost and the principal amount
of the amount due by Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate to the
Group at date of waiver of RMB11,597,000 was credited as deemed
contribution to the special reserve during the year ended 31 December
2012.
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G ~ il s BB B 40)
A EE & ()
HEBI A (45)

€

T E— A NR$67,032,000 70
2 AT IR R K SR R e B R
A BRI 2 LA 1m0 5 B ot A 4R 0

1 By Bl A 0 = I 0 1 7 45 Wi 58 i
w2 EA (TEHD B —
Wy SmdERA WA (2w
R)RZF—-ZFANATNH K
EEwmEBEREaRAE (&R
B ) Z100% BAE > B A
Ih] 5 IRf 2 J SR #17 1,000,000 I A8 24
) R T AR E) S HAR A AR
EEZERAR - NEE_F—Z
FHA=Zt—HIFE AR¥
105,936,000 G E 71 A 5 Fll 5% i > it
T A ) J A T 40 N R 64,000
TC B 4 i I P 4 AR T A N R
# 106,000,000 T Z 2 4 ©

RN —F—ZFANHTANBZE
iy [ % B 3 T R e b U
5 = TH > 4 N R 395,332,000 70
(B« Gy A2 A) O 8 AT i A 1 i B2
4 i () % L 3 % m T 4 i s b E 5
FEEFHEZATEZEZH (K
TE 7 o A s P R 2 M
ReWmBEEARAR (HRERE
Hiwl) 7.50% M HE B B N 4 i 7 b
BH B A BR A A ([ 455 0 4 5 Hb 2 |)
3.75% M HE 2 A TE) 5 K Gi) E AT AR
16 B I 458 M i o oS B < R B A ) OF
Vet ERE S AR IR E
EHE) BFARE T "%+ H
= B R AR 2 R A o

ZE BRI EIRIE -

31
(d
(i)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Special reserve (Continued)

€

An amount of RMB67,032,000 due to the then shareholders was
waived from repayment and was credited as deemed contribution to

special reserve in 2012.

As part of the reorganisation for preparing for the listing of
the Company’s shares on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (the
“Reorganisation”), Golden Wheel Jade Company Limited (“Golden
Wheel Jade”) acquired 100% equity interest in Golden Wheel
International Investment Limited (“Golden Wheel International
Investment”) on 18 June 2012 through issuance of 1,000,000 ordinary
shares in the Company to the then shareholders, and the Company
became the holding company of the Group thereafter. The amount of
RMB 105,936,000 credited to special reserve during the year ended 31
December 2012 represented the difference between the nominal value
of share capital of the Company of approximately RMB 64,000 and
the nominal value of the share capital of Golden Wheel International

Investment of approximately RMB106,000,000.

Pursuant to the acquisition of Golden Wheel International
Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate on 18 June 2012,
an aggregate amount of RMB 395,332,000 being (i) the difference
between the nominal value of share capital issued by the Company
and the fair value of the consolidated net assets of Golden Wheel
International Corporation and Nanjing Golden Wheel Real Estate
(excluding fair value of 7.50% equity interest in Nanjing Jade Golden
Wheel Realty Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Jade Golden Wheel”) and 3.75%
equity interest in Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate Development
Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Golden Wheel Real Estate”) held by Nanjing
Golden Wheel Real Estate); and (ii) the difference between the
consideration paid and the carrying amount of net assets attributable
to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries being acquired from the
non-controlling shareholder, was credited to special reserve during the

year ended 31 December 2012.

Amount represents the dividend declared against special reserve.
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)
(i)

(iv)

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations as well as the
effective portion of any foreign exchange differences arising from hedges of
the net investment in these foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in

accordance with the accounting policies set out in note 2(w).

Surplus reserve
In accordance with relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and the articles

of association of the PRC subsidiaries:

(i)  PRC subsidiaries registered as sino-foreign joint venture:

The PRC subsidiaries may, at the discretion of board of directors of
the PRC subsidiaries, transfer a portion of their profit after taxation
reported in their statutory financial statements prepared under the

applicable PRC accounting standards to the surplus reserve.

(ii)  PRC subsidiaries registered as wholly-foreign invested enterprise or

domestic limited liability company:

The PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their
profit after taxation reported in their statutory financial statements
prepared under the applicable PRC accounting standards to the

surplus reserve.

The appropriation to surplus reserve may cease if the balance of the
surplus reserve has reached 50% of the relevant PRC subsidiaries’

registered capital.

The surplus reserve can be used to make up losses or for conversion into
capital. The PRC subsidiaries may, upon the approval by a resolution of
the owners, convert their surplus reserve into capital in proportion to their
then existing capital contribution. However, when converting the PRC
subsidiaries’ surplus reserve into capital, the balance of such reserve remaining

unconverted must not be less than 25% of their registered capital.
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(e)

32

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Continued)

Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can maximize
the return to shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity

balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The directors actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associates with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-

backs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises in the
normal course of the Group’s business. The Group is also exposed to equity
price risk arising from its equity investments in other entities and movements

in its own equity share price.

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk management
policies and practices used by the Group to manage these risks are described

below.

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual
obligations resulting in a financial loss to the Group. As at 31 December

2020 and 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is arising from:

(i)  the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

(i) the amounts of contingent liabilities in relation to financial guarantees

issued by the Group as disclosed in note 34.
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(a)

(1)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
After obtaining a minimum of 30% to 50% (2019: 30% to 50%) down

payment from its customers for property sale business, the Group would
usually provide guarantees to banks in connection with its customers’
mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties, for the period
before property certificates are issued to the relevant customers. If a customer
defaults on the payment of his mortgage during the term of guarantee, the
bank may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan
and any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to forfeit the customer’s deposit and re-sell the property to recover any
amounts payable by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors

consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Trade receivables

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in IFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The ECL on trade receivables
are assessed collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings,
based on the past default experience of the debtor, general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forward-looking information that is available

without undue cost or effort at the end of the year.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

The Group has policies in place to ensure that property sales are made to
purchasers with an appropriate financial strength and appropriate percentage
of down payments. It also has other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews regularly the recoverable amount of each individual trade receivables
to ensure that adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk, with exposure

spread over a large number of counterparties and customers.
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(a)

(i)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables arising from operating leases

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade
receivable in respect of the rental income, with exposure spread over a large
number of customers in the PRC. In order to minimize the credit risk, the
management of the Group continuously monitors the level of exposure by
frequent review of the credit evaluation of the financial condition and credit
quality of its customers to ensure that follow-up actions and/or corrective
actions are taken promptly to lower the risk exposure or to recover overdue
balances. The credit risk of trade receivables arising from operating leases
is limited because counterparties make deposits into the Group when they
sign the leasing contracts and the deposits can be forfeited if counterparties

default.

Amount due from associates and joint ventures

For amount due from associates and joint ventures, management makes
periodic collective assessments as well as individual assessment on the
recoverability of amount due from associates and joint ventures based on
historical settlement records and past experience. The directors believe that
there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding balance of

amount due from associates and joint ventures.

Bank balances and restricted bank deposits

The Group has concentration of credit risk in respect of bank balances and
restricted bank deposits. At 31 December 2020, approximately 44% (2019:
34%) of the total bank balances and restricted bank deposits were deposited
at 3 (2019: 3) banks, representing deposits at each bank with a balance
exceeding 10% of total bank balances and restricted bank deposits. The credit
risk of these liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are state-
owned banks located in the PRC or banks with high credit ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.
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(a)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)
Financial assets measured at FVTOCI

The Group’s financial assets measured at FVTOCI mainly comprise listed
bonds. In 2020, bonds amounting to RMB 3,834,000 held by the Group have
been defaulted. During the year ended 31 December 2020, expected credit
losses on financial assets measured at FVTOCI amounting to RMB3,930,000

was recognised in the profit or loss.

The management of the Group believe that the Group’s credit risk in trade

receivables is not high, and ECL is insignificant.

The following tables show reconciliation of loss allowances that has been

recognised for financial assets measured at FVTOCI.

2T
i S0l R (B 2k
i B )

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)
ANREFTT
RMB'000
REB-NUEFZH=Z+—H As at 31 December 2019
£ T R 3 (LA Impairment losses recognised (2,287)
RERZFREFZAZT—H As at 31 December 2020
RSN Eis Impairment losses recognised (3,930)

78 8 e e

A A B R A R O B M e
BRAEZE » DAME S A 00 A 0 O o8 1 A P
Ko AEMAEFAEEHY LEBB SR
BE MR R -

AR > KEERBTEHNREEZ
B (REHE LHEWEELE 2
RS WA) L RRE RRITME > E
A5 WA SR B AR A B IS
S 5 3 R R R AR R R AR A 2 B
WA B 5 AT

(b)

Liquidity risk

The management of the Group has built an appropriate liquidity risk
management framework for short-term funding and liquidity management
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring

forecasted and actual cash flows.

As at the end of the reporting period, the directors are satisfied that the
Group will have sufficient financial resources to meet its financial obligations
as they full due for the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period after taking into consideration internal generated funds from operating
activities, including proceeds from sales and pre-sales of properties and rental

income, and the unutilised banking facilities.
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(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities at the end of
the reporting period of the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities, which
are based the agreed repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based
on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank loans
with a repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise their rights.
The maturity dates for other non-derivative financial liabilities are based on
the agreed repayment dates. The tables include both interest and principal
cash flows. To the extent that interest flows are for floating rate instruments,
the undiscounted amount is derived based on interest rate outstanding at the

end of each reporting period.

“EIRE
2020
BRARMBB R
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

MEEFy Ik EYER AMBEE RANE
BRME  AR-E ARLE LEDE REAE  WREHE

Weighted
average  Ondemand  Over one year Total Carrying
effective  orlessthan  but less than Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate one year five years five years cash flows 31 December
% ARETT AREFL ARETT ARETT AREFL
% RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
BITHHK Bank loans 7.1 1,962,415 1,007,220 - 2,969,635 2,811,506
HEAE Lease liabiliies 6.4 41372 189,963 86,816 324,151 261,050

B 5 B A Trade and other payables

(BESS - 2,090,044 85,095 - ITI39 2175139
BIERE Senior notes 1274 1265966 2,763,126 - 4029092 3304885
BB HE IR & &) Financial guarantee contracts - 268,605 - - 268,605 -
5,034,402 4,045,404 86,816 9,766,622 8,552,580
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32 SPEBEARSBTHATME 32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(#) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) LBk R Bt (4) (b)  Liquidity risk (Continued)
L S
2019
BHANBB S
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
¥4 WEKS  —FMER KEBHE  RAnA
B A% AR5 AREHE IEUE A f %
Weighted
average Ondemand  Over one year Total Cartying
effective or less than but less than Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate one year five years five years cash flows 31 December
% ARWFr AREFTr AREFT AEETT ARKFTFL
% RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
RATRK Bank loans 5 2,684,144 1,545,635 - 4,229,779 3,741,793
HEA M Lease liabilicies 64 44,798 200,123 129,064 373,985 292,467
B o R H A Trade and other payables
g ¢ - 1,808,858 - - 1,808,858 1,808,858
W R Senior notes 957 191,668 2,888,147 - 3,079,815 2,686,511
WBIERA 4 Financial guarantee contracts - 317,790 - - 317,790 -
5,047,258 4,633,905 129,064 9,810,227 8,529,629
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(b)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand or less than one year” time band in the above maturity analysis.
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their discretionary

rights to demand immediate repayment.

The total undiscounted cash flows of financial guarantee contracts disclosed
above was the maximum amount the Group could be required to settle under
the arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount was claimed
by the counterparties to the guarantee. Based on expectations at the end of
the reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not
amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate is
subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty claiming
under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that the financial

receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for non-
derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end

of the reporting period.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to the
variable rate bank borrowings, structured bank deposits and bank balances
of the Group. The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to its fixed rate restricted bank deposits, bank borrowings and senior
notes and bonds. The Group currently does not have a specific policy to
manage its interest rate risk, but will closely monitor the interest rate risk

exposure in the future.

2020 4E it ANNUAL REPORT 2020 281



R B R B
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(17 P HE s 2 2 AN B 5 7 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

32 SPEBEARSBTHATME 32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(%) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) *IJ %EL Fﬁ (#5) (c) Interest rate risk (Continued)
T AR A5 T i A AR B R A The following table details the interest rate of the Group’s borrowings at the

end of the reporting period.

- - 2 —E -
2020 2019
HBAIR IR
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
% AR % ARWETFIC
RMB000 RMB'000
W] 52 ) AR K Fixed rate borrowings:
HEAR Lease liabilicies 6.40% 261,050 6.40% 292,467
RITENR Bank loans 4.85%—12% 331,238 12% 340,226
B Senior notes 7.88%-17.18% 3,304,885  7.88%-17.18% 2,686,511
. 38713 3,319,204
CE ZES ¢ Variable rate borrowings:
SRITER Bank loans 1.45%-6.51% 2,480,268 2.99%—6.65% 3,401,567
2480268 3,401,567
[ b Total borrowings 6,377,441 6,720,771
FE] 78 I 306 F A 3K Fixed rate borrowings as
BMENE N a percentage of total
borrowings 61% 49%
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(c)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2020, it is estimated that a general increase/decrease of 100
basis points in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately RMB18,602,000 (2019: RMB26,375,000).

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous change in the
Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and other components of
consolidated equity that would arise assuming that the change in interest
rates had occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been applied
to re-measure those financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at the end of the reporting period.
In respect of the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating
rate non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end of the reporting
period, the impact on the Group’s profit after tax (and retained profits) and
other components of consolidated equity is estimated as an annualised impact
on interest expense or income of such a change in interest rates. The analysis

is performed on the same basis as 2019.

Currency risk

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through financial
instruments which give rise to cash and bank balance, bank loans and senior
notes that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than
the functional currency of the operations to which the transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily United States dollars (US$)
and Hong Kong dollars (HK$).

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy.
However, the management of the Group monitors foreign exchange exposure
and will consider hedging significant foreign exchange exposure should the

need arises.
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32 SPEBEARSBTHATME 32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(%) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
d) B E) (d) Currency risk (Continued)

T 5 A% A T i K BT T B The following table details the Group’s exposure at the end of the reporting
JaBg T3 R DAAH B R R T R B RLAN Y period to currency risk arising from recognised assets or liabilities
BWGHEN TR EE A ERE - A denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to
28 BesmAnaEELSE B which they relate. For presentation purposes, the amounts of the exposure are
M 2R 54 o N R SR o #5508 5P 367 shown in RMB, translated using the spot rate at the year end date. Differences
MHHREEAREMEINEWIELZEH resulting from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations
W AEIEIEN o into the Group’s presentation currency are excluded.

T 5 S B B (DA R B

Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in RMB)

SRR “E—RF
2020 2019
e Wi FIT Ew
US$ HKS$ US$ HKS$
AR NS n AR ¥TT ANR¥TF T
RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000
B BRAT A5 B Cash and bank 191,993 33,098 4,434 39,547
MATEK Bank loans (326,245) (1,302,413) (111,619) (1,449,035)
Bt Senior notes (3,304,885) - (2,686,511) -
5 5 I F At e it
HIH Trade and other receivables = 2,031 - 71
B 5 R Ab AT
WA Trade and other payables (103,354) (9,517) (82,601) (5,881)
MERREE RAME  Net exposure arising from
17T 28 A= 1V JE e recognised assets
and liabilities (3,542,491) (1,276,801) (2,876,297) (1,415,298)
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous change in the Group’s profit

after tax (and retained profits) that would arise if foreign exchange rates

to which the Group has significant exposure at the end of the reporting

period had increased at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained

constant.
“EFE “F N
2020 2019
decrease decrease
Increase in profit after Increase in profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange rates  retained profits exchange rates retained profits
Bt 4% Hin PR B 12 i 1
B A B i A B B i A
A JE % | T+ TBE  ShERESR BT T
ANRET T ARBT T
RMB 000 RMB’000
5% (177,125) 5% (143,815)
5% (63,840) 5% (70,765)

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of

the inherent foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not represent

the exposure during the year.
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32

1)

S BT P T LA i
(#)

A

PR -F At i 2 287 R A
LFESH

AR O Bt i 5 2R 13 98 - (it
BT REZ WA TESS > REEHA
HREHREHRZARMEMTAZA
TEEFRTE - A VEFEEHZF
B9 UL £ 5575 % B R A R 2 W]
TS I e T AR T R

T A L8 LE ST N ¢
B 00 o 3
BT 2 R S B A

o A TERAHE : SEMGE A
IR REAT & 3 — S AT (>
DL AN B R AN T 8 5 i A (L T
BACFE AT BEmAEERA
R B i 357 0 2 g A (E

o ESHEE R TR B
AERHEAT

A UNS T i Recurring fair value

measurement
SHEE Financial assets:
i PO R Listed equity securities
Aiifie Listed bonds
IR B R AR E Ungquoted equity investments
TR S Insurance and funds

32

(e)
@)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13,
Fair value measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement is
classified is determined with reference to the observability and significance of

the inputs used in the valuation technique as follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs
i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities at the measurement date

. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e.
observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using significant unobservable

inputs

e e 22

+=A REFZFEHZA=—H

v LTRSS
ZANFA Fair value measurements as at
e 31 December 2020 categorised into

31 December B B B
2020 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ARBTFI ARBFI ANRETT ARBF I
RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000 RMB 000
39,966 39,966 - =
3,834 3,834 - -
192,440 - - 192,440
93,255 - - 93,255
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S B Rk T AL
(#)

AFAEEHR (40)

YA T2 8RB ERALE (4)
/k%//f[ “"‘4 453‘)

APA

RHEAPER  Recurring fair value
measurement

SRERE Financial assets:

bR AR S Listed equity securities

&S Listed bonds

SR A Ungquoted equity investments

BE_ZFZ-_LTER_F-AFE+A

:+*HEEF %*& LA ARG A

TR U A B O =R o AR
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32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(e)  Fair value measurement (Continued)

(1)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

REF—HE
+=h Ko fE+ A =t+—H
i 2T EAES
2N Fair value measurements as at
Tfealnes 31 December 2019 categorised into
31 December —%& B =8
2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
AR¥TT AR¥T T AR¥TI AR¥T T
RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
5,925 5,925 - -
7,763 7,763 -
203,144 - - 203,144

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no transfers

between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group’s

policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the

end of the reporting period in which they occur.

Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair value measurements

The fair value of structured bank deposits in Level 2 is determined by
discounting cash flow at a discount rate that reflects the expected future

economic benefits at the end of the reporting period.
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32 SPEBEARSBTHATME 32 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

(#) VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

) ATFEFIE %) (e) Fair value measurement (Continued)

1) URFlFEZeHMEERAE () (1)  Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)
F R =R T (H 721 B Information about Level 3 fair value measurements
F LT Hﬁzl-‘ BREZAFEIERATTE L The fair value of unlisted equity investments is determined using the price/
B A A 2 B4R (A H B G = book ratios of comparable listed companies adjusted for lack of marketability
T 5 A Be ) 2 Pl fF th 9 8 e - Bt discount. The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the discount
Z T3 WA e ) 2 AT R A T R B for lack of marketability. As at 31 December 2019, it is estimated that with
WERZE R E—NFET+ A=+ all other variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount for lack of
H o st e A A & A 2 B marketability by 1% would have increased/decreased the Group’s equity by
T RZ G AR S IR R RMB1,760,000 (2019: RMB1,858,000).

TN 19 > A SE [ 2 BE 25016 45 B 88 I/ e
AN E#1,760,00070 (T —JL4F AR
1,858,000 7C) ©

BEMATEF RGO AZH 0T The movement during the period in the balance of Level 3 fair value

measurements is as follows:

e Jwe 23 “EIUEF
2020 2019
ANRWT T ANRWTIT
RMB’000 RMB 000
TEHRE R AR Unquoted equity investments:
n—H—H At 1 January 203,144 173,002
ST R A B R R 5 B i Net unrealised gains or losses recognised
B 15 A in profit or loss during the period (10,704) 30,142
it —-H=+—H At 31 December 192,440 203,144
ASE B FRAE R G B 1 2 SR E AR G R Any gains or losses arising from the remeasurement of the Group’s unquoted
B s T AR A i i K 1R A 8 equity investments held for strategic purposes are recognised in the profit or
TR o loss.
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(e)
(i)

REZZFEFZA=+—H

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair
value

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments carried at cost or
amortised cost were not materially different from their fair values as at 31
December 2020 and 2019 except for the following financial instruments, for

which their carrying amounts and fair value are disclosed below:

R-F—-NEFZA=Z+—H

At 31 December 2020 At 31 December 2019

T i A iR T (L NFE
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
A BT C ANRHT L AR T T ANREFT T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
e E (AL Senior notes (including
AR interest payable) 3,498,448 3,260,339 2,771,548 2,661,420
3 4 33 COMMITMENTS

S LSV ESETEY Tl
S e P AR

Contracted for

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2020 not provided for in

the financial statements were as follows:

S
2020 2019
ARBFT — ARETT
RMB’000 RMB 000
713,110 614,385
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34 ARAHE 34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

REFZFE RFIUE

+=A +=HA
=t—H =t+—H
At 31 December At 31 December
2020 2019
AR AR T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARER B HEF mRIT IR HHE  Mortgage loan guarantees provided by the Group
B IER to banks in favour of its customers 268,605 317,790
LSRR SRAT IR RN % 5 1) SRATER SEAH B These guarantees will be released upon receiving the property ownership
Wy SE 1 ) 3 T A RE AR AR A L e R certificate of the respective properties by the banks from the customers as
FEPR SR B e by - A > AL EZ a pledge for security to the mortgage loans granted. In the opinion of the
S B AR IR 40900 1R AR Y 2 PRI A directors, the fair values of these financial guarantee contracts of the Group
Ko H 2% ) A 5 B W3 R I 49T g at initial recognition are insignificant and the directors consider that the
PERAR » HOBE BRI DR 45T S SO = possibility of default by the purchasers of the Group’s properties is remote.
FERERZE-NFET = —HE Accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception of the guarantee
AR EE - contracts and as at 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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35 HEBH B Bk 35 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
@ FEEMHABHM (a) Key management personnel remuneration
AL AN BB (RLFE 5 Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including
B 5% 8 T B 5k o 48 7 19 A AR 2 R #E 5 Ik amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 8 and certain of
By e B R B R o the highest paid employees as disclosed in note 9.
(b) W TR W ek O (b) Amounts due from related parties
e Jme 22 —E-NE
2020 2019
AR AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
N Associates 13,350 13,920
EEME Joint ventures 97,077 31,145
110,427 45,065
(c) WEAT B 7 2k 0E (c) Amounts due to related parties
e Jme 22 —E-NEE
2020 2019
AR AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
T 2 Associates 155,377 323,428
HEt Joint ventures 104,766 115,431
260,143 438,859
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36 4 ) J i WA IR DL R 36 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION
= = 7 SR S
TZHA=+—H +ZA=1+—H
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
k3 ARWT ANRET
Note RMB'000 RMB000
FER B Non-current assets
RMHE AT 2 BOE RN E AT Investments in subsidiaries and amounts
HH due from subsidiaries 4,054,940 3,742,091
NEBEEEL R Interests in joint ventures 406,855 378,066
HibhsmgrE Other financial assets 52,909 18,523
VEN & Property, plant and equipment 12 16
. - . 4138696
TWH A Current assets
B 5 F FoAb R Ui IR Trade and other receivables 2,957 9,448
e kB e%EY Cash and cash equivalents 48,054 41,779
. LU 51,227
LR Current liabilities
B 5 BT 308 Trade and other payables 194,205 91,792
MATE Bank loans 589,577 1,221,532
BREEE Senior notes 1,221,429 185,149
N Netcureen liabilicies ] 1954200 1447246
O N B AL Total assets less current liabilities 2,560,516 2,691,450
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36 2 W] Jgi R B () 36 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION (Continued)
ZRIFE ZE—JUE
+ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H
31 December 31 December
2020 2019
i3 AREF AR IEFI
Note RMB'000 RMB000
I B E Non-current liability
BEEE Senior notes 2,083,456 2,501,362
- .2 2L 2,501,362
gt NET ASSETS 477,060 190,088
AR R fit CAPITAL AND RESERVES 31(a)
A Share capital 113,099 113,099
i Reserves 363,961 76,989
HRERS TOTAL EQUITY 477,060 190,088
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T A B 35 0 08 A SR TR A R R
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37

38

NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE
REPORTING PERIOD

Issuing of senior notes

On 12 January 2021, the Company issued additional Seventh senior notes in
an aggregate principal amount of US$85,000,000 (the “2023 due US$ senior
notes”). The 2023 due US$ senior notes are denominated in United States
dollars and listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
The 2023 due US$ senior notes carry interest at a coupon rate of 14.25% per
annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and will mature on 9 January 2023,
with an option to the holders of the senior notes to require the Company to

repurchase the senior notes on 10 January 2022.

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING
PARTY

At 31 December 2020, the directors consider the immediate parent of the
Group to be Golden Wheel Realty Company Limited, which is incorporated
in The British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling party is Mr. Wong
Yam Yin and his family (the “Wong Family”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(BRFE I 2 21 2 AN B H$ DY 77 ) (Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

TR R RE =R R4
T 0 = — HORAE A
W)~ BT o e R O A

HEZFMB WK SN A Y g
AHERIEE g OB E TREE F =%
FHZA=t - RIRFE MR HZE
SVR 5 0 3% ¥ R R A A /T R RT HE B >
I P A R RSB 17 5% > RER B A © %
FREHROFETREAEBAROLT
KIH o

39

I S 85 o M RS 3 R IERT A& > 2 E S HEH

Amendments to IFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual Framework

BB e st E RS 16 BB RT A WK W7 Rk - (EHEE T T T g sl |
Amendments to IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use

I i R HE SR 37 SRERT A > IR ) — IR 1T 8 A9 A

Amendments to IAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

VR S o YR R 5 — AR R R AR M 2 A O
Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle

AL B IEAE RS R R B R AR
HEE T T A F R 2 o BT > AR B
PR 6 i 2 R A 5% S A T BB T e RN K ]
G MBMRELERNYE -

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2020

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has issued a
number of amendments and a new standard, IFRS 17, Insurance contracts,
which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2020 and which
have not been adopted in these financial statements. These developments

include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

BT HH Rz R
B B B 87 T3] 2 2
Effective for accounting periods

beginning on or after

SR H
1 January 2022
X HF—H—H
1 January 2022
X HF—H—H
1 January 2022
X HF—H—H
1 January 2022

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the impact of
these developments is expected to be in the period of initial application. So
far it has concluded that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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Summary of Financial Information

BET-A=Z+—HILEE

For the year ended 31 December

ROBE —E-NE ZF—-NE ZE—LE ZF—AE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ANRETIE AREFT AREFLT ARWETFLT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
Ed RESULTS
A Revenue 1,389,119 1,605,448 1,446,354 2,303,505 940,765
W B i it Profit before taxation 126,766 452,875 793,991 859,402 451,721
FiIH Taxation (76,521) (200,347) (451,735) (373,941) (186,345)
A 1A 16 A1) Profit for the year 50,245 252,528 342,256 485,461 265,376
DI AN AL Attributable to:
7% ) AR i P SR Equity shareholders
of the Company 34,788 252,561 342,256 485,461 265,376
12 O A Non-controlling interest 15,457 (33) - - -
HREF - AR Earnings per share RMB
HAR Basic 0.019 0.140 0.190 0.269 0.147
3 Diluted 0.019 0.140 0.190 0.269 0.147
R ARE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
i § 2973 Total assets 17,159,296 16,229,874 13,914,515 10,905,331 10,038,573
AR Total liabilities (12,239,350)  (11,399,238)  (9,306,211)  (6,568,197)  (6,109,155)
4,919,946 4,830,636 4,608,304 4,337,134 3,929,418
257 ) 1 A R SR Equity attributable to
JRE 5 HE 4 Equity shareholders
of the Company 4,827,050 4,817,197 4,608,304 4,337,134 3,929,418
TV 45 Non-controlling interest 92,896 13,439 - - -
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Ot TLRE %

Wk WEAWR

No.

Name of Property

4 I 3 o

Golden Wheel International

Plaza

o EaTE
Golden Wheel Waltz

£ NI
Golden Wheel Building

A M
Golden Wheel

Time Square

MR F R A
Nanjing Jade Garden

5 0 R g
Golden Wheel
Green Garden

ot 4 S

Golden Wheel New Metro

& LA IR

Golden Wheel Star Plaza

FEYER

Schedule of Principal Properties

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Completed Investment Properties

ik

Location

R VTR 74 A I A 1 e B 8
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

HH B VAR 7 T M [ A 7 9
No. 7, Shengjuren Lane, Gulou District, Nanjing
City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o B VLR 5 T T SR [ P o B 108 5%
No. 108, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

vl IR 38 i A L T B 1 5%
No. 1, Chezhan Road, Lusong District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

R B TR 7 I R 7 33 %
No. 33 Suo Street, Jianye District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FR B TR R AT 2 B AR 28 %
No. 28, Wei Gang, Xuanwu District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VLR e LR R R 118 %
No. 118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o B VLA A P At VL R AR R A S
K 998 %

No. 998 Chengxin Avenue, Mo Ling Street,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

liikes kit

Use Type

EES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[HE S

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

BEA S
Approximate

GFA sq.m. Lease term

33,197 H
medium

2,444 H
medium

1,454 i
medium

32,903 T
medium

3,436 Gib Y
medium

1,021 ik Gl
medium

18,357 i
medium

528 GiE:l]
medium
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EL 2B F3

Schedule of Principal Properties

ETh

10

11

12

13%%‘11

Notel

14

15

16

17

EXAT
Name of Property
& W 2 I

Golden Wheel Star City

G Ry
Golden Wheel Star-cube

R ER A
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel
Jade Garden

) W LA I

Wuxi Golden
Wheel Star Plaza

PN B R e o

Yangzhou Powerlong
Golden Wheel Plaza

o A

Golden Wheel Jinqiao Huafu

Rb & Bt 4
Changsha Golden
Wheel Star Plaza

ST ERY
Golden Wheel Binary

Star Plaza

P M AR R

Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald

House

Hohk:

Location

B L A 7 45 M T 45 BT B 3 [

B F 1L B 228 5%

No. 228, Yangtze River Middle Road, Yangzhou
New Development District, Yangzhou City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FR R VLR R AT AL A R AR A 2 9%
No. 2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

80 388 R O T R G [ R
Liyu Road, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou City,
Hunan Province, the PRC

I VI A 0 855 I L B 3 9%
No. 3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,

Wuxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

P AR A 4 T 45 T B B

BB P B2 L H

The intersection of Yangtze River Middle Road
and Kaifa West Road, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

TR 7 AT T

HEAIR K8 1 3B 3 9

No. 3, Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o I 1 R D TR AE [N S B 131 9%
No. 131, Xiangxiu Road, Yuhua District,
Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC

F B VA T T VL [ R R 1101 9%
No. 1101 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FH BV AR 7 45 M i [ A 4 B 31 %
No. 31 Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

& R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

JiERes bt
Use Type
ES

Commercial

iES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

LES

Commercial

CEVE X

Commercial/

Residential

iES

Commercial

[HES

Commercial

I,

[HE S

Commercial

PO A% 2 54 T
FIK
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

3,995

2,731

2,396

20,153

65,400

3,350

18,233

44,380

626

AL

Lease term

15

medium

15

medium

2k

medium

]

medium

i

medium

i

medium

Gl

medium

i

medium

Fi

medium



EE2VE =S

Schedule of Principal Properties
v 7 B 35 P % E W 2 Investment Properties under Development
B8 4 e S8 T
WmYE WAL ik ispes it Foik it
Approximate
No. Name of Property Location Use Type GFA sq.m. Lease term
1 P B i 2R S 2 FETLERE B T AR BB AR LR P 2,500 i
Nanjing Golden Wheel West of Ning Li Road, Lishui District, Commercial medium
Cuiyong Hua Ting Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
2 e w2 B Tk 0 5 7T L B T [HE S 15,097 i
L6 i B B B 2 3L 1 SRR )
Wuxi Golden Wheel Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai Commercial medium
Starry Plaza Road and Fengbin Road, Beitang District,
Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
3 O i A B R T VL I T B GES 46,647 ikl
R R B A S F R AL
Nanjing Golden Wheel Northeast to the intersection between Jiangnan ~ Commercial medium
Galaxy Center Road and Hongyun Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC
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EL 2B F3
Schedule of Principal Properties

70 435 T A 1 8 5 A 0 3

myE EAW

No. Name of Property

1 4 i I 3 0

Golden Wheel International Plaza

2 4 i I 3 55
Golden Wheel International Plaza
3 & i 2 I

Golden Wheel Star City

4 £ LM
Golden Wheel Times Square
5 & 2L B

Golden Wheel Star Plaza

6 R I 5 i 355 2R 44
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jade
Garden

7 e 85 i OB A

Wuxi Golden Wheel Star Plaza

8 45 Wi 7 1
Golden Wheel New Metro

9 G B
Golden Wheel Star-cube

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE OR OCCUPATION BY

THE GROUP

Hu ik
Location

H B AR P T SR (R O B 8
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

H B VAR P T SR [ O B 8
No. 8, Hanzhong Road, Gulou District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

H LB 8 5 M T 455 4 B 4
B VL s 228 9%

No. 228, Yangtze River Middle Road,
Yangzhou New Development District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

I 8 R D R R [ B 1 5%
No. 1, Chezhan Road, Lusong District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

P TR 7 TV [ R e A
Wl f K AE 998 ik

No. 998 Chengxin Avenue, Mo Ling Street,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

H I 18 R bR N i K [ S T B
Liyu Road, Tianyuan District, Zhuzhou City,
Hunan Province, the PRC

B AR B0 38 I BT SR R 4 B 3
No. 3, Qianwei Road, Xinwu District,
Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

T B VT R T VLA I A RE R 118 5

No. 118 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanying City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

WP TR 5 R AT R AE B R MR R A 2 9%
No. 2 Yupan East Road, Yuhuatai District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

3 OO & R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

JiEpes it
Use Type

/N
Office

fFEY
Carpark
W¥ /T Y

Commercial/Residential/
Carpark

[HE S

Commercial

CEVAcR e

Commercial/Carpark

¥/ e,/ (FEY
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark

[CEVA =

Commercial/Residential

fFEY
Carpark

[CEVAc e

Commercial/Carpark

WEA S
FIik
Approximate
GFA sq.m.

2,535

2,022

5,985

185

2,060

9,324

4,841

243

403



A %

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17Kﬁ;i2

Note2

18

19&‘1;%5

Note3

E A
Name of Property
& AR I

Golden Wheel Jingiao Huafu

KU & 22 %

Changsha Golden Wheel Star Plaza

ST RERY
Golden Wheel Binary Star Plaza

1 M U 2

Yangzhou Lakeside Emerald House

0 55 < i 91 B A

Wuxi Golden Wheel Lakeside
Orchid Garden

REA PN

Hong Kong Golden Wheel
Plaza

RO < i A R (— )

Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu (Phase I)

P R L

Nanjing Shiguang Shanhu

N BB 2 e

Yangzhou Powerlong Golden
Wheel Plaza

WONE R

Changzhou Junwang Jia Di

ik

Location

P TR 5 T YL [

HERIR R 6 SC B 3 9%

No. 3 Xiuwen Road, Longmian Road,
Jiangning District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o I R T R AE [ S B 131 9%
No. 131, Xiangxiu Road, Yuhua District,
Changsha City, Hunan Province, the PRC

B TR 1 1 AT VLR [ A 1101 B8
No. 1101 Shuanglong Avenue, Jiangning District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

P AR A 4TI [ A 45 B 31 %
No. 31 Weiyang Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FR VTR 45 i 1

+ BB BR R B

The intersection between ShiLi Mingzhudi and
Xiaguang Road, Binhu District, Wuxi City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

) A s T SR 68 S 70 9 LA K
BB 2 K 2D

Nos. 68 and 70 Electric Road and Nos.

2C and 2D Lau Li Street, Hongkong, China

R M T R e R R [

LW MWNE A T PN

North of Yan Di Main Road, East of Xiangjiang
Main Road, Wu Guang Area, Tianyuan District,
Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

H VL AR A R AT N R R
EFBEE T REN S

Qinglong Market, Jinniu Lake sub-district,
Liuhe District, Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

B YTk 7 40 M T 45 1 L o
A

The intersection of Yangtze River Middle Road
and Kaifa West Road, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu
Province, the PRC

R TR A M TR L

FE T B DA TG Y B R 3

West of Xueye Road, South of Yingping Road,
Xinbei District, Changzhou City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

FHEYER

Schedule of Principal Properties

WEA - S A

Jickes kil Ik
Approximate

Use Type GFA sq.m.

EE/ ey 5,260

Residential/Carpark

CEVEE Vg ) 32,191

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

[HES 481

Commercial

LEVEEE 12,086

Commercial/Carpark

LEVE i< 26,478

Commercial/Residential

HES 4,828
Commercial

HE V&E®s 19,166
Commercial/Residential

EYEEa %] 3,540
Commercial/Carpark

LEEEa:* 44,404
Commercial/Carpark

E VL EYLa 8 42,800

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark
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Schedule of Principal Properties

i % i iy 3

myE mEAE
No. Name of Property
1 T 4 i U6 2 7 e

Nanjing Golden Wheel

Romantic Tower

2 RO <2 A R (Z30)
Zhuzhou Golden Wheel Jingiao
Huafu (Phase II)

3 T T 4 7K W 2 JiE
Nanjing Golden Wheel

Shuiying Hua Ting

4WE

BN R R A 2

Noted

Yangzhou Vanke Future Light

5 A 4 e AR 2 R
Nanjing Golden Wheel Cuiyong
Hua Ting

6 I b 2 T

Wuxi Golden Wheel Starry Plaza

TR 4 1
e Yangzhou No.1 Golden Bay

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

H ik
Location

o TR A T B AR
Xiaofengiao, Gulou District, Nanjing City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

o T b T R O R
B IR R W VK A A B A 7 K

North of Yan Di Main Road, East of Xiangjiang
Main Road, Wu Guang Area, Tianyuan District,

Zhuzhou City, Hunan Province, the PRC

HR VLR A T R [

6K 3 DAL 0 i DA SR

North of Wutai Road, East of Xintang Road,
Gaochun District, Nanjing City,

Jiangsu Province, the PRC

W TR M T TR L

AR B BRI B 2 A8 R

The intersection between Qingnian Road and
Chuangxin Road, Hanjiang District,
Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VAR T I KL A B DA
West of Ning Li Road, Lishui District,
Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VTR 9 85 I A O [V B R B

3E 3 SRR

Southeast to the intersection between Jianghai
Road and Fengbin Road, Beitang District,
Wausxi City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B TR 45 T R A D S SR B 178 9%

No. 178, Jiangyang East Road, Guangling
District, Yangzhou City, Jiangsu Province,
the PRC

3 02 & R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED

HBE A4 7 54 T
FERR 5k
Approximate
Use Type GFA sq.m.
LEYECx:*; 38,244
Commercial/Carpark
[E Y& x 170,596
Commercial/Residential
[HE Y& E=y4:a 8 76,217
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark
fEE 84,847
Residential
LE VLY 8 115,282
Commercial/Residential/
Carpark
[HES 99,039
Commercial
LE VLY 29,220

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark



A %

9%"&#6

Noteb

105@5?7

Note7

115%*?8

Note8

12 ffako

Note9

13%5?10

Notel0

EZAT

Name of Property
T A 2 PR L

Nanjing Golden Wheel

Galaxy Center
T EERIWNE S

Golden Wheel Shangdu Age City

Mansion

1] 0 U 25

Shangdu Fengjing

A2

Ganglong Majestic Mansion

T

Galaxy Light

M B B

Yangzhou Kaichen Mansion

ik

Location

0 TR ) T VT 1A VT B B

e TR A8 S 1 R AL A

Northeast to the intersection between Jiangnan
Road and Hongyun Avenue, Jiangning District,

Nanjing City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

v 0 T 15 78 5 T A DA B o B
L ES A

The intersection between Huazhong Road and
Hougong Road, Ganyu District,

Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B VT 6 2 R 55 s R i 4 1 O g L
S M B A2l 5

The Intersection between Hailian Road and
Yuzhou Road, Haizhou District,

Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

B RO B L T R [

SR i B AL AR

North to Beihai Road, Tunguang Town, Tunxi
District, Huangshan City, Anhui Province,

the PRC

0 TR 1 78 5 T 90 O D T
B B A R

EE2VE =S

The intersection between Tongguan South Road ~ Residential

and Jianshe Middle Road, Haizhou District,
Lianyungang City, Jiangsu Province, the PRC

b VA6 2 4 M i L R s 1 B B A
P B A M

Schedule of Principal Properties

1O 40 2t S v

bt il 5k
Approximate

Use Type GFA sq.m.

LEY4ER:* 195,353

Commercial/Carpark

LEVE XYL 158,695

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

W/ T/ Y 56,092

Commercial/Residential/

Carpark

¥/ T 70,170

Commercial/Residential

fig 99,651

LEVE XYL 94,826

The intersection between Shisha Road and Shiqiao Commercial/Residential/

South Road, Hanjiang District, Yangzhou City,
Jiangsu Province, the PRC

Carpark
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Schedule of Principal Properties

Bf5E -

3

I H m AL 409 i 2 BB A TR -

S I A AT 259 < B N R BB

I H A A 13.33% ZHE AT B -

FZIEH AL B 20% 2 B A BB

% IE F H AR A 32.649% 2 WHE 2\ 7 BH EE o

IR AL BEA 379 <A R FI B
A2 I A BB 10 Z BB A D
A2 I H A BB 2096 2 BRI 8

B B AR EHEA 12.58% 2 BB A FI A -

A2 IR AR BB 24.5% ZIE A R EE o

Notes:

3.

5.

6.

7.

8.

9.

10.

The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 49%

interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 25% interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 13.33%

interest.

The project is developed by a joint venture company in which the Group has a 20%

interest.

The project is developed by a subsidiary company in which the Group has a 32.64%

interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 37% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 10% interest.
The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 20% interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 12.58%

interest.

The project is developed by an associate company in which the Group has a 24.5%

interest.

3 04 & R ¥ B A LA Hl GOLDEN WHEEL TIANDI HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
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